
**PERSONAL AUDIO ENHANCERS ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE COUNCIL 
SECRETARY** 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR ELKHART CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
LOCATION:  CITY HALL, 2ND FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 December 18, 2023 
7:00 P.M. 

 
1.   Call to Order, Pledge, Moment of Silent Meditation, Roll Call 
 
2.  Minutes for Approval   
 Minutes of July 20. 2022  Special Call Council Meeting  Tax Abatements 
 Minutes of August 31, 2022  Public Health & Safety Committee 
 Minutes of October 4, 2023  Finance Committee Of-The-Whole   
  
 Presentations and Introductions 
 
3.  Unfinished Business 
 

a) Reports of Council Committees  
      

b) Ordinances on Second-Third Reading      
Proposed Ordinance 23-O-35, an ordinance adopting a schedule of salaries 
and other compensation for the police officers of the City of Elkhart, Indiana 
for the calendar year 2024 
Proposed Ordinance 23-O-36, an ordinance adopting a schedule of salaries 
and other compensation for the fire department of the City of Elkhart, Indiana 
for the calendar year 2024 
Proposed Ordinance 23-O-37, an ordinance approving a major amendment 

No. 3537) to authorize two (2) additional lots, subject to the Bent Oak PUD 
District, R-1, Single Family Dwelling District standards  
  

c) Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees 
 

d) Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions  
Proposed Ordinance 23-O-29, an ordinance of the City of Elkhart, Elkhart 
County, Indiana, designating an area within the city as an economic 
development target area   
Proposed Resolution 23-R-40-R, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, declaring a certain area to be an economic 
revitalization area for the purpose of granting tax phase-in benefits to SCG 
Acquisitions Company LLC DBA Speedgrip Chuck Company/Cetol Leasing, 
LLC FKA Speedgrip Chuck, Inc. 

  
 
 
 
 



 
 

2 

4.       New Business 

a) Ordinances on First Reading 
Proposed Ordinance 23-O-27, an ordinance vacating Pacific Street, a public 
way within the City of Elkhart, Indiana 
Proposed Ordinance 23-O-38, an ordinance amending Ordinance No. 5959, fixing the 
salaries and wages for appointed officers and other salaried employees of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, for the year 2024, to authorize and approve the payment of the residency 
bonus to all current Full-Time employees of the office of Elkhart City Clerk 
 

b) Resolutions   
There are no resolutions 
 

c) Vacation Hearings          
There are no vacation hearings 

    
d) Other New Business 

 
e) Reports of Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Departments 

 
f) Neighborhood Association Reports 

 
g) Privilege of the Floor 

 
h) Scheduling of Committee Meetings 

 
5.       Acceptance of Communications 

 Minutes of October 25, 2023  Board of Aviation Commissioners 
 Minutes of November 28, 2023  Board of Public Safety 
 Minutes of November 21, 2023  Board of Public Works 
 Minutes of November 8, 2023  Lerner Theatre Board  
 Report  November Month End  Elkhart Communications Center 
 

6.    Adjournment   



 DRAFT 

 
MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE COMMON COUNCIL  

OF JULY 20, 2022 
 
 
Present: Council Members: Kevin Bullard, Brent Curry (Arrived Late), Aaron Mishler, 

Megan Baughman, Dwight Fish and David Henke 
 
Absent: Council Members: Brian Thomas, Tonda Hines and Arvis Dawson  
 
 
 Councilman Mishler, who chaired this meeting of the Special Meeting of the Common 
Council called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 229 S. 
Second Street, Elkhart, Indiana.  This meeting was made available to the public via WebEx and 
was live-streamed on Facebook. Council Members Kevin Bullard, Aaron Mishler, Megan 
Baughman, Dwight Fish and David Henke were present in Council Chambers. 

 
The clerk called the roll.  

 
 Councilman Mishler said this evening the Special Meeting of the Common 
Council will discuss: 
 

Special Notice July 18, 2022 
 
 The clerk read the special notice.  
 
TO: The City Clerk and Members of the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:  
 
 You are hereby notified that in accordance with the power vested in me by the 
Statutes of the State of Indiana, and the Ordinances of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, I 
hereby call a Special Meeting of the Common Council to be held in the Municipal Building 
in the Council Chambers on the 2nd floor, 229 S. 2nd Street, Elkhart, Indiana, on 
Wednesday, July 20, 2022 at 6:00 PM.  
 The purpose of the meeting will be to consider whether certain property owners are 
in substantial compliance with their previously-submitted Statement of Benefits forms for 
tax abatement from the City of Elkhart and to take action upon the following proposed 
resolutions:  

 PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22 R-24, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, amending Resolution R-38-18 and R-54-31 to extend the 
expiration date of a certain economic revitalization area and determining that 
Tredit Tire & Wheel Company Inc. has made reasonable efforts to substantially 
comply with its Statement of Benefits. (property located at 3305 Charlotte Avenue)  

 PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-25, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether FF US Acquisition Corporation, 
DBA Tuscany Motor Company\TLMTG Properties, LLC are in substantial 



 2 

compliance with its Statement of Benefits forms and Memoranda of Agreement 
approved under Resolution Nos. R-50-18, R-53-18 and R-54-18. (property located at 
811 Tuscany Drive and 2500 Banks Court) 

 PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-26, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Alliance RV, LLC\3 Creek, LLC are 
in substantial compliance with its Statement of Benefits forms and Memoranda of 
Agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-8-19, R-9-19 and R-10-19. (property 
located the SE corner of Beck Drive and County Road 17) 

 PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-27, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Alpha Systems, LLC\DVS, LLC are 
in substantial compliance with its Statement of Benefits forms and Memoranda of 
Agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-06-17, R-08-17 and R-09-17. 
(property located at 5120 Beck Drive) 

 PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-28, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether American Millwork\Nickell 
Properties I, LLC are in substantial compliance with the Statement of Benefits - 
Personal Property (Form CF-1/PP) and the Memoranda of Agreement approved 
under Resolution Nos. R-07-21, R-11-21 and R-12-21. (property located at 209 County 
Road 17) 

 PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-29, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether EOZ Business, LLC are in 
substantial compliance  

 
Councilman Mishler stated I think we're probably good.  
 
The clerk stated okay. Hey, you know what? That's good because I don't have to read the rest of 
those.  
 
Councilman Henke stated I'm sorry, legally we will have to read those when we get the second 
half, if that's okay. I appreciate that. 
 
Councilman Mishler stated yeah, and have a drink. That was a lot. Councilman Henke, could 
you please report on the findings of the ad hoc committee? 
 
Councilman Henke stated good, so the findings of that - I'd have to actually go through my 
papers - And if we would take those, we won't be in order, so you may just want to do your 
compliances and then  
 
Councilman Mishler stated that sounds good.  
 
Councilman Henke stated however you want to do it.  
 
Councilman Mishler stated and the administration has asked that those companies who are in 
compliance in all categories be moved to the front of the agenda. So with that said, I'm going to 
ask for a motion to hear the following resolutions first. 
 
Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Fish, moved to hear the proposed resolutions.  



 3 

The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-25 by title only. 
 
PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-25, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether FF US Acquisition Corporation, 
DBA Tuscany Motor Company\TLMTG Properties, LLC are in substantial 
compliance with its Statement of Benefits forms and Memoranda of Agreement 
approved under Resolution Nos. R-50-18, R-53-18 and R-54-18. (Property located at 
811 Tuscany Drive and 2500 Banks Court) 

 
Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for a council discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke stated Mr. Chair, I do find, as did the ad hoc committee that Tuscany, their 
CF-1 and compliance are in full compliance with real and personal property. 
 
Councilman Mishler asked for any other discussion, then opened the floor to the public for any 
comments. No public comments noted, it was closed to the public floor and moved back to the 
council for further discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Fish, moved to adopt Proposed Resolution 22-
R-25 with the finding that the property owner is in substantial compliance. The vote was 
unanimous, and the motion carried. 
 
The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-26 by title only. 
 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-26, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Alliance RV, LLC\3 Creek, LLC are 
in substantial compliance with its Statement of Benefits forms and Memoranda of 
Agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-8-19, R-9-19 and R-10-19. (Property 
located the SE corner of Beck Drive and County Road 17) 

 
Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for council discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke stated Mr. Chair, the ad hoc committee found this Alliance RV in 
substantial compliance, both real and personal. 
 
Councilman Mishler asked for any other council discussion, then opened the floor to the public 
for any comments. No public comments noted, it was closed to the public floor and moved back 
to the council for further discussion. 
 
Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Henke, moved to adopt Proposed Resolution 22- 
R-26 with the finding that the property owners are in substantial compliance with both 
personal and real property. The vote was unanimous, and the motion carried. 
 
 
 
 
 



 4 

The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-27 by title only. 
 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-27, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Alpha Systems, LLC\DVS, LLC are 
in substantial compliance with its Statement of Benefits forms and Memoranda of 
Agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-06-17, R-08-17 and R-09-17. 
(Property located at 5120 Beck Drive) 

 
Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for a council discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke stated the ad hoc committee found that this petitioner is in full compliance. 
 
Councilman Mishler asked for any other council discussion, then opened the floor to the public 
for any comments. No public comments noted, it was closed to the public floor and moved back 
to the council for further discussion. 
 
Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Henke, moved to adopt Proposed Resolution 22- 
R-27 with the finding that the owners have complied fully with personal property 
obligations. The vote was unanimous, and the motion carried. 
 
The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-28 by title only. 
 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-28, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether American Millwork\Nickell 
Properties I, LLC are in substantial compliance with the Statement of Benefits - 
Personal Property (Form CF-1/PP) and the Memoranda of Agreement approved 
under Resolution Nos. R-07-21, R-11-21 and R-12-21. (Property located at 209 
County Road 17) 
 

Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for a council discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke stated the ad hoc committee found substantial compliance. Labor was at 
94.2, however, but there was an explanation for that number. Otherwise found in compliance. 
 
Councilman Bullard stated on a general note, some of these manufacturing equipment 
investments and stuff - You know, we're showing millions of dollars of estimates on CF-1s and 
that. Are some of these investments being made? Did you find that out in committee, that these 
investments are actually being made? Because these are saying, you know, estimates of the CF-
1s and that   
 
Councilman Henke stated the CF-1 is the factual document that actually carries on to the 
county. So that has to be in fact. So, they can write estimate. I'm not sure with what assurity, if 
it's a 5%, or whatever the case may be. I do think that the couple of us on the council are actually 
heading out to buildings to make sure that we are seeing what it has been posted and asked for 
abatement on. That's a great question. But the CF-1 is the legal number. 
 
 



 5 

Chris Stager, Economic Development Corporation, stated Councilman Bullard, I believe that 
when the assessor goes out, they validate those numbers against the claimed numbers. 
So, that's how they true-up the assessment. 
 
Councilman Bullard stated and then, since you're up there - With the rate of inflation, from the 
start of the abatement to, let's say, present - if there's months of separation, does that assessment 
take into account inflation rates? Or, is it based on  I mean, that's a rough road to wiggle on. 
 
Chris Stager stated the county assessor would have to answer that. She has a lot of autonomy in 
how she interprets that, as I understand. 
 
Councilman Henke stated I'm not sure that I'm the right person, but I know inflationary with 
regard to cost to build, and all of those things. If you hit your target, you can get up to that target, 
but you're not gonna get beyond that target number. Then again, if you don't hit 95%, you're not 
in compliance, you're not gonna get the abatement. But they're not going to get credit other than 
actual cost, which should show on their CF-1. So inflation may be included in that. Now, the AV 
is the AV. It's based on current rate, and they're very stuck with that. Which is what our tax 
revenue is gonna be based on. But there is no adjustment for inflationary numbers on our end.  
 
Councilman Bullard stated okay, just for knowledge. Thank you. 
 
Councilman Mishler asked for any other council discussion, then opened the floor to the public 
for any comments. No public comments noted, it was closed to the public floor and moved back 
to the council for further discussion. 
 
Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Henke, moved to adopt Proposed Resolution 22- 
R-28 with the finding that the property owner is in compliance with the requirements as 
presented. The vote was unanimous, and the motion carried. 
 
The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-30 by title only. 
 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-30, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Flexible Concepts, Inc. are in 
substantial compliance with its Statement of Benefits - Personal Property (Form 
CF-1/PP) and the Memoranda of Agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-37-
19, R-38-19 and R-39-19. (Property located at 1620 Middlebury Street) 

 
Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for a council discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke stated does Flexible have more than one abatement out? Yes? Okay, so this 
actually is R-30. I just want to make sure, because I think I made the mistake prior, but on R-30 
the ad hoc committee found full compliance. 
 
Councilman Mishler asked for any other council discussion, then opened the floor to the public 
for any comments. No public comments noted, it was closed to the public floor and moved back 
to the council for further discussion. 
 



 6 

 
Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Fish, moved to adopt Proposed Resolution 22- 
R-30 with the finding that the property owner is in substantial compliance with personal 
property. The vote was unanimous, and the motion carried. 
 
The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-31 by title only. 
 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-31, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether R Concepts Industries, Inc. are in 
substantial compliance with its Statement of Benefits - Personal Property (Form 
CF-1/PP) and the Memoranda of Agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-47-
19, R-49-19 and R-50-19. (Property located at 555 County Road 15) 

 
Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for a council discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke stated is there a representative here? R Concepts? Okay, so from the ad hoc 
committee, we noted that 94.1 is nine tenths of a percent off, and we felt as though given the 
supply chain and so on, they made the greatest effort and it was at no fault of their own. So we 
do find from the ad hoc committee that they are in substantial compliance for personal property 
investment. 
 
Councilman Mishler asked for any other council discussion, then opened the floor to the public 
for any comments. No public comments noted, it was closed to the public floor and moved back 
to the council for further discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Fish, moved to adopt Proposed Resolution 22- 
R-31 with the finding that the property owner is in substantial compliance with personal 
property. The vote was unanimous, and the motion carried. 
 
The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-32 by title only. 
 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-32, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Truma Corp.\42K Real Estate LLC 
are in substantial compliance with its Statement of Benefits forms and the 
Memoranda of Agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-04-18, R-09-18 and 
R-10-18. (Property located at 2800 Harman Drive) 

 
Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for a council discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke stated Chris, do you have the numbers? Or Drew, do you have the numbers 
in front of you? Please. 
 
Drew Wynes, City of Elkhart, stated so, what I have is their personal property investment in 
manufacturing equipment was estimated on their SB-1 to be $740,000. Their CF-1 shows it to be 
$727,287 with an overall personal property compliance of 98%. And their real property jobs and 
labor all met or exceeded expectations as well.  
 



 7 

Councilman Henke stated thank you. I just found my paperwork, so I apologize for that delay, 
but the ad hoc committee found substantial compliance. 
 
Councilman Mishler asked for any other council discussion, then opened the floor to the public 
for any comments. No public comments noted, it was closed to the public floor and moved back 
to the council for further discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Fish, moved to adopt Proposed Resolution 22- 
R-32 with the finding that the property owner is in substantial compliance. The vote was 
unanimous, and the motion carried. 
 
The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-33 by title only. 
 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-33, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Alliance RV\3 Creek, LLC are in 
substantial compliance with its Statement of Benefits forms and Memoranda of 
Agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-08-21, R-13-21 and R-14-21. 
(Property located at 350 Benchmark Drive) 

 
Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for a council discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke stated I would hope that we have a presentation at this point. 
 
Chris Stager stated if you recall, during the ad hoc session what was in question on this second 
Alliance abatement was their overall labor. There was an omission. We did not get the complete 
CF-1 when we compiled the form. So I provided you the document Unintelligible as Stager 
moves away from the microphone and circles the chambers passing papers to the 

as part of their original submission, the CF-1 had an addendum that was 
attached to it. When we received it from staff and did the initial calculations, we did not include 
the data that was on the addendum. So I made sure that this document that you were provided 
indicates where they were actually at on their overall wages. 
 
Councilman Fish stated question, Chris. The information you're providing here then has been 
absorbed into the CF-1? 
 
Chris Stager stated it was actually part of it. It was an addendum to the CF-1, which is allowed 
by law, but it wasn't included when we calculated.  
 
Councilman Fish stated okay, so it's going to go - it's on the record with the CF-1? 
 
Chris Stager stated yes, it is. 
 
Councilman Henke stated however, do we have an amended CF-1 in front of us? 
 
Chris Stager stated no, it wasn't required to be amended because they gave us the right 
information. We did not interpret the information correctly. When we, the ad hoc committee - I 
presented it to the ad hoc.  



 8 

 
 
Councilman Henke stated well, let me ask this. The numbers on the CF-1, were they accurate or 
inaccurate? 
 
Chris Stager stated they do not totally correlate with what this supplemental document said, for 
a number of reasons. They had $7MM dollars of payroll that was attributable to churned 
employees. And they didn't use that in that part of the supplemental document. Indicates what 
their all-in average compensation was. 
 
Councilman Henke stated so that it supports the given CF-1, or are they having to  So they're 
not having to make a supplemental CF-1. Okay. That's what we're after. 
 
Councilman Fish stated okay, one other additional question to Drew, if you could answer this 
for me, please. It's a pretty simple one. The compliance summary that you provided, does that 
reflect the numbers that we're talking about? The addendum that we're talking about? 
 
Chris Stager stated it does not. That compliance summary with the color coding does not reflect 
that.  
 
Councilman Fish stated okay, very good. As long as it's attached, and we're all legal, I'm happy. 
Good, thank you.  
 
Councilman Henke stated so it sounds as though the explanation makes the CF-1 clarified and 
legal. Very good. And let's just say Chris shook his head in the affirmative. Okay, that's all the 
questions I had.  
 
Councilman Mishler asked for any other council discussion, then opened the floor to the public 
for any comments. No public comments noted, it was closed to the public floor and moved back 
to the council for further discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Fish, moved to adopt Proposed Resolution 22- 
R-33 with the addendum attached as provided to Council and finding that the petitioner is 
in compliance. The vote was unanimous, and the motion carried. 
 
The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-35 by title only. 
 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-35, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Flexible Concepts, Inc. are in 
substantial compliance with its Statement of Benefits  Personal Property (Form 
CF-1/PP) and Memoranda of Agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-51-21, 
R-57-21 and R-58-21. (Property located at 1620 Middlebury Street) 

 
Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for a council discussion. 
 
 
 



 9 

Chris Stager stated in the ad hoc review of Flexible Concepts second phase in, there was a 
question relating to the phasing of the labor, whether they had met their commitments, so I did 
again another supplemental document based on what was on the CF-1. 
 
Councilman Henke stated so, if you don't mind, tell us how we came to the change of numbers. 
How was that?  
 
Chris Stager stated actually, there wasn't any change. I just took what was originally off the CF-
1 and clarified it so it was easier to read. If you recollect, those packets were out of order, and I 
don't think we were looking at both of the CF-1s the right way.  
 
Councilman Henke stated wait a minute are you saying we were wrong?  
 
Chris Stager ight way that day. Yeah, I think they're well 
in compliant on the overall labor recruitment  my personal opinion. 
 
Councilman Henke stated very good. 
 
Councilman Mishler asked for any other council discussion, then opened the floor to the public 
for any comments. No public comments noted, it was closed to the public floor and moved back 
to the council for further discussion. 
 
Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Henke, moved to adopt Proposed Resolution 22- 
R-35 with a finding that the property owner is in substantial compliance based on the 
Statement of Benefits, and also the addendum provided. The vote was unanimous, and the 
motion carried. 
 
The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-29 by title only. 
 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-36, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether EOZ Business, LLC are in 
substantial compliance with its Statement of Benefits (CF-1 Forms) and the 
Memoranda of Agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-37-22, R-39-20 and 
R-40-20. (Property located at 240 E. Jackson Street) 

 
Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for a council discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke stated so, this took quite a bit of discussion. It's new and different for us, 
but it's going to become commonplace, in investors moving forward. This is where their tenants 
actually apply money, in addition to the owner of the building, or the original investor. And that's 
what has happened in this place. For privacy, we ask that we don't say the names of the other 
investors, but they are the tenants of the property. When it comes down to AV of the property, 
which is what this is all about, it will be the assessed the value of the total amount of investment. 
So, Mr. Weaver has provided us the back and forth. We will be obligated to give these back for 
privacy, but I do find that they are in compliance with what we requested and they have 
provided. 
 



 10 

Councilman Mishler asked for any other council discussion, then opened the floor to the public 
for any comments. No public comments noted, it was closed to the public floor and moved back 
to the council for further discussion. 
 
Councilman Fish stated may I ask Mr. Weaver to come up. Just ask for one question for me. 
 
Dave Weaver, EOZ, introduced himself to the council. 
 
Councilman Fish stated thanks for being here. I'm glad we got these pieces of the puzzle put 
together. Are you comfortable with the information that we've just gone through? And you're 
satisfied with their portion of it? It seems legit? 
 
Dave Weaver stated oh yeah. 
 
Councilman Fish stated well, I'm not questioning anybody's integrity. It's just I want to make 
sure that - your head's on the line, and it just got to be  
 
Dave Weaver stated as a developer, we knew roughly right what the numbers were. And then 
they were just confirmed by the, by the  
 
Councilman Fish stated you've done a lot of leg work, so we appreciate that. Great. Thank you. 
 
Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Fish, moved to adopt Proposed Resolution 22- 
R-29 with a finding that the property owner is in substantial compliance with real and 
personal property. The vote was unanimous, and the motion carried. 
 
The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-34 by title only. 
 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-34, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Alpha Systems, LLC\DVS, LLC are 
in substantial compliance with its Statement of Benefits forms and Memoranda of 
Agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-43-20, R-44-20 and R-45-20. 
(Property located at 5120 Beck Drive) 
 

Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for a council discussion and noted that 
Councilman Curry is present in chambers at this time. 
 
Councilman Henke stated could we bring the numbers forward, Drew, or Chris?... the general 
summary  So, I'm looking for the alpha CF-1/SB-1 summary. 
 
Councilman Fish  
 
Councilman Henke stated and, do we have a presenter? Are you Alpha? Great, come on up. 
So, the question we had during the - you have to state your name and, I'm sorry, a title. 
 
Dean Grass, Internal Tax Manager, introduced himself to the council. 
 



 11 

Councilman Henke stated so, the question we had was there  a substantial shortfall in the 
personal property investment area. And then we talked about - I mean, we're at 23.7%. So, we 
were talking about that there was a $2MM initial SB-1, and the CF-1 shows $474,000, which 
was the 23.7%. And the question was, did you order within that timeframe and, because of 
delivery, it didn't come on site? Can you make an explanation? 
 
Dean Grass stated we submitted an amended CF-1. 
 
Councilman Henke stated and there was supposed to be documents to support the new CF-1. 
 
Dean Grass stated there was an asset listing that broke out all the costs.  
 
Councilman Henke stated exactly, thank you for that. Drew, you're on the spot. Give us the 
paper, or some donuts. 
 
Councilman Fish stated would it be in here? The updated ones? 
 
Councilman Henke stated alright, I need their amended CF-1 and the documents of asset 
listings to support the CF-1. Do you have copies of it? Oh, boy. Does anybody have access? 
Because without those documents, we're really stuck. And because the person you were 
communicating with is not able to be with us tonight, we are going to be open to that, we may 
want to go to a different resolution while Drew finds that supporting document. Is that okay?  
 
Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Fish, moved to table Proposed Resolution 22-R-
34. The vote was unanimous, and the motion carried. 
 
The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-36 by title only. 
 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-36, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Placon Corporation are in 
substantial compliance with its Statement of Benefits forms and Memoranda of 
Agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-14-20, R-27-20 and R-28-20. 
(Property located at 2901 Oakland Avenue) 

 
Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for a council discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke stated do we have a presenter? Placon? Okay. And so, what we were after 
was an amended CF-1, an explanation of the overall lack of personal property investment, and 
full-time labor deficiencies. Did you supply that to- ?  
 
Mike Nielsen, General Manager stated we did, we submitted an amended CF-1. 
 
Councilman Henke stated and what was the documents that supported the amended CF-1?  
 
Mike Nielsen stated there was an explanation from our Director of Accounting, but not 
supporting documentation given.  
 



 12 

Councilman Henke stated do you have a copy of what you submitted?  
 
Mike Nielsen stated yes.  
 
Councilman Henke stated excellent. 
 
Mike Nielsen stated one copy.  
 
Councilman Henke stated we're gonna look for it. 
 
Councilman Bullard stated just give us a second, Mr. Chair. 
 
Councilman Henke stated okay, just found it. Alright. Alright, this will work. For the record, 
Mr. Chair, real property shows on the SB-1 the S spent was 4.9, and the CF-1 shows 6.7? Wow. 
137%. And then the supporting document for that? 
 
Mike Nielsen stated that was not amended.  
 
Councilman Henke stated so how do we substantiate the 6.7? Is there an asset listing? 
 
Mike Nielsen stated no, I don't have that. That was mainly the  
 
Councilman Henke stated so, can you tell me then, for the record, what was the difference 
between 4.9 and 6.7? What did you look at? What piece of equipment?  
 
Mike Nielsen stated well, that was the real. 
 
Councilman Henke stated well, that's the real, yeah. So what portion was that? 
 
Mike Nielsen stated when we submitted the estimates, we were just off. The quotes just came in 
higher for the building. 
 
Councilman Henke stated but - okay, and I get that, and I'm just trying to get comfortable with 
what you're saying. And that is, when you did the CF-1, the original CF-1, right? We were lower 
than 6.7. And now we're up to 6.7. is that true?  
 
Mike Nielsen stated so, on both the real and the personal, one of the misunderstandings my 
accounting team had was when, before we close a project, everything in that project has to be in 
service. So, we only submitted numbers from closed projects. So, we had all the spending prior, 
but we hadn't placed the items in service. So, part of that is that as well. 
 
Councilman Henke stated okay, and so the part that was yet to be in service was on site, just not 
ready to go. That's the statement? 
 
Mike Nielsen stated right. 
 
 



 13 

Councilman Henke stated I'm done, Mr. Chair.  
 
Councilman Mishler asked for any other council discussion, then opened the floor to the public 
for any comments. No public comments noted, it was closed to the public floor and moved back 
to the council for further discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Fish, moved to adopt Proposed Resolution 22- 
R-36 with a finding of substantial compliance, given the representative statement and 
addendum. The vote was unanimous, and the motion carried. 
 
Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Bullard moved to take Proposed Resolution 22-
R-34 from the table. The vote was unanimous and the motion carried. 
 
Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for a council discussion. 
 
Drew Wynes, City of Elkhart, stated I brought an amended CF-1 and asset list for Alpha. 
 
Councilman Henke stated okay, do you have multiple copies?  
 
Drew Wynes stated yes, I have copies for each member. May I now pass them out? Is that 
alright? 
 
Councilman Henke stated with the chairman's permission, please pass them out. 
 
Councilman Mishler asked for any comments from the council. 
 
Councilman Henke stated so I'm looking at an amended compliance with Statement of Benefits 
form CF-1 for Alpha. $5,120 back. What date was this put out, and what is their final date of 
investment? So, this, let's find the original CF-1/SB-1 for Alpha. Do we show - this is a how 
many year abatement? And when was it initiated? 
 
Councilman Fish stated this is a 3 year. 
 
Chris Stager, Economic Development Corporation, stated this was a 3 and 3. The 2017 was 
previously deemed to be compliant. This is 2020, this project. 
 
Councilman Henke stated 2020, so their drop-dead date was 2020 for the full investment. Did 
we make an extension of any kind? 
 
Chris Stager stated I didn't find any record of that based on the documents that were provided to 
us. 
 
Councilman Henke stated so Alpha, help me understand. I'm looking at an amended, and I'm 
assuming this is applies to the CF-1, of cost, and it was $2MM. So, if we look, I need to see 
where the SB-1 compares to the CF-1. Drew, or Chris, if you have those? So, their SB-1 showed 
what level of  this is as estimated on the SB-1, $2MM. Actual, I see it. Let me do some quick 
math. So, we have 1.833 as actual. Alright, so that is 91.67%. So, even in this, I want you to 



 14 

think about an explanation. 95% is a threshold that we're after, and after your adjustments you're 
at 91.67%. And then there was also a question - I guess it was just personal property. Uh, can 
you help us with that? What made up, what made the change? And what was the shortfall of 
3.3% off? I guess we're 3.3% low of compliance. 
 
Grass stated so, the first question was the comparison from the amended. So, when we prepared 
the original CF-1, it was just it was incorrectly prepared in our accounting department. So, we 
amended it and the total costs on the amended one are the actual correct numbers. And the reason 
why we're not at 95%, there was a machine line that they haven't put in service yet. In 2022, 
which I think I included a column on there for 2022 spend, it that includes the additional line that 
will be placed in service.  
 
Councilman Henke stated alright, and so this is personal property only. And the council's 
question is, was there any thing  So everything has been expended, because your drop-dead 
date was 2020. So, everything that had to be expended has to have been already there right? 
Because this one in 2017 was a 3-year abatement, so unless it was  
 
Chris Stager stated the 2017 abatement was deemed to be in compliance. We're referring to the 
2020 project. So the ERA on that would have been extended into 2021. 
 
Councilman Henke stated alright, so everything would have been expended by the end date of 

? 
 
Chris Stager stated provided the Council had not granted the next steps last year, which I 
couldn't find any record of. 
 
Councilman Henke stated alright, do you know, Sir, if there was any extension granted? 
 
Grass stated I am not sure. I work for Patrick Industries, and we just acquired them in the middle 
of last year, so I don't know if there was any extension.  
 
Councilman Henke stated Angie, do you have a record? So, let's go this way. Are you saying, 
though When did Patrick, cause I know we asked the question - when did Patrick acquire? 
 
Grass stated it was 2021. 
 
Councilman Henke 21. So are you saying, though, that the full investment of this project 
was by December of 21, or was there more  
 
Grass stated $1.8MM by 2021. 
 
Councilman Henke stated alright, so we got that far. And then the question becomes  
3.3% below par. So, um   
 
Grass stated there was one machine line that they didn't get placed. There was one machine line 
that was not placed in service in 2021. It extended into 2022.  
 



 15 

 
Councilman Baughman stated could that have not be implemented in 2021 due to supply chain 
issues, or? I'm just asking.  
 
Chris Grass stated I'm not 100% sure, but I would assume so. Yes.  
 
Councilman Baughman stated okay, just want to make clarity on it.  
 
Councilman Henke stated Mr. Fish brings up a very good point. Sir, this was initiated in 2020? 
 
Grass stated yes. 
 
Councilman Henke stated oh, well  
 
Chris Stager stated if we would use a 2-year ERA as an example, they would have had until 
July 15th of this year to make all of their investments, because the project was initiated July 15th 
of 20. 
 
Councilman Henke stated and it was a 3-year, and so really they have that period of time. I 
know the ARM date is different. What does it show? But the 2020  
 
Chris Stager stated the estimation completed date on the original was December 31st, 2021. 
 
Councilman Henke stated yeah, cause that's why we went to that date. And you're saying that 
everything, $1.8MM was invested at that time. Which is the 91.6%? Do you have any other 
consideration for an expenditure on real on personal property? Like, is there any other 
expenditure coming? That has been included in this?  
 
Grass stated yes, on the detail listing, there's an additional column that shows 2022 spend as 
well.  
 
Councilman Henke stated okay, so here's our choices. We do know, and I hope you don't mind 
me blabbering this, we do know that our ARM dates were not necessarily correct. It was a new 
administration we talked about, it was a new department we talked about and so. Theoretically, if 
you're in a 3-year abatement and you started in 2020, you realistically have to 2023 with which 
to expend, so we would have to find that they're in compliance. No matter what. Because they're 
still within their ARM. Does that make - are we okay with that? Alright, sorry to put you through 
all that. 
 
Councilman Mishler asked for any other council discussion, then opened the floor to the public 
for any comments. No public comments noted, it was closed to the public floor and moved back 
to the council for further discussion. 
 
Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Curry, moved to adopt Proposed Resolution 22-R-
34 with a finding that the property owner is in compliance with both personal and property 
investment. The vote was unanimous, and the motion carried. 
 



 16 

 
The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-37 by title only. 
 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-36, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Shield Restraint Systems 
Inc\KingFisher/Elkhart, LLC are in substantial compliance with its Statement of 
Benefits forms and Memoranda of Agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-
04-16, R-07-16 and R-0-16. (Property located at 3802 Gallatin Way) 

 
Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for a council discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke stated first of all, you know, we have Shield Restraint, and is it coming up 
under KingFisher?  
 
Chris Stager stated KingFisher was the parent organization and the DBA was doing businesses 
to the Shield. 
 
Councilman Henke stated okay, and that's kind of why we go by the address, but I have 
KingFisher at 1067 US 89 North and I have Shield Restraint at 3802 Gallatin Way.  
 
Chris Stager stated I think the Kingfisher is a Montana address, if I recollect correctly, and the 
Shield name is the local operating entity. 
 
Councilman Henke stated it's really by the address, so the corporate address is going to do us no 
good.  
 
Chris Stager stated I believe it is done by parcel description and not address. 
 
Councilman Henke stated I have on compliance form 22 23, KingFisher/Elkhart. LLC 
l067 US 89 North. Section 2, location and description of property, 3802 Gallatin. Okay, alright. 
There it is. I'm sorry. I read that  
 
Chris Stager stated if I could, I also have a supplemental statement.  
 
Councilman Henke stated yeah, I just want to make sure that we marry those 2 names together 
so that this doesn't get lost in compliance. Because, if I could continue, Statement of Benefits 
real estate property, section 1 has KingFisher and section 2 has Gallatin Way. The name of 
designating body should also be Shield Restraint Systems on section 2. And it's blank, so I just 
want to clarify those. 
 
Councilman Mishler stated I actually have Elkhart City Common Council for a name of 
designating body on section 2 there was, it looks like an amended CF-1 in the packet. 
 
Chris Stager stated Drew, I don't know if we received the amended CF-1, but they did provide 
us some documentation, which I attached. The first primary issue on this one, at the ad hoc 
committee, was the personal property investment and how Shield had tracked that. They had a 
discussion with whoever initially prepared it, and I believe we can get an amended CF-1, but 



 17 

these are the revised numbers that they sent us relating to their personal property investment. 
 
Councilman Fish stated anybody here to represent them? 
 
Erin Davis, Vice President of Finance, Shield Restraint Systems, introduced herself to the 
council. 
 
Councilman Henke stated its one thing to present Shield  supplemental information, but the 
legal form that we must go by is going to be the CF-1. 
 
Councilman Fish stated David, look at the top line. We're going to need to amend that. The 
manufacturing equipment would be higher because the math is wrong. 6.7 to 6.8  
 
Councilman Baughman stated no, it's only 68.8. They just took it off the original. 
 
Councilman Fish stated get your calculator out and see if that's accurate or not, please. Give us 
just a moment. Do the math again here real quick.  
 
Councilman Henke stated yeah, so, if we could. Number one, there's not a header. So, is it a 
SB-1 first on the left column? Or is that the CF-1 on the left column? So, they actually should be 
at over 100%. But it still shows 68.1%. 
 
Councilman Fish stated 58.9% 
 
Councilman Baughman stated I'll explain. I think what they failed to do is, in their initial 
summary, it was 68.9% and when you gave us the amended, that was not changed. It's still at 
68.9. Right? So, that's what we're trying to talking about - it should be over 100% there. Okay, 
right okay. Thank you.  
 
Councilman Henke  
 
Chris Stager stated commentary was on the manufacturing equipment. The percentage indicated 
was 68.9. 
 
Councilman Baughman stated yeah, okay. Here, you can show that to  
 
Councilman Henke stated so then we go back to - are the numbers correct on the CF-1? 
 
Erin Davis stated on the revised CF-1 that we submitted, the numbers are correct. On the 
original, the overall numbers were correct. The categorization of the numbers was done 
incorrectly by our 3rd party preparer, so we had them revise the CF-1 and we submitted that. 
 
Councilman Henke stated so, the amended CF- Everything I have is pointing to Here we 
go. The amended value of the project on SB-1 was $2,051,531. Is that a correct number? 
 
Erin Davis stated that's correct for the values before that. 
 



 18 

 
Councilman Henke stated value before the project. Values of proposed projects 6.7, six-eight, 
eight-eighty. 
 
Erin Davis stated that was correct. That was the original SB-1. 
 
Councilman Henke stated and then what I'm looking at, that has the amended sign on it, is that 
what I should be looking at? Okay, so then let's go to actual net values on completion. Are you 
suggesting that the project is done and at 8? Is that at 8? 8.859. 
 
Erin Davis stated correct. 
 
Councilman Henke stated and then how are we supporting that change? What document would 
give us that change? 
 
Erin Davis stated that number did not change from the original. The total number? That number 
is the same as the original submitted. The two numbers that changed on the actual were the 
values before project and the values of proposed project. Our preparer had misclassified between 
the two. When you calculate the percentage for compliance, you're only taking the values of 
proposed projects so that was under-reported on the original CF-1. 
 
Councilman Henke stated alright, so what I'm looking for then, is really an amended CF-1 that 
would show what we will be handing over to the county. And this amended version is personal 
property, and it's only personal property. Correct?  
 
Erin Davis stated correct. 
 
Councilman Henke stated and that personal property is saying, okay, so it does say, actuals. 
And you're saying that the actual expenditure was $8,839,450. 
 
Erin Davis stated correct.  
 
Councilman Henke stated okay. And then when would you suggest that that money was 
expended? 
 
Erin Davis stated that was expended in 2021. Well, over the course of the 5 years from 2017, 
through 2021. 
 
Councilman Henke stated alright, because we have this estimated start date was 4/1/2016. 
Actual start date 5/13/2016. Completion date was to be 4/1/19. Did you get an extension? 
 
Erin Davis stated we must have. I believe we did. 
 
Councilman Fish stated any record of that, Chris? 
 
Councilman Mishler stated we need some documentation. 
 



 19 

Councilman Fish stated anything reflecting that in your paperwork, of the extension? 
Councilman Henke stated so, I would say to us, this is 21, payable 22. You had a 5-year, 
which would say12 of 21, so if all of this was expended by 12 of 21, I think our ARM date is 
incorrect. That's what happened. Well. 
 
Chris Stager stated that was the time period when ERAs were not tightly defined. So 
tell you what the deal with I pare them down, just shorter durations.  
 
Councilman Henke stated I would ask, though, that we would still need an amended, amended 
of an amended CF-1. You need to take out in section 2, Elkhart City Common Council, and put 
in Shield Restraint Systems. And on the section 1, the name of taxpayer is that not KingFisher? 
 
Erin Davis stated no, KingFisher is our landlord for our real property. For personal property, we 
are the taxpayer as well as the  
 
Councilman Henke stated that makes more sense. I'm not sure why KingFisher's in it at all then. 
You're the abated person. 
 
Erin Davis stated for the personal property, they're not in it at all. But we also have a CF-1, for 
real property, which we are compliant. I don't believe that was at issue today, but Kingfisher   
 
Councilman Henke stated because of the duplicity there we just want to make sure on the 
record that this is going to reflect in section 2, as brought out by Councilman Mishler, that's 
going to have to be Shield Restraint Systems, Inc. 
 
Erin Davis stated okay, I'll have our preparer make that change. We'll resubmit. 
 
Councilman Henke stated now, whether you can initial that, cross and initial, I'm not sure. 
Because we're the ones that would actually send this forward. 
 
Councilman Fish stated what's the time frame here? This is Friday.  
 
Clerk McKee stated Council Members, for the record, these have to be submitted to the county 
tomorrow. I am holding them up on tip districts for Baker. So, I would need an amended CF-1 by 
tomorrow.  
 
Councilman Henke stated do you have a clean copy, without the thing that says amended on it? 
 
Erin Davis stated not with me at the moment, but I could get one. 
 
Councilman Henke stated Drew, do you have one? Are you the person that is signing it as 
assistant controller? 
 
Erin Davis stated I am not, but I can sign it in that person's place. The original signer is no 
longer with our company, but I could sign this one. 
 
Councilman Henke stated but we would have to have it at this meeting, and that's what - I'm 



 20 

just saying, if you could take a copy  
Councilman Fish stated let's have Drew get us a blank copy. 
 
Councilman Henke stated well, I'm not sure that we can do that. So, what I'm asking you to do 
is to take a copy, line through Elkhart City Common Council, write Shield Restraint Systems, 
Inc. Initial that, and then signed under this last controller, your full name, title, and the new date. 
Can you do that for us? 
 
Erin Davis stated I can. 
 
Councilman Henke stated Chris, can you help us with that? 
 
Chris Stager stated yes. 
 
Councilman Mishler stated quickly, I will note that the salaries seem to be a bit lower on this. It 
was estimated on the SB-1, $1,392,997 with an actual of $764,000, which is about 55% 
compliant. Is there an explanation for that? 
 
Erin Davis stated yes, so we were compliant prior to 2020, prior to COVID, with salaries and 
with headcount. After COVID we shut down for a while, reduced our force. We've been trying to 
get our headcount numbers and then, therefore, our salaries back up to this level. We do have the 
demand. We just are struggling to hire and to retain. We are a little bit higher than what we 
reported here, so we're reporting 99 heads and we currently are at about 114, 115. So, we're 
working towards that, but that's the driver of the salary reduction. So, we're working to get back 
to that that number. 
 
Chris Stager stated industrial sewers have been extremely problematic to fill due to some of the 
volumes that we've had. There's been innumerous programs, put into place. So, coming out of 
COVID, I'm not sure where all the industrial sewers went, but we've had some challenges across 
all industries in Elkhart, specifically related to industrial sewing. So much that we've asked Work 
One, and they're doing some subsidies for apprentices to place the industrial sewers to hopefully 
drive a little more of that activity. So, based on what I've seen in other companies, industrial 
sewing has been extremely problematic to fill. 
 
Councilman Henke stated thank you. I did call another sewer, who owns the company, Dan 
Holtz, and he is actually working shifts as a sewer because they just, they just can't find them. 
There's no one to do it. So, I can validate those pieces. He has been working to find people as 
well. But to meet his commitments of production, he's actually filling in. 
 
Councilman Fish stated so just a general question about your industry. What do you do in that 
case? I mean, how long do you project a vacancy there, as far as employees, and how do you 
adapt to that? 
 
Erin Davis stated so, as far as projecting, from all indications, you know, the RV market is 
softening. I don't know, there's probably not a lot of industrial sewers there, but we may get 
people who we could train to do that, if that does happen. We're expecting this to continue, 
probably at least throughout the rest of 2022 and probably into 2023. To adapt, we've had to 



 21 

extend our lead time significantly to our customers. And so, as Mr., Henke mentioned, we're 
doing something similar. Our office workers are going out onto the floor to work in cases when 
we have orders that need to be met and shipped out, to meet deadlines. And again, just trying to 
continue to hire and retain as many people as we can.  
 
Councilman Fish stated do you also, in your strategy meetings, do you consider changing the 
product look and feel, material, go to robotics to get something done in that case? Because I don't 
want to lose employees for anybody. But you're not the only company with specific problems. 
We have other companies that are supply chain short in something. 
 
Erin Davis stated absolutely. And we've certainly discussed that and in instances when we can, 
we do this. We make seatbelts and so, depending on the industry or the application, there are 
certain regulations that have to be met as far as quality standards and manufacturing standards, 
and so we can't necessarily always deviate from those. But when we can, and we certainly tried 
to put in automation. That's the bulk of our spend on the on the asset side was automation, but 
they still require, you know, people to maintain and run those machines. 
 
Councilman Fish stated okay, thanks. 
 
Chris Stager stated I had the opportunity to tour Shield after the initial ad hoc committee. They 
have some very innovative automation they've developed to free up workers, related to stress 
testing final products. Some of the work that they do for metal stamping, they've developed some 
very interesting robotics that they had to customize. Their business is making restraint systems, 
so this stuff was not off-the-shelf, but I think they really are doing everything they can to free up 
the labor demand. They have to have demand. Some of the sewing you can automate, but some 
of it has to be done manually, just to meet the stress testing requirements that the other customers 
have. 
 
Councilman Bullard stated probably to add to that, you know, when we think of seatbelts, 
you're thinking cars, RVs and all this, but I think Shield also makes seatbelts for roller coasters. 
And that type of industry is growing exponentially also, and they're picky. They're a whole lot 
pickier than Ford or GMC, you know. You get some of them that they're real picky. 
 
Councilman Henke stated and seat belts for farmers, is what I heard. So, if we could, we kind of 
made an addendum here. If you could initial the top, that change of name under section 2, and 
because then there is a change to the amendment, you would have to resign as a company 
principle with a title and a date and submit that. 
 
Erin Davis stated this copy is the original? 
 
Councilman Henke stated no, that's the copy we're going to give t  
 
Councilman Fish stated we're gonna make it the original. 
 
Councilman Henke stated and that's what she's going to have to submit.  
 
 



 22 

 
Erin Davis stated okay. The number in the values of proposed project is the same as the original 
that we submitted. Not the same as the revised and submitted. 
 
Councilman Henke stated on your revised side then, that's where we  so show me that if you 
don't mind, I know this is out of place. May I see that? Yeah, initial there. and then you can sign 
down there as the Yep, yep but you would submit it to the lady that runs our show. 
 
Councilman Mishler asked for any other council discussion, then opened the floor to the public 
for any comments. No public comments noted, it was closed to the public floor and moved back 
to the council for further discussion. 
 
Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Curry, moved to adopt Proposed Resolution 22-R-
37 with a finding that the property owner is in compliance, based on the Statement of 
Benefits. The vote was unanimous, and the motion carried. 
 
Councilman Fish stated you need an addendum? 
 
Councilman Henke stated no, I'm sorry. What I was asking is, though, that there was reasonable 
explanation for the employment side, because that did not meet compliance. But I think we're 
fine as is, I'll leave it go. Thank you. 
 
The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-38 by title only. 
 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-38, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether T5, LLC/Tepe Sanitary Supply Inc. 
are in substantial compliance with its Statement of Benefits (Form CF-1/RP) and 
Memoranda of Agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-50-20, R-54-20 and 
R-55-20. (Property located at 2806 Frederic Drive) 

 
Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for a council discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke stated I would ask that Chris come forward, if you don't mind. 
 
Chris Stager stated Mr. Tepe unfortunately was originally scheduled to come on the 18th and is 
traveling for business and was not able to attend tonight. If you recollect, when the ad hoc 
committee reviewed their CF-1s, they were short relative to their real property investment, about 
89. 5%. Their company has been acquired by another company, and I suggested that Mr. Tepe 
get - they have some additional investments planned for this facility. However, he was not able 
to get us those documents because apparently the contractor is unwilling to commit to a time and 
a price until they know that they can put that into their scheduling. So, they have planned 
investment through the remainder of the year that should take them up over the real property 
number. But he was unable to provide a document today indicating that. 
 
 
 
 



 23 

 
Councilman Henke stated so to clarify, and I just want to lay it out there again, this is an ERA 
date concern, because I don't think the of ERA of 10/31/22 is reasonable in one sense that they 
have a 3-year real property. It was initiated in 2020. So, really they'd have the 2023. The ERA 
states 10/31 of 22, so it still puts them in compliance even by this ERA date. They still have 
time to invest. 
 
Chris Stager stated with the application of the ERAs? Yes. 
 
Councilman Fish stated based on, Mr. Henke, you're more of the authority here  you ot a 
little time under your belt, and maybe some regulations, that you can answer this question. The 
new owner - Chris, this is kind of between you and Mr. Henke here - for my own purposes, if 
we're waiting for them to invest based on this And yet they're in compliance, there's no 
question here. But, if they decide not to invest to meet these numbers, do we claw back? Because 
next year  Is that correct?  
 
Councilman Henke stated so, in the regulation, we would call back to percentage of 
noncompliance, not the whole noncompliance. The percentage of noncompliance.  
 
Councilman Fish stated okay.  
 
Stager stated to add a point, I don't believe it's a situation where they're not planning on 
committing. It's that the contractor is unable to provide the materials that he needs to do the 
building, and he's not willing to accept payment until he gets a firm lock-in on the pricing of the 
materials is what I was led to believe.  
 
Councilman Fish stated okay, so this is part of their financial package. And if this is, I guess 
we're waiting on a contractor to be convinced that he's going to have this tax abatement. Is that 
right?  
 
Chris Stager stated yeah, that's basically my understanding.  
 
Councilman Henke stated I would only hope though, that you, as that representative, would talk 
to this new owner. It's interesting to hear that they were acquired. But this is not a first, of course.  
 
Chris Stager stated s going to be retained by the company as the local representative. 
 
Councilman Henke stated because regardless of the  I'm sure the name will stay the same, a 
DBA whatever, because Tepe has the name. But it's the address that we're working on, and the 
AV, again. I don't care who owns it. I don't care whose money it is.  the AV we're looking 
for, because that presents to us the tax revenue going forward. It would be nice to have all that 
cleaned up and on record. However. 
 
Councilman Baughman stated yeah, I just have a question on the wages. It appears that they 
were significantly off of what they estimated. Can you help us on that a little bit? 
 
 



 24 

 
Chris Stager  any clarification on that. I would say that I believe he 
did exceed his overall payroll projection, but the averages didn't work out. If I had to guess, he 
had some employee churn, or he wouldn't have expended those payroll dollars. We were really 
looking for the payroll dollars, as well as the job creation. That's pretty typical with what we've 
been seeing. There's a high amount. Some of our companies have very, very high levels of 
employee churn. If they don't pay at an adequate level, they'll go down the street for small, 
incremental increase.  
 
Councilman Curry stated yes, we have been business-friendly over this process over the years 
and we have kind of took a look at if there was extenuating circumstance that didn't allow a 
company to meet their goal, that we still tried to work with them. So, hopefully in this case, as 
far as building materials and stuff, that if need be we can hopefully take a long look at this and 
try to work with this new business.  
 
Chris Stager stated this is a reference. I believe his business has been here 29 years. And this 
was his first ask for any an incentive consideration.  
 
Councilman Bullard stated yeah, if I remember doing abatements last year, I think this 
company was towards the end of the night also. So, maybe that might explain a little bit of, you 
know, getting acquired and that type of thing. So, hopefully the new acquirement can get better 
numbers.  
 
Councilman Henke stated in working with them, knowing them, working with them, one of the 
issues that was misunderstood is they cannot use bonuses - and th  principally bonus-paid. 
So, all of their salesforce, it's all bonuses. And they are significant bonuses. But under the rules 
of abatement, you cannot use bonuses because they're not a guarantee. And, you know, bonuses 
in that company run $50,000 to $100,000 a person on their salesforce. And their management 
force. Not the front line. So it's really going to skew their numbers, and they just had to clean 
that up. Don't project that included same as temporary labor. Well, sorry, but even though you 
have 50 temporary people - not this particular one, but, like, KIK, you know, was totally reliant 
on temporary labor because they couldn't find anybody. Well, unfortunately for you that doesn't 
qualify in our business. Now, the rules, as we have been working with, it has to be something 
that ad hoc committee fully committed to. It has to be out of their control. We did have Vixon 
that had a $5MM piece of equipment, and they just couldn't get it here. And so we did make an 
extension for Greg Fior. He proved that he ordered it. He proved it was paid for. It's just not here. 
And it was, I think, from Sweden, if I recall? Germany. So there's not a whole lot he could have 
done. But if you're saying, for example, there was one company that they just had to pay more 
money because they had to get people in, and so they went far and above and beyond. And that's 
what you got to do. On the other hand, not every company can do that because you have a 
margin to maintain. And of course, you can do it if you want to lose business and fault your 
overall company. We don't want that to happen either. But, if you said you're going to build a 
plant, and it was going to be 20,000 square foot, we expect you to be within that 95% threshold. 
If you're waiting on masons and you're put off because there's no available, we need to have 
something in writing. You've got to substantiate because we, you know. I can tell a good story. 
We have to be substantial in the say, you know - there is no one, we expected this to be done 
within this time frame, we show that we've hired people. Like Dave Weaver - they had to pay out 



 25 

another half million dollars because of inflation. You're not going to get credit for it, but you did 
what you had to do.  
 
Councilman Fish stated and to add on to this statement, which is a good statement, the one thing 
that we need to within our internal workings - Drew and Chris, the better the documentation we, 
I think our client base, our customers, if you will - a little more coaching, a little more 
understanding of what is really required, and the documentation to go with it. Because some of 
them will come back next year, or 5 years from now, for another abatement. And if they know 
the rules going in, it'll expedite everything. Because we've got, and the turnover in these 
companies is amazing, at the accountant and CEO and financial level. So, yeah, just having that 
set of rules that we've been trying to hone all of these years, and then the documentation to go 
along with it. 
 
Chris Stager stated prior to this meeting, and Angie and I had discussed a potential schedule for 
next year, that we start very early, do some live sessions prior to their starting to complete, 
whether it be zoom or in-person, so that we have a better outcome and more accurate paperwork. 
A lot of what we're dealing with this time is  of things that were misinterpreted, or they 
didn't know how to fill the form out. And that's been typical over the last, ever since we started 
this process. But we're going to try to coach them through it next year a little bit better.  
 
Councilman Mishler asked for any other council discussion, then opened the floor to the public 
for any comments. No public comments noted, it was closed to the public floor and moved back 
to the council for further discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke stated and given that Mr. Stager was talking about having an annual 
abatement 1:1 course, you know, through the Chamber or something of that nature - and this has 
been ongoing for my 20 years. You know, people just don't quite get this. This is not a normal 
thing for CFOs. It's not. And so, if you're a CPA, it doesn't mean you understand abatement. You 
can look it up online. The form is the form. The city did make a cheat sheet, but it is interpretive, 
subjective language, a little bit. So I would applaud, you know, that the City, the Chamber, the 
County would have that. So people could say, you know, before this starts, I'm going to go ahead 
and attend that 1-hour session. I think it would be very worthwhile. Given that, I would also say 
with Tredit Tire, is that what we're on? Tepe. I'm sorry. What is their ERM date? 
 
Councilman Fish stated they're in a 3-year. 
 
Councilman Henke stated initiated when? 
 
Councilman Fish stated 2019. 
 
Councilman Henke stated alright, so, I mean, realistically, the end date is still 22, if we would 
look at it that way. So, they have a window. If someone could communicate with Tepe and just 
make sure that the new owners, and those people moving forward, know they have a drop-dead 
date of compliance. 
 
 
 



 26 

 
Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Curry, moved to adopt Proposed Resolution 22-
R-38, to be in compliance by ERM date. The vote was unanimous, and the motion carried. 
 
The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-24 by title only. 
 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-24, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, amending Resolution R-38-18 and R-54-21 to extend the 
expiration date of a certain economic revitalization area and determining that 
Tredit Tire and Wheel Company Inc. has made reasonable efforts to substantially 
comply with its Statements of Benefits. (Property located at 3305 Charlotte Avenue) 

 
Councilman Mishler opened the council floor for a council discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke stated so let's have an understanding on the ERM date. This was initiated in 
2018. July. In fact, July 1st of 18, and we're saying that this is a 5-year. So, the completion date 
was to be 4/1/22. But, if we would give them the full 5 years ERM, they would still be in 
compliance by that date. Correct? 
 
Councilman Baughman stated mm hmm, right.  
 
Councilman Fish stated we've given them 2 extensions, though. For the record, we've given 
them 2 extensions to this date. 
 
Councilman Henke stated so I appreciate you talking to that. And so that last extension date 
was to be  
 
Councilman Fish stated end of the year. 12/31, if I remember right. It was 12/31/22.  
 
Councilman Mishler stated correct. 
 
Councilman Henke stated so, if, for the record, their date is 12/31/22, we have no other choice 
but to put them in compliance up to that date.  
 
Councilman Fish stated and, if you remember, they were talking about the end of October. Just 
for the record, for the members that were not here. The machinery is not coming in from 
Germany. I mean, it is. They've got a team from Germany here, I think they're here. 
 
Chis Stager stated in September, to do the final installation. They were waiting on some widgets 
for assembly of the final machinery and that team was originally, I believe, going to come in 
August. But they pushed that back  
 
Councilman Fish stated yeah, they pushed the team off. They pushed the drop-dead delivery 
date back to, is it September?  
 
Chris Stager stated my understanding was that the folks from Germany were going to be 
installing it in September.  



 27 

 
Councilman Fish stated okay, well, let's hope that happens for them, but we've got a date of 
12/31/22.  
 
Councilman Henke stated so, to Mr  point, can we have on the record that their ERM 
date, agreed upon by this council, is 12/31/22? 
 
Councilman Fish stated okay, did you make any motion to that, or just for the record? 
 
Councilman Henke stated for the record.  
 
Councilman Fish stated okay, because during the ad hoc, we had also made that point, too. 
 
Councilman Mishler asked for any other council discussion, then opened the floor to the public 
for any comments. No public comments noted, it was closed to the public floor and moved back 
to the council for further discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Fish, moved to adopt Proposed Resolution 22-
R-24 with a finding that the property owner is in substantial compliance, based on ERM 
date. The vote was unanimous, and the motion carried. 
 
Councilman Mishler stated with that said, I really enjoy the ad hoc committee working together 
on this tax abatements thing and it's really a great economic incentive tool. Moving forward, 
I would love to see the ad hoc committee continue in some form, discussing tax abatements, 
including the scoring matrix. I would love to see us take a look at that. I know the county has 
their own, but I know that municipalities can also add additional scoring points to that as well. 
So that may be something to consider in the future. But, ladies and gentlemen, we are concluded. 
And with that, I will ask for a motion and a second to adjourn.  
 
 At 8:00 p.m. Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Bullard, moved for 
adjournment, which motion carried by voice vote and the meeting was adjourned.  
 
       
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Aaron Mishler 
      Common Council Committee Chairman 
 
 
 



 DRAFT 

 
MINUTES OF THE PUBLIC HEALTH & SAFETY COMMITTEE  

MEETING OF AUGUST 31, 2022 
 
 
Present: Public Health & Safety Committee Chairman Aaron Mishler 

Public Health & Safety Committee Members Kevin Bullard and Brent Curry 
 
Absent: None 
 
 
 Councilman Mishler, who chaired this meeting of the Public Health & Safety of-the-Whole 
Committee called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 229 S. 
Second Street, Elkhart, Indiana.  This meeting was made available to the public via WebEx and 
was live-streamed on Facebook. Council Members Kevin Bullard, Brent Curry, and Aaron Mishler 
were present in Council Chambers. 

 
The clerk called the roll.  

 
 Councilman Mishler said this evening the Public Health & Safety Committee of-
the-Whole will discuss: 
 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-29 
 

AN ORDINANCE PROHIBITING THE POSSESSION OF FIREARMS IN ANY 
MUNICIPAL BUILDING OF THE CITY OF ELKHART CONTAINING A 

COURTROOM OF THE ELKHART CITY COURT 
 

 The clerk read the proposed ordinance 22-O-29, by title only.  
 
 Councilman Mishler reminded the committee members and audience members to turn 
cell phone volumes down or off, then opened the floor for discussion.  
 
 John Espar, Corporation Counsel, stated what you have before you as the proposed 
ordinance is based upon state statute and, literally, its simplicity is so that it can track most 
accurately with the state law, which authorizes cities and counties to pass regulations to prohibit 
the possession of firearms within buildings and structures that have a courthouse, or a courtroom, 
rather. under the general prohibition that 
is upon municipalities that prohibits legislating in this area, but it is at the same time a 
recognition of the need for such regulations in those locations where courthouses, or courtrooms, 
are hosted authorized in 
passing the legislation, is the provision of the corresponding sanction for a violation of the 
statute. It otherwise tracks, literally, with the state law.  
 
 Councilman Mishler stated thank you, are there any questions from the council? 
 
 Councilman Bullard stated so, John, 



 2 

we have the ability to do this. So it said in our abilities, if we decide that we want to have this 
type of ban in buildings that provide a court, we have the ability to do that
necessarily a state law. 
  
 John Espar stated I guess, I think that that would not be an inaccurate statement
a requirement that the cities and counties of the state of Indiana pass this legislation, but it is 
based upon state law. And in the absence of that state law, which authorizes it, you would be 
unable to do so. But 
this legislation in a building in which it would otherwise be prohibited. And I think it goes 

rotect the occupants, whether they are 
members of the public attending or entering the structure where a courtroom exists, or members 
of the court staff or other employees of the building. 
 
 Councilman Bullard stated s an inaccurate 
statement. When you say other employees of the building, when there is a residential tenant, 

, or if there is another business 
within the building, then those areas need to be open to the public for people to carry. 
 
 John Espar stated  
 
 Councilman Bullard stated 
courts.  
 
 John Espar  
 
 Councilman Bullard 

 that reside in the building. 
 
 Corinne Straight, Director of Communications, stated I can speak to that as well, 
Kevin. Yeah, the language specifically speaks to residents as tenants, renting space and a 
building. So, if there is a court room that houses apartments or other rental facilities. And it also 
specifically speaks to privately owned businesses, which would not apply to this building. We 

  leasing space as a resident or a private business.  
 
 Councilman Bullard stated  has a building that 
rents out to residents to live there. 
 
 Corinne Straight stated I mean, there could be. 
 
 Councilman Bullard stated  something that, you know - 
reside in the building. 
 
 Corinne Straight stated it does not say other operations, it says other private entities. So 
that would not be anything in this building since this is all public. 
 
 Councilman Bullard stated . 
 



 3 

 John Espar stated it say  
  
 Corinne Straight stated right, we can look over it.  
 
 John Espar stated . An individual with a lease hold interest 
as a tenant, or a private business, and neither of those apply to our situation.  
 
 Councilman Curry stated so, John, Corrine, with the structure of our building, with the 
people we have in our building, if this ordinance is passed, no one would be able to carry a gun 
in this building, right? 
 
 John Espar stated with one exception, and that is the judge.  
 
 Councilman Curry stated okay, thank you. Except law enforcement. 
 
 John Espar stated and law enforcement.  
 
 Corinne Straight stated yeah, it would allow for an officer of the court to carry a 
firearm. And it would allow for law enforcement officers to carry a firearm in the 
building. 
 
 Councilman Curry stated right, so the public would be safe because we do have law 
enforcement officers at all our council meetings. 
 
 Corinne Straight stated correct. 
 
 Councilman Mishler stated my quick question is, why does this only speak to firearms, 
and not other weapons? Can we possibly amend it to include that? 
 
 Corinne Straight stated yeah, I think John can speak to that, but we did model this 
language off of the state code, which says firearms specifically. 
 
 John Espar stated that is correct. This is tracking the state law that speaks directly to the 
one provision that would otherwise not be authorized by law. We can. My recommendation is we 
can either amend this, or you can pass another piece of legislation that speaks to other types of 
weapons. It might even be preferable one way or the other, but we can certainly amend it to 
include other types of weapons or draft another piece of legislation that speaks to those other 
types of weapons. The statute which authorizes the prohibition of firearms  speak to other 
weapons. That was a right that was already reserved to the city. 
 
 Councilman Bullard 
of the courts t was first presented, when this really did not come through a 
request of the courts
years and years. We do have some reinforced office buildings. We have an officer sitting down 
in front occasionally throughout the day, and then for special meetings. If the need is, and the 
law is based on the 
security going into the courtroom? Do third floor. 



 4 

 
 John Espar stated  
 
 Mayor Rod Roberson 
well. Go ahead.  
 
 John Espar stated an individual who comes to the building to engage in an act of 
violence would not necessarily wait 
violence. The best way to prevent that violence is before 
position to engage in such violence.  
 
 Councilman Bullard either. If 

. He can do it out on the sidewalk. He can 
do it out the back door.  
 
 Mayor Roberson stated may I? Yeah, all of those are scenarios that could take place. 

any contingency. But what we can do is provide a modicum of 
safety wherever we can. Unfortunately, 
would have enacted earlier, as it relates to the back of the court. Because this is something that 
we could have enacted two years ago, as it relates to the fact that the court building has been 
here. Incidents of gun violence have risen, obviously,  whatever we 
can do in order to protect the court and the rest of this building, this is an effort in order to do so. 
So with that said, we will add weapons as it relates to that. And all we want to do is marry to 

nfortunately will move to County Road 33. Alright, 
nother story, but we do want to marry our weapons relationship to the building to 

what has happened with the court building across the street, our circuit and superior courts. 
 
 Councilman Bullard stated 
maybe we should hear from the people who are going to man and supervise and provide the 
labor for that type. Maybe we should hear from the police.  
 
 Councilman Mishler stated I second that. Is there a representative of law enforcement to 
speak on this ordinance? 
 
 Dan Milanese, Assistant Chief of Police of Elkhart introduced himself to the council.  
 
 Councilman Mishler stated thank you, can you just possibly speak to the potential 
requirements for officers on this? And has there been
across the street at all, who I know were short of officers as well? Or, in Goshen, has this caused 

d of? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 5 

 Assistant Chief Milanese , or stress on their 
with them as far as what demand it puts. 

been there for them. I know they have other resources to pull from  jail officers, things like that. 
 

the beginning stages. So, looking at what would be implemented as far as equipment, those 
things are still going to have to be evaluated by us, as far as manpower. And once those things 
are determined  
 
 Councilman Bullard stated  - is this a good 
idea? Is this going to make this building safer? 
 
 Assistant Chief Milanese stated when you look at the models, the courthouses across, 
from what my experience is across the county and other parts of the country and the state, to kind 
of go back to your single point of entry. When about security and safety, you want 
to funnel things to one spot.  You can control one thing more than you can multiples. So, to kind 
of go back to that, yes, we have somebody down there now. We have an officer down there 
Monday through Friday, 8 to 5 , but we 
do feel that the security of the courts, when you start talking about that type of interaction and 
the potential for any kind of conflict, we feel that that
security and safety. 
 
 Councilman Mishler stated thank you. If I may, this is just an evidence of threat 

eliminate all scenarios. If someone really wanted to come in, they 
could come in, guns blazing, from the street. But I believe that it does reduce potential threats to 
employees outside of the court that work here as well, in Code, in Parks. 
you come into a building and . But, if there is a zoning vi

firearm and some things happen, having this would add an 
additional level of protection for municipal workers in the city building here. The same thing 

, but it . And if this can be done 
properly and safely, and utilize resources effectively, it could protect municipal workers and our 
constituents that utilize this building as well. Any other discussion from council? 
 
 Councilman Curry stated nope.  
 
 Councilman Bullard stated 

. 
says the only thing he outlaws is 

cell phones, 
conversation with him, that if we do this, then we need to go all in. 
benefit to this, and this ordinance 
talks about fining someone  boy, if someone comes in here to shoot someone with a gun, fining 
him $500 is not going to stop him from shooting someone.  
of rework. So, things that need to be done  we need to secure, and these figures, I think, before 
we get an ordinance in front of the city council, this committee is where amendments and 
changes need to be made. I think we need to keep this in committee until these changes are made 

row of first floor windows that are going to have to be change going to have to do the 



 6 

metal detectors. 
 for 

So, if you carry a gun, I carry a gun, whoever 
cost, a huge 

burden. You know, Chief, you talked about sitting at the front door. 
down there got a whole list of every single meeting 

 
Those have to be, you know, time- time burden. I mean, we even 
went to Code and Building and G
officers available to deliver our packet -wise to deliver our 
packets, what type of burden is this going to put on the police force to be at all hou
not in session on Wednesdays
officer down there.  ifs and buts in this ordinance that stink. 
 
 Corinne Straight stated we understand the process that goes into this, and we understand 

for further implementation. Our goal is not to overburden the 
police department. We share the goal with our police department to keep this building safe. So, 
something - your example of Code Enforcement or Building and Grounds delivering our packets 
so our police officers can be on the street protecting people  that same preservation of their 
capabilities would be in mind when we looked at implementation within this building. This 
ordinance lines us up with the state statute is just the first step. We have looked at some systems 
to put in place. We are looking at a maximum cost of $20,00 
figure. That would give us equipment downstairs, and then we would work with our police 
department and partner with them and figure out the way that we can do this safely in this 
building, because we have a responsibility, not only to the public but to our staff here, to keep 
them safe. And the police department shares that goal. 
 
 Councilman Bullard stated 
department, does that mean, like, Building and Grounds will man the front? 
there? Or Code Enforcement, where they partner with delivery of our packets? 
 
 Corinne Straight stated well, delivering packets and securing the building are two very 
different skill sets.  
 
 Councilman Bullard stated then who are you going to partner with? 
 
 Corinne Straight stated with the police department. 
 
 Councilman Mishler stated Kevin, I think what she means by that is  work 
closely, hand in hand, to make sure that the police department is not necessarily overburdened by 
this. Because I definitely do share your concern about putting too much strain and pressure on 
the police force
like supporting that recruitment drive, for allowing civilian safety officers to transport detainees 
to jai
here in the city and 
they say that, I believe that. They have a history of doing that.  
 



 7 

 Councilman Bullard stated just to be clear, 
that we have the ability to do this
building that has a court, that has to be done. This is just 
state statute and being in line, in unison, at our ability to do it.  
 
 
 Councilman Mishler stated quick question with that - is there any other court around 
here, in the counties surrounding us, that city court, county, that is either not in, um, has police 
there, like in Goshen, is actually at the police department, or has some kind of security  are we 
the only one in the area that lacks that? 
 
 Corinne Straight stated I cannot speak to every court room within the county, just what I 
have familiarity with. Maybe Captain Milanese can speak to it, but we can look just across the 
street to the Elkhart County courthouse. There is a security system. They prohibit weapons and 
firearms before you walk into the building. So everyone is screened at a single point of entry.  
It's very similar to, if anyone's familiar with the county city building in downtown South Bend, 
that is also a single point of entry with security at the front desk, as well as metal detectors. So 

ot uncommon to have that procedure within a municipal building within a government 
building. I can't speak specifically to every single one, but it is unique that we've waited so long 
to bring this ordinance into the city. 
 
 Councilman Curry stated yeah, just, you know, we are business friendly. We want our 
public to come to this building. This is where they can get their needs met. But we  just asking 
with this ordinance that when you come, just leave your firearm outside the building. I don't 
think that's asking too much if we do that cause like, as you said, all the other county buildings 
that I know with courts in them, you do have to go through a metal detector to get in. So, asking 
people to leave their - and hoping that we wouldn't need all that kind of equipment - people 
should just do the right thing sometimes. 
 
 Councilman Bullard  going to push back a little bit on that, Brent. To leave 
your weapon, you know  - not to be a rights activist, but you have the ability to carry a 
weapon out in the parking lot, down the sidewalk, up to the building. So, we shouldn't be asking 
people to leave their weapon, if they decide to carry, in their car. Then we're going to have to 
provide lock boxes down at the entry. If they've come in, and that's the way a lot of courts do it, 
if they come in and a lot of these developers and people coming in to do permits and whatnot 
carry a gun, then they're going to have to have lock boxes down there so they can lock their gun 
away. And then when they leave, they can feel safe going out in the parking lot and going on to 
the rest of their day. So that's going to be another cost. It's going to be added. We're going to 
have to have some type of lock boxes. 
 
 Corinne Straight stated we can look into that, but we are hopeful. Just, at the county 
building, anyone who has been in there once, you know the rules before you go in. We are 
hoping that with the passage of this ordinance and education, people will also understand the rule 
before they even approach the building and yeah, leave their firearm in the car. 
 
 Councilman Curry stated or at home.  
 



 8 

 Corinne Straight stated or at home. 
 
 Councilman Mishler stated one thing that I would like to see amended is the words 
weapon included as well. I know we're just going off the state language here, but I do agree 

that if we're going to have firearms in there, we don't want folks walking in with machetes or 
flails, or any other weapons as well. I think that that language should be included in the 
ordinance.  
 
 Corinne Straight stated John, can you advise how we should go about that? 
 
 John Espar stated I'll prepare a couple of alternatives, either as a new ordinance, as an 
additional ordinance, or I can prepare an amendment. That at the ut I think 
that will ultimately require some kind of legislative direction, would it not at this point. 
 
 Mayor Roberson stated we would probably prefer to amend this to include all weapons. 
And that would be consistent with the procedure or policy that has taken place over in the county 
building. We also believe that we will manage this appropriately for this building, and we'd like 
for the council to give us the latitude to do that. We will research the appropriate detection 
equipment in order to do it with the manpower, or the staffing I should say, that is necessary to 
make this happen. We also believe that in some cases - Councilman Bullard, you're absolutely 
right - we will never get in front of some of the tragedy that has occurred throughout our country. 
We realize that. But we also believe that it's incumbent for us to try. And for people who could 
be innocently in a situation, without carrying, and get caught in a crossfire and/or a situation that 
just explodes, if we can prevent some of that from happening. We believe that this barrier could 
or this, the outside point of entry could help us. And, if indeed that that's the case, then there is 
no expense that is too great to try to protect a life. And so, with that said, we'll do that with, 
obviously, the kind of efficiency necessary to do so. If it requires lock boxes, then we will 
research law to see if that is a part of it. We hope, as Councilman Curry indicated, and. 
and as Ms. Straight has said, that through education and through the ability to be able to 
communicate the right language, the expectations of this building will be well known before 
someone enters. And then once they do enter, we will be able to ensure that they're not carrying 
weapons beyond a certain point. In which case, we hope that that will help to some degree. We 
realize that we haven't been in a situation where we've had to deal with a mass shooting as of yet, 
but probably none of the other places in America where a mass shooting has occurred were they 
in a position to think that it would happen there, either. And so, in our estimation, the best thing 
that we could do is be as prepared as we can. And that's the objective here. 
 
 Councilman Mishler stated thank you. It sounds like they want to do it the right way. I 
think we're talking about  
 
 Councilman Bullard stated boy  
 
 Councilman Mishler stated Councilman Bullard, any further comment?  
 
 
 
 



 9 

 Councilman Bullard stated yes, sorry. I'm just dumbfounded. By saying that we're 
gonna  It reminds me of the incremental fines on the mask mandate where, you know, this has 
got fines to it. Now, we wanted to educate people about masks and we weren't going to fine 
them, but we were gonna try to educate them. How silly it sounds that we're going to educate 
people not to bring guns into city hall. What better way to advertise that this is a soft target. 
And soft targets just don't make sense. This needs a lot of work. I think it should stay in 
committee until we see some numbers, we see a change of language. You talk about banning 
weapons. Federal law says any pocket knife less than 2 ½ inches can be carried into the court and 
pass through Goshen. So there's a lot of federal guidelines. There's just a lot of research that 
needs to be done before I think council needs to look at this, at all. So, I think we need to keep 
this in committee. 
 
 Councilman Curry ush back a little bit on what you just said. I don't 
think for a minute that we are a soft target with our policemen available, and with our policemen 
in the building. I think people know that our policemen are around here all the time, and in the 
building. I know in Judge  court, there's a police officer there all the time, and so I 
don't think people are going to come here thinking we  a soft target. I think we  just catching 
up with the rest of the courts around here. The county courts building across the street definitely 
has metal detectors before you can get in. Everybody knows that that's going there to do 
business. And, sooner or later, people would know, to come here to do business you don't bring 
your gun. s that simple. 
 
 Councilman Bullard stated Chairman, one last comment, then I'll shut up. When we do 
this - then we provide security up front, police officer, metal detectors, lock boxes, bulletproof 
glass at all the entries, and one point of entry - that puts the city of Elkhart completely, 100% 
responsible for everybody in this building. If anyone would come in and create a situation, it is 
going to be on the city's dime if this goes through.  
 
 Mayor Roberson stated we're responsible right now. 
 
 Councilman Mishler stated thank you, and I do have to say as well, that I have full faith 
and trust in our police department. This is not the Uvalde Police Department. Our folks are quite 
highly trained and motivated, and I have full faith in their abilities. With that said, is there any 
motion? 
 
Councilman Bullard, seconded by Councilman Curry, moved to keep it in committee. The vote 
was as follows: Ayes: Bullard and Curry. Nays: Mishler. The motion carried, 2-1, and the 
proposed ordinance 22-O-29 was kept in committee. 
 
 At 7:24 p.m. Councilman Bullard, seconded by Councilman Curry, moved for 
adjournment, which motion carried by voice vote and the meeting was adjourned.  
 
       
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Aaron Mishler 
      Public Health & Safety Committee Chairman 



DRAFT

1 
 

MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE OF-THE-WHOLE  
OCTOBER 4, 2023 

 

Present: Finance Committee Chairman: Arvis Dawson 

Finance Committee Members:  Lewis Anne Deputy, Brent Curry, Brian Thomas, 
Aaron Mishler, LaTonya King, Megan Baughman, Dwight Fish and David Henke 

Absent: None 

Council Chairman Arvis Dawson, Chairman of the Finance Committee, called the 
meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 229 S. Second Street, 
Elkhart.  This meeting was made available to the public via WebEx. 

 The clerk called the roll. 

 Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to read the special call notice in its entirety. 

 

Proposed Ordinance 23-O-21 

AN ORDINANCE FIXING THE ANNUAL SALARIES FOR ELECTED OFFICIALS OF 
THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2024 

Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He asked for a 
motion to adopt on second reading.  Motion by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilman 
Fish. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-21 
Chairman Dawson opened the council discussion.  

Councilman Henke said this is for elected officials inclusive and I would ask that we 
reduce the city council to 0% increase.  Second by Councilwoman Baughman. 

Chairman Dawson asked if there was any discussion.  Seeing none, he asked the clerk to do a 
Roll Call vote. 

AYES:  Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS:  Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the motion fails. 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-21 
Chairman Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no discussion from the public. 
 
 



DRAFT

2 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-21 
Chairman Dawson returned the discussion to the council.  
 

Councilwoman Deputy said this is in regards to the elected officials correct?  I would 
like to say, I think, that our entire economy is hurting so I think it would be a really great 
example if we chose not to have an increase because we are serving the only thing I would be 
interested in making an amendment for is I do know, the city clerk earned some certifications. I 
would be interested in her compensation being increased. Chairman Dawson said I would love 
to do that also except as a council we cannot increase, we can only decrease. I believe that both 
the judge and the clerk maybe in compensatory with other towns, I do not believe so, but I think 
it warrants an increase, but we cannot do that. Jamie Arce, City Controller said I was just going 
to clarify on the clerk's salary that she had requested an increase that would be more than the 3% 
more or the 4%, whatever, the elected official component is to and it was the salary that she was 
requesting to reflect those certifications that she gained.  Chairman Dawson said and that is 
included in this. Jamie Arce said yes it is.   

 
Councilman Henke said I would ask two things. One, that the city would consider for 

future years an accrual base reporting and that the judge should be put on piece rate.  Chairman 
Dawson said we will take that under consideration. 

 
Chairman Dawson said seeing no other discussion, Angie will you do a Roll Call vote on 
Proposed Ordinance 23-O-21. 
 
AYES:  Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
NAYS:  Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
 
By a vote of 5-4, it passed on second reading. 
 
Motion for third and final by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman Curry.   
 
Chairman Dawson said I just want to remind everybody, if you want the clerk to receive the 
additional pay that she is requesting a yes vote will allow that and a no vote will put her back to 
her 2023 salary.  Councilman Henke said I am sure that you have five (5) votes.  Chairman 
Dawson said that is because we think the clerk deserves it.   
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and to do a Roll 
Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
NAYS:  Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the ordinance passed on third and final reading.   
 

Councilwoman Baughman said in the future an effort to avoid that situation where it 
will appear that people who voted against it were against the clerk. Is there any way that the 
ordinance can be written specifically by elected official and not grouped into one?  Chairman 



DRAFT

3 
 

Dawson said repeat that one more time.  Councilwoman Baughman said in an effort in the 
future to avoid having it be implied that the people who voted against this ordinance are voting 
against the clerks getting a raise and in reality we are voting against giving ourselves raise. So, is 
there an ability to write these ordinances by elected official?  Jamie Arce said so if I am 
understanding your question, it would be instead of one ordinance for elected officials, and we 
would have three (3) or four (4) separate ones. One for city council, one for the clerk, one for the 
judge and then one for the mayor. He said John can chime in on this but I do not see any reason 
as to why that would not be allowable. Councilwoman Baughman said I think that would be 
something I would like to see happen.  John Espar, Corporation Counsel said there is 
absolutely no reason why it cannot be done separately.  Councilwoman Baughman said so, let 
us try to do that next year.   
 

 
 

Proposed Ordinance 23-O-22 
 

AN ORDINANCE FIXING THE SALARIES OF APPOINTED OFFICERS AND OTHER 
SALARIED EMPLOYEES OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, FOR THE YEAR 

2024 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He asked for a 
motion to adopt on second reading.  Motion by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilman 
Fish. 
 

 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-22 

Chairman Dawson opened the council discussion.   
 

Councilwoman Baughman said just for clarity, included in each of these is the 2400 
dollar residency bonus. Jamie Arce said that would be correct. Councilwoman Baughman said 
how many people do we have that will be receiving that?  Jamie Arce said we are in the process 
of doing a census, but we anticipate that it is roughly 50% of our civil city and public works 
populations. So, less than 100 people; 80 to 100 people, most likely. 
 

Councilwoman Deputy said as a follow up question to that, do we have a comparison as 
to how many city employees we had when that was approved in 2022 versus how many will be 
receiving that now? Jamie Arce said we believe it to be roughly the same, but we can provide 
that information at the point in time, which we actually pay out the bonus.  Councilwoman 
Deputy said so, just the point of clarification, I know that this was instituted last year to try and 
incentivize people to move into the city. So, if it is the same, then it really was not an effective 
incentive, is that correct? Jamie Arce said I think that could be an opinion that one would take 
on the effectiveness of the incentive. This is this is a singular year, this would be the first point in 
time and I think with largely with pilot programs being able to see fruit over a year over year 
basis and perhaps if it was not working, the 1200 dollar component could have been really not 
enough of an incentive to drive someone to want to live and work here. Councilwoman Deputy 



DRAFT

4 
 

said I am really not in support of that just because in my short time I have met so many 
employees who have been with us for a very long time who are very effective and just because 
they do not live in the city, it is almost as if they are being penalized.  I feel like that creates 
division even amongst departments is what I have heard.  
 

Councilman Mishler said it is my understanding, this residency bonus is being used as 
an incentive when compared to other municipalities that also offer it. Do we have any examples 
of nearby municipalities that are offer residency bonuses?  Wayne Belock, Director of Human 
Resources said South Bend instituted this program a couple years ago for all their employees 
union and non-union. They recently increase the amount for police, I think, to 3,000 dollars a 
year.  Councilman Mishler said we have lost several employees to my understanding to two 
other municipalities including South Bend and St. Joe County due to benefits.  I see this an effort 
to not only retain existing employees, but hopefully attract needed talent from other places to 
come here and work.  Not so much as dismissing the wonderful contributions of employees who 
live outside city limits and work within, but as a way to draw additional talent. 
 

Councilwoman Baughman said I do have another comment.  While I understand the 
reasoning to some standpoint. I think I am at a loss as it is known by everyone that we have a 
housing shortage in our city.  So, typically when you have an overabundance of something, you 
provide an incentive for people to come and take advantage of it, versus we are already at a 
shortfall and yet saying you can have a bonus of that. Furthermore, people who have been here 
decades being punished, just because they do not live here, they may not have lived here for the 
decades that they have worked here as far as living in the city and yet, they are being punished. I 
think the data that is collected would be powerful to show if there has been any effective 
movement on that. Just to give it out, it looks as a bonus to those people and is not reflective of 
the quality of work of the aggregate of the team. 
 

Councilman Henke said I agree, I do not like this. I think it is a divisive tool in the 
toolbox.  Those within the city, those without the city totally agree with Ms. Baughman in that 
housing is one of the reasons people cannot live here.  We know that by CAGIT tax, in that   
35 to 37,000 people drive to Elkhart to work. They just cannot live here because we do not have 
the housing for them that was in the Ball State study that is in every study, the river district did 
as well. So, you can obligate demand, incentivize, I find it very unfair. I am concerned that we 
are falsely inflating our operational cost numbers. We had the charrette, we had the biggest pay 
raises the city has ever had in its history. We have had an increase in percent of PERF coverage. 
You know, this thing the state was interested, SBOA if it was considered a bonus or gratuity I 
think that gives an indication that we are running a thin line here and that I feel employees in the 
future, unions are going to grant this and it will be obligatory for everyone once unions get a 
hold of this.  So, we kill it for everyone or we are just going to have to guarantee it for everyone. 
I am concerned about that part. We still have other discrepancies all the way through this budget. 
Sick incentive, longevity is still in certain areas. And I think those things too, we have to know, I 
just got the rolling stock that is huge, but the question is how many of them are take home 
vehicles and have fuel cards to boot. Finally, I would say, we have incentivize, police living in 
the county, outside of us Nappanee, Middlebury, Bristol and everywhere in between, by letting 
them take home a squad car.  Taxpayers already paid for the fuel of those cars, and we can call it 
one thing but we are saying a different thing now with other personnel. So we have our own 



DRAFT

5 
 

argument that is counterproductive to our own prior argument. I am having a hard time with this 
and when I talk to police, a lot of them say, they do not want to live in a city that they have to 
enforce laws for their own safety meeting people on the streets and so on. I believe that is 
probably their right to do. I just do not think it should be a penalty that they need to make that 
decision for themselves, their families and their school systems. There is bigger issues at play 
than just saying, you need to live in the City of Elkhart.  And by the way, now you are going to 
have to either to keep your kids at Penn or keep them at Jimtown or keep them at Middlebury, 
Concord anywhere else but our school system, what are we actually saying? We are not the end 
all to housing. We are simply not, we are just increasing the cost to the taxpayer; who are the 
people that live in our community.  They are the ones being penalized, bigger budget.  300,000 
on top of the other stuff I just think we need to get real about it be fair to all employees. 
 

Councilman Mishler said we do have a housing crisis. We also do have several 
departments that need employees, they need workers. Another thing to remember while this is a 
fair amount of funds if these workers do decide to live inside the city and they own a home in the 
city that is property taxes going to us and not Jimtown and not Goshen and not somewhere else if 
they live in this community. So, for me, it encourages workers to come to our community, it 
helps fight attrition from our workers going to South Bend and other communities where they do 
have this. It just kind of makes sense to want...as I was saying, it encourages retention, it 
encourages recruitment and the more city employees that live inside the city who received this 
bonus, that is more property taxes for the city as well, if they own their own property.   
 
 

Councilwoman Baughman said you know, there could be a discriminatory process to 
this as well. I mean, when you are looking at it from a budgetary standpoint, and someone comes 
to interview, and you find out that they live in the city, boom, that is a 2,400 dollars hit on us and 
on the payroll so we have to look at that; is that taken into consideration as we hire people?  I 
think that you are really dividing the team. We are a team and we are all up here because we love 
the City of Elkhart. We want to serve the city, and we want to work alongside the great people 
who make the City of Elkhart what it is today. So, I think anytime you divide them like this, it 
creates, I cannot imagine working next to somebody and thinking they are getting a 2,400 dollar 
bonus just because they live in the city and I may have worked here for 10 years, and I have 
never lived in the city. It is just demoralizing. We applaud everybody who work here and I just 
think it is hard on the team as a whole to create that kind of incentive and bonus. 
 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-22 
Chairman Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no discussion from the public.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



DRAFT

6 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-22 
Chairman Dawson returned the discussion to the council. 
 

Councilman Henke 
do. However, if the house is already lived in, it is not like we are having new houses built, we are 
not.  We have some new complexes built, but they are not paying taxes so you cannot say they 
will come here and they will pay property taxes. No, the demand on us is already here so, 
property values have risen because there is such a shortage.  You know, we would follow some 
of the other studies, Ball State study specifically and deal with our aging housing stock, you may 
have a better argument because people would have an incentive to move here.  But, let us 
remember the number one reason families move and that is school systems.  So, you cannot say 
but you will get a bonus but then the next question is at what cost.  Our housing AV's are much 
higher than the majority of South Bend or even Mishawaka outside of Granger. So you can buy 
quite a number of houses in South Bend at a greater value by square foot, not Elkhart. The 
demand is simply too high. I believe this is pretty divisive. You know, I think there is plenty of 
other things in the budget that separate employees and while we are talking about morale I think 
we are adding yet another argument that they do not control. There must be another way to value 
employees other than to say you are outside the city.  I mean, my gosh, I see vehicles when I had 
an office in Granger, a city truck would go by because they took home the vehicle to Granger 
and it is not an emergency vehicle.  It is a manager's vehicle and you see those all over the place. 
So we are incentivizing living outside too because we are providing a vehicle and we are 
providing fuel.  That is an incentive to live outside of our community. Maybe we should revisit 
not allowing those take home vehicles outside of our city limits. 
 

Chairman Dawson said David, I want to let you know that the biggest percentage raise 
ever given to the city employees was done by Eleanor Kesim and it was 10% in 1983.  I just 
happened to remember. Her parting gift was a 10% raise to city employees.  
 

Councilman Mishler asked has there been any official complaints launched about this 
program.  We have heard people who support it, we have heard that some people are against it, 
but has there been any documentation from city employees for or against the program that we 
have. Jamie Arce said I will let Wayne answer that.  Wayne Belock said there has been no 
official complaint. I mean, there has been comments as people have heard, but there has been 
nobody coming to make a complaint and I would say in the hiring process, that is not a factor at 
all as to people may be getting an incentive bonus or not. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote.  He asked the clerk to read the title of 
the proposed ordinance again.   
 

Councilwoman Deputy said but it does include the 2400 dollar increase even though the 
title does not say so.   
 
 
 



DRAFT

7 
 

Councilwoman Baughman said let us be clear, if we are voting and we vote yes, you 
agree with the 2,400 dollars.  Chairman Dawson said if you vote yes, you are agreeing with the 
ordinance for fixing the salaries.  Councilwoman Baughman said if you vote yes, it includes the 
2,400.   
 
Chairman Dawson said okay, let us start this vote over.   
 
AYES:  Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
NAYS:  Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
 
By a 5-4 vote, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked for a motion to adopt on third and final reading.  Motion by 
Councilman Mishler, second by Councilman Fish. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and to do a Roll 
Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
NAYS:  Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the proposed ordinance was adopted.  
 
 

Proposed Ordinance 23-O-20 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE OPERATING BUDGET FOR THE 2024 
CALENDAR YEAR, APPROPRIATING FUNDS FOR SUCH PURPOSE AND 

ESTABLISHING THE TAX RATE FOR THE CITY OF ELKHART 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He asked for a 
motion to adopt on second reading.  Motion by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman 
Mishler.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



DRAFT

8 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-0-20 
Chairman Dawson opened the council discussion.   
 

Councilwoman Baughman said since this is dealing with the whole budget are we going 
to go through each department line by line? Chairman Dawson said we are not going through 
each department line.  Councilwoman Baughman said I mean each department.  Chairman 
Dawson said if you have a motion of any type you need to make it.  Councilwoman Baughman 

Councilman Fish asked what page number.  
Councilwoman Baughman replied page 15. 
 
 

 Page 15 of the Budget Book 
 
Councilwoman Baughman said under professional services, the mayor has asked for 7,000 
dollars you have already used 7,000 dollars up until the end of June. Can someone clarify; does 
that mean there is not going to be any more professional services use the rest of the year.  Jamie 
Arce said that is correct.  At least that is the anticipation anyways.   
 
Councilwoman Baughman said I make a motion, because the year before it was at 550 dollars, 
and since this was front loaded for 6 months that we reduce professional services by 2,000 
dollars. Second by Councilwoman Deputy.   
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Deputy, Thomas, King, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS:  Curry, Mishler, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the motion passes. 
 

Councilman Henke said in pointing that out, I do have a question regarding the full time 
line item.  As of June it was 244,354 and if you annualize that it is 488,489 and you are asking 
for 467,500. So, my question is how do you make up the deficit?  23 activity through June is 
greater than the 50% mark.  So, what do we do to make up that deficit?  Basically, 35,000.  I do 
not see another line item to draw it from as an intra-departmental transfer.  Chairman Dawson 
said Jamie is that your question? Councilman Henke said it would take it to 488,708 and your 
request is 467 which is a 3.58% increase, but it is still not going to cover your annual cost, so I 
am wondering what do we do. We cannot raise it.  I would think that if there was enough money 
laterally within the department, you would transfer, but you do not have enough money to 

Jamie Arce said there may be an extra pay 
period in there as well. Councilman Henke said to the tune of 26,000?  If you take a pay period 
divided in half, does that make up your difference?  Jamie Arce said I think we are comfortable 
with the budget as is. Councilman Henke said I am good with you. Jamie Arce said I 
appreciate the feedback.  Councilman Henke said if I could carry on, then maintenance 
contracts.  I looked at the Schedule A, which is really lacking in these things, but it was 815 
dollars expended from a 3,000 dollar budget in the first six (6) months. Did you say that was 
back loaded or what is that one?  Any idea what the maintenance contract is?  I wish these things 



DRAFT

9 
 

were in the Schedule A that is what it is there. Jamie Arce said councilman I appreciate where 
you are coming from on the Schedule A but be mindful that historically the Schedule A, has 
represented material changes from Year A to Year B and in this case, there has not been any 
changes. From historical practices, we feel that it has been appropriately not addressed as to the 
reason as to why we are increasing or decreasing a budget line. Councilman Henke said well, 
over two (2) years, I am just saying your average your mean cost to that line item is 2,228 dollars 
and it is not far off but I am just looking, why do we put a trend in if we do not manage the trend.  
That would be natural for that. Jamie Arce said I would suggest that we are providing for budget 
and the opportunity to spend, not the fact that we are going to necessarily spend. And I think if 
we are looking at history, then where we are seeing a propensity for being responsible with the 
money and not seeing budget adjustments to go to other areas to spend the money that we are 
asking for what the mayor's office feels they need and in the event that the contract is not 
sufficient or the money does not get spent. Councilman Henke said I get where that comes from 
because otherwise we could just say, here is a 118 Million dollar budget, let us not worry what is 
in it, they are going to spend less than that. What I am looking at with your argument in mind, go 
to 0900 Other Services and Charges.  The average over three (3) years is 800 but the ask is 
5,000.  If I would go to education the average is 880 but the ask is 5,000.  So, the argument is 
mute in that I can plug a number in and as long as I spend less, and we are looking at the trends 
saying there is a lot of extra money sitting there. I would find other destinations for it because 
that money in itself, then if that is the case, could be used to go back up to the mayor shortfall 

  
 

Councilwoman Deputy said I am going to say this but this is not directed at the mayor. I 
want to say, thanks to everybody who has worked hard and all of the departments.  We know 
everybody is working hard. But, when we are having to look at the budget; we do know, and it 
was the state legislature has capped how much we are going to be able to have property values 
increasing for the next two (2) years. So, that coupled with a decline in local income taxes, 
because we know that the economy is hurting is going to impact what we have going forward. 
And I know Goshen approved their budget last night and that was mentioned.  We also know we 
have several large capital improvement projects coming up; the public safety building, fire 
stations, a training facility, which are all necessary, but in all likelihood, we are going to have to 
issue bonds because we do not have that cash just sitting there.  I looked at our bond rating and 
one of the things that could occur, there could be a downgrade if we have a significant reduction 
in our cash positions as well as a significant increase in our long term liabilities. So with the city 
facing those issues of if our bond is downgraded that means we are paying more. That means our 
citizens are going to be paying more when we are all hurting.  So, I am just getting out that as I 
looked at this budget for all of them. I am going back to my banking days and saying, I really do 
need to make decisions where I am looking at future revenues and expenses as well as projects 
that we have to try and make sure we have plenty of liquid assets to cover some of the things that 
are facing us. Because as a city council, it is our greatest job is to look from a fiduciary 

ndment then for the 
other services and charges to reduce that by 3,000 dollars. That would put it at 2,000 dollars. 
That would certainly be plenty in comparison to what the budget has been. In 21, they spent 
1,300 dollars, 22 they spent 600 dollars and for the first six (6) months, they spent 350. So, you 
know, we budgeted 5,000 dollars.  Motion seconded by Councilman Henke. 



DRAFT

10 
 

Chairman Dawson asked if there was any further discussion.  Seeing none, he asked the clerk to 
do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Deputy, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS:  Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 6-3, the motion fails. 
 
Board of Works Budget  Page 17 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilman Henke said I was not and still not sold on the block by block initiative. It 
seems to be very under scrutinized and for the cost overall.  It is equivalent of paying seven (7) 
people 64,000 a year 64,285 just by overall cost even though they are going to make a lot less, 
they have a management fee so, it is still a cost to our taxpayers.  It is a considerable amount of 
money and I would hope that someone would have done the study that said, you know, if we had 
five (5) more people at 22 dollars for buildings and grounds to manage this up there our 

total of 2,080 hours out of them without overtime. I would think that you would also have a 
savings in your overtime, but to pay someone else and then to pay someone else to manage those 
very people and then to add on the communication costs between whoever that is and whoever 
our City of Elkhart people are, and then try to create an efficiency is simply not going to happen.  
So, indirectly, you are adding seven (7) expensive city employees. If I was a city employees 
saying, well, it is a cost of 64,000 dollars a year, I will make a transfer into that, I will do the 
clean ups and those things.  I think it would be money better spent to take this out and look for 
employees to fit the category in the department that would best serve with efficiency to get the 
job done.  
 
Councilman Henke said I move to reduce the Community Block Grant of 450,000 motion.  
Second by Councilwoman Baughman 
 

Councilman Mishler said one thing though to consider is that if we had full time 
employees, we would then be liable for their benefits, insurance, everything else like that. This 
program it is just the amount there and their wages.  We are not paying any of their retirement, 
we are not paying any of their healthcare, and it is just that amount.  So for me, it is hard to make 
that comparison.   
 

Councilman Curry said I would just like to see our city is growing and as our city grow, 
we are going to have to make sure we have people in place to take care of the needs of this city. 
 

Councilwoman Deputy said I have heard positive things about the Block by Block 
Grant. What I would say is 500,000 dollars is a lot of money, 450,000 dollars. I personally would 
rather see that going to public safety building, fire, training or streets. 
 

Councilman Henke said that is what I am saying.  Quite honestly, if you are injured on 
our job, even though they have their own workers comp out of their company, that is obviously 
being paid for with the 450,000 dollars. We do not control their education, their training, but we 



DRAFT

11 
 

are liable indirectly outside of workers comp if they say I tripped and fell, we are still in that 
liability loops. I am just saying, that is not a clean area. I just would say given the history of 
workers comp through HR, given the history of effectiveness efficiency use in training through 
buildings and grounds, I believe you would be better off in twofold. One,  hire five (5) people 
give them to Mike 12 months out of the year.  If other hot buttons come up, you have five (5) 
people that you can train to do what you need them to do and maybe you can get them to move 
to Elkhart. Maybe, you know, we can group them into higher positions that it could be 
considered as an entry level. Number two, you could bypass the company and outsource it to 
other people living in our community already. Those are the two (2) measures, otherwise this 
makes no sense. I would ask that we vote this down again. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS:  Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the motion fails.   
 

Councilman Henke said then grant expenses.  I do not know who wants to answer to this 
Jamie Arce said just to clarify 

on the grant expenses as we discussed at the Finance Committee meeting that 44,000 that you are 
referring to is for the AmeriCorps positions that that were brought on and that pays for four (4) 
individuals if I recall correctly. Councilman Henke said and that 44,000 comes from what 
revenue stream? Jamie Arce said it is part of the general tax.  Councilman Henke said so we 

Jamie Arce said four 
(4). Councilman Henke said so now we are at eleven (11) additional people that we are paying 
off the side. Realistic you have now created a fixed cost moving forward and it would seem if 
they are limited in any way because they are AmeriCorps people at some point they are held in 
check with the job duties and responsibilities of the governing contract that they work under. The 
city may be and I hope we have studies like that to find based on their cost, is there another 
avenue to be taken into a part time position as opposed to paying AmeriCorps some form of 
money in between.  That is what I was after.  Jamie Arce said just for the record, these are four 
(4) full time bodies that we are getting for 11,000 dollars each.  Councilman Henke said I 
appreciate that, I just wondered there is still a cost so there must be a benefit measurable.  If we 
know the measured benefit of those 11,000 dollars per person and then the other part of their 
earnings comes from where?  Jamie Arce said it is not from us.  Councilman Henke said I 
know, but it comes from somewhere.   It is taxed derived from somewhere. Sure. Chairman 
Dawson said I think we have an answer coming.  Jamie Arce said Jeff Zavatsky can answer 
that.  Councilman Henke said because otherwise we should get all of our city workers from 
whatever this comes from. Jeff Zavatsky, Elkhart Environmental Center said the four (4) 
members are really coming from MACOG who runs this program.  So it is 11,000 per person 
and we are allocated four (4) and in addition, they also get a stipend as well. They get a full 
stipend, plus full benefits, insurance, medical, college tuition reduction.  Councilman Henke 
said but the City of Elkhart gives MACOG annually how much? Jeff Zavatsky said I cannot 
answer that.  Jamie Arce said we pay MACOG for the trolley service. Councilman Henke said 
and I believe a membership. Jamie Arce said probably. Councilman Henke asked do you know 



DRAFT

12 
 

how much that is.  Jamie Arce said not off the top of my head, I can find it though. Jeff 
Zavatsky said I believe AmeriCorps is a federal program that is just a pass through MACOG.  
Councilman Henke said yeah, it is a pass through it is still taxed derived right.  I am sorry we 
still have dues, we have a membership fee to MACOG and I would just like that.   
 

Councilwoman Baughman said I have a question on the professional services for this 
department. It shows year to date through June of spending 140,000 double that that is 280 and 
yet the approved budget was 360 for this year and the one that we are going to be addressing 
tonight is 385.  Can somebody give some clarity?  Jamie Arce said be happy to. Included in the 
professional services component has been funding for lobbying in federal and state pieces.  At 
present, the administration is determining the effectiveness that has been. It is my understanding 
that Mr. Tracy has been in contact with our lobbying firm to try to determine if that is the 
relationship that we are going to continue or not, which is why there was not any removal or a 
reduction in the budget to take into account, not moving forward with those pieces. As part of 
that relationship, there has been some gaps and services that they were providing us as such we 
had not made a payment.  Councilwoman Baughman said do we ever get a report based on that 
relationship from the lobbyists of what we are getting for the services that we are paying for.  
Bradley Tracy, Chief of Staff said no, not a written report that says today you have got this. As 
general lobbyists go, the team would meet with our team on a semi-monthly basis and we would 
go through federal programs that were available for the city to take advantage of and then they 
would help guide us.  For example, when they went to Washington D.C. the mayor met with the 
housing secretary and arranging those meetings and then attempting to use our congressional 
delegation as well as the relationships they have to help drive dollars towards programs that we 
need. So, right now we are in our flux, and we are waiting to really review at year end before we 
make any more decisions how we are going to move forward and if we are going to keep this 
relationship the same.  In addition, there was also for the state lobbyists who work with AIM as 
well as us on certain specific issues and in some cases, when we have issues that might not be a 
priority to AIM, they would be involved. We did not use them for any specific legislation but 
what we have to use them for is for the executive work helping departments work better with 
state departments and through those relationships is where, for example, in utilities case, IDEM, 
et cetera having those relationships, and then with Mike Huber and economic development 
working with those to help us guide our principles and also help us find money to be part of our 
programming.  Councilwoman Baughman said I appreciate that but based on the department 
budget right now, we would be on track to spend 280,000 dollars and yet budgeted for this year 
is 360.  Bradley Tracy said it is more than just that. Councilwoman Baughman said so do we 
anticipate exceeding the 360 in that department line this year?  Jamie Arce said not presently 
because of the relationship that we have with the lobbyists since that is not a concrete 
relationship currently, we budgeted as if it had been and it is currently budgeted as if it would go 
on. I believe that it was 120,000 for the original agreement.  We are covering out of that line, 
payroll costs for the city, additional professional services that may be served city wide in 
addition to the lobbying component that had been embedded.  Councilwoman Baughman said 
just to be clear though, the additional 25,000 dollars raise that increase that we want for the next 
budgetary year is taking into account an increase in contract with lobbyists firm.  Jamie Arce 
said no, that as stated in the Schedule A that is for increased costs associated with expanding our 
HRIS system, our Human Resource Information System and adding breath and opportunity to 
our performance review program and other components that are more specific to the city as a 



DRAFT

13 
 

whole and not for lobbying.  Bradley Tracy said if I could add one thing.  The previous year, the 
city had a contract that was a monthly retainer fee and what we are looking at is potentially 
changing that into a project based fee which would reduce the cost if we had a specific need that 
we needed to address. So, that is why.  We have halted it for the time being and we are working 

dollars in an effective way.   
 

Councilman Mishler said I just have a question on the telephone and communication 
line, which is at 63,000 dollars. In the past it looks like the highest we ever hit was 49,000 in 
2021 and 44,000. So, my question is why have we kept it at such a higher level if we are not 
utilizing? Do we have any expectations or changes there?  Jamie Arce said no expectations to 
need to increase it.  I think if we look we are on track for 50,000ish for year to date, annualized 
and there is always the possibility that costs will go up.  I would anticipate hopefully as the IT 
department brings online the new phone system that will be able to take a more comprehensive 
look at all of those across the city and provide a reduction in the phone costs. 
 

Councilman Henke asked did you get your MACOG number.  Jamie Arce said I do not 
see anything specific within the general ledger detail that would suggest a membership in our 
payments to MACOG.  The only payments that are showing up are related to AmeriCorps or the 
trolley service that is being provided.  It is possible that there is a 5,000 dollar payment that 
would be part of that but, if that is the case, I would have to see the details attached in the office.  
Councilman Henke said no, that is good.  So, what I am after is MACOG essentially is our own 
lobby firm because them along with others Michiana Area Council of Governments actually 
represent us on a larger scale; mainly to the state, but sometimes federal transportation.  If you 
are saying we pay 5,000 dollars. How much do we pay to lobby firm?  Jamie Arce said we had 
120,000 budgeted, 10,000 a month.  Councilman Henke said so 120,000 dollars MACOG we 
attend those meetings, I think Mr. Fish is still the representative there and yet we do not even get 
written reports from our Washington person and that does not include the fact that several 
representatives traveled there and spent nights and travel arrangements and all of that stuff. Yet 
the people who control the money do not even have a report on any measurable. So we have a 
measurable cost, now I am looking for a measurable benefit for the lobby. How much money 
would you say they have brought in on specific projects that without the lobbyist efforts, we 
would have lost in the last 2022 for example?  Bradley Tracy said the relation these projects we 
are working on, the federal dollars are different.  We are working with these teams to build 
relationships to get money that is just being appropriated now.  Unlike with the state grant, where 
you open it up, you get a month, these programs have a tiered system. So, what is available today 
is already kind of been gone and we are working with them and through Baker Tilly and other 
organizations to make sure that we are in a position as grants and funds come through and are 
available that we have all resources that we can possibly use in order to try to gain as much 
grants and loans as possible. I would like to also just to clarify, when we are working on a 
project, there are deliverables and there are reports.  I was just simply stating was there is not a 
monthly report that says, okay, we got this much done for you. There is a report that shows what 
they were working on and how much time they spent, et cetera, it is not a quarter report that says 
okay, we gave you this many projects done. It is an ongoing relationship and so it is you know, it 
is basically like a consultant and as the projects move forward, they provide deliverables and 
time and reports on what the time they spend on them.  Councilman Henke said under prior 



DRAFT

14 
 

administrations, I do not think the last one did either to my knowledge; we used to have our 
lobbyists come to Elkhart and make a presentation to council and I think that was appreciated. 
Every so often they would promise that we would get every 6 months or every quarter, a written 
report, sent to us and I just thought that was for the amount of money we spend, it is a 
relationship they need to keep. If one lobbyist has ten (10) people paying them 125,000, they 
have ten (10) cities that they are ramping for, I just would like to know, what we get.  So, it 
comes down to that same thing; we have a measurable cost and I am trying to make a measurable 
benefit because we are selling unmeasurable to constituents. But, we know the measurable costs 
that I am trying to make a relationship there, so we can prove out and stay on board with that. I 
am not asking for anything else other than just a greater probably reporting mechanisms, so we 
stay in concert with what you are doing. 
 

Councilman Fish said just to clarify for the council and the members here, anybody in 
the public, MACOG is an NPO and is not a lobbying group. We are a clearing house for the 
hundreds of millions of dollars that come into the four (4) county project area.  An example 
would be Hively overpass, the Dick Moore overpass, Sunnyside overpass, ditch work those 
things that are both tied to environmental concerns and issues as well as transportation. It is 
infrastructure and transportation costs directly passing through and the board, the advisory board, 
which I am a member approve those dollars as we are awarded those dollars. Then there are 
special projects that public works or the environmental center, or a myriad of other departments 
can tap into that are made available by the government. So it is not a lobbying firm. I think there 
is one yearly program where we are invited to a transportation symposium in Washington D.C. 
and the management of MACOG attends that, but we are also budgeted to for that.  That is a 
very specific clarification, we are not a lobbying group.   
 

Councilman Mishler said I am not sure if the rest of you have received a memo here, 
speaking about the reduction to specific line items and removing of placeholders. Councilman 
Henke asked are we going on to a different topic.  Chairman Dawson said he is.  Councilman 
Henke asked if he could finish this one before we do that.   
 

Councilman Henke 
and, as you said, it is being funneled through MACOG to us and they have their grant writers on 
that end and lobbyists that they use. So, indirectly, they are lobby affording on our part that is 
where money comes through. So we can call it something else but the fact that we had federal 
dollars for the trolley system to initiate that, we had federal dollars that came for the overpass 
and it came through MACOG it was not necessarily our effort they saw the dollars available, and 
they were the ones that sought those dollars on our behalf based on our membership. So, 
indirectly I am letting, you know, that they do not print money; that is not free money and 
whatever money the government has was originally ours. So, they are collecting tax dollars. 
They are an appropriate group that has lobby efforts. They do have grant writers within the 
system and they go after monies on the behalf of people that qualify for the Michiana Area 
Council of Governments. I think we are just kind of miss mashing because they do not have 
lobby in their name, it is the function they serve and we have benefited greatly from them quite 
honestly over the years. 
 



DRAFT

15 
 

Councilwoman Baughman asked to make an amendment to Other Services and 
Charges. We have to date, they have used 7,219 as of the end of June.  Roughly let us make that 
15,000 for the year.  Their budget for this year was 108,900 and their budget is that same amount 
next year too.  Obviously based on the three (3) years trailing average far exceeds what they need 
and I would like to make an amendment to reduce it by 48,000 dollars which would take them 
down to 60,900 dollars which is what they used in 2021.  Second by Councilwoman Deputy. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS:  Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, that motion fails. 
 
Councilwoman Deputy said I wanted to make an amendment and Mr. Tracy, thank you very 
much for your explanation for the professional services. I would like to make an amendment that 
we reduce that by 70,000 dollars, which would still put you above really what your three (3) year 
average has been.  Then if for some reason, you exceeded that reduction by 70,000, which would 
put you at 315 you could always come back and ask for additional funds.  Second by 
Councilwoman Baughman 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS:  Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the motion fails. 
 
Police Department Budget  Page 57 of the Budget Book 
 
Councilman Mishler said I make a motion to amend the motor equipment line, 1101-5-219-
4440200 reduce that by 450,000 and bring the 2024 budgeted amount for Motor Equipment line 
to 1,955,000. Second by Councilman Henke. 
 

Councilman Henke asked for a discussion to elaborate.  Councilman Mishler said I 
believe it was a placeholder item and it is being requested that the amount be reduced.  
Chairman Dawson said I do not know if you got this letter.  Councilman Henke said so this 
was requested through the administration as a reduction.  Jamie Arce said you may recall from 
the committee meeting, we brought this up as part of the police departments budget that we 
would be requesting this at this time.    
 
 
 
 
 
 



DRAFT

16 
 

Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Deputy, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a unanimous vote, the motion passed. 
 
Councilman Henke asked do you have other that you would like to do.  Councilman Mishler said yes 
the Lerner is the next one. 
 
Lerner Theatre Budget  Page 111 of the Budget Book 
 
Councilman Mishler said under the full time account line 2511-5-502-4110130 I request we 
reduce that by 109,200 dollars and bring the 2024 budget amount for full time to 853,200. 
Second by Councilman Curry. 
 

Councilman Henke said so you are on 130 and you are reducing by 109,200.  Jamie 
Arce said that is correct.  That is the equivalent of the two. We are effectively removing the 
request for two (2) full time new bodies of 54,600 dollars each. In upcoming amendments that 
we have requested that will address any benefit in health insurance and other corollary changes 
that would be required as part of that reduction. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Deputy, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a unanimous vote, the motion passed. 
 
Councilman Mishler said the next one down; the part time account 2511-5-502-4110150 I 
request that we would reduce that by 279,000 dollars and bring the 2024 budgeted amount for 
part time for to 226,000 dollars.  Second by Councilman Curry. 
 

Councilman Henke said and so the number because what is in the Schedule A is an 
event manager 28,652.  If I am looking at 150, 20 bartenders at 37,500 and then two (2) bar 
runners at 42,750. So, which of those position would the reduction represent?  Jamie Arce said 
it is effectively rolling back the part time budget to be the current 2023 approved budget and 
removing the twenty (20) bartenders and two (2) bar runners but keeping the part time event 
manager. Councilman Henke said and that total reduction again was 226,000.  Chairman 
Dawson said yes.  Councilwoman Baughman said the reduction was actually 279,000.     
 
 
 
 
 
 



DRAFT

17 
 

Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Deputy, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a unanimous vote, the motion passed. 
 

-5-
502-4130100.  I request we reduce that by 24,300 and bring the 2024 budget amount for 

 
 
Chairman Dawson asked if there was any council discussion.  Seeing none, he asked the clerk to 
do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Deputy, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a unanimous vote, the motion passed. 
 
Councilman Mishler said next we have the employers Medicare line number 2511-5-502-
4130200.  I request we reduce that by 5,700 dollars and bring the 2024 budgeted amount for 

 
 
Chairman Dawson asked if there was any council discussion.  Seeing none, he asked the clerk to 
do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Deputy, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a unanimous vote, the motion passed. 
 
Councilman Mishler, said next I request, we red -5-502-

123,800 dollars. Second by Councilman Henke. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked if there was any council discussion.  Seeing none, he asked the clerk to 
do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Deputy, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a unanimous vote, the motion passed. 
 
 
 



DRAFT

18 
 

insurance line number 2511-5-502-4130500 by 48,600 dollars and bring the 2024 budgeted 

Henke. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked if there was any council discussion.  Seeing none, he asked the clerk to 
do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Deputy, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a unanimous vote, the motion passed.  
 

Chairman Dawson asked what the total reduction was for the Lerner.  Councilman 
Henke said are you just looking for the placeholder total deductions.  Jamie Arce said 482,900.  
Chairman Dawson said plus the 450 for the police department for a total of 900,000 dollars.   
 
Councilwoman Baughman said while we are on the Lerner I have some other amendments.  
Under operating supplies 4220150, we have spent up to June was 3,200, so, roughly 6,500 for 
the year and budgeted for this year is 23,160 continues on for next year.  I make a motion that we 
reduce that by 10,000 dollars.  Second by Councilman Henke. 
 

Councilman Henke said again, Jamie and I have had this discussion but when you have 
a trend that is not even close to the ask and if there is no reason to sustain that amount by 
Schedule A, it would stand the reason that it that it is not supported.  If there was some new I 
suppose operation that was going to occur that should have been in the Schedule A.  Historically, 
we were the highest in three (3) years was 12,876 and the ask is 23.  Michelle Frank, Lerner 
Theatre said when you look at the trend for the Lerner, 2020 was dark due to COVID, 2021 we 
only operated for four (4) months.  So, I do not feel that the trend that you are looking at would 

Councilman Henke said okay fair, but your highest expense you said was what year? I am 
sorry you said COVID impacted what year?  Michelle Frank said 2020. If we are not spending, 
if we are not operating shows, we scaled back on expenses. In 2021, we only operated for four 
(4) months. Councilman Henke said then in 2022 you were at 12,876 actual for 23 for 6 months 
you are at 3,243.  So, it would just beg the question that says, what do-you have in operational 
supplies that would be the last six (6) months that would not have showed up in the first six (6) 
months.  Michelle Frank 
where we took certain things out of. What we classify as operating supplies versus kind of how 
the theatre operates.  So, we made some changes to that come 2022, which is why that changed.  
However, we are still operating on that trend. I would not say that through June is going to be a 
great depiction of how we operate the theater for six (6) months. Our strongest quarter is going to 
come up in the 4th quarter.  Councilwoman Baughman said are you saying that going forward 
your June was 3,200 you are going to spend 20,000 dollars roughly 19,000 dollars from July 1 to 
December.  Michelle Frank said I will say that the ask is there because we have a need to fulfill 
that operating side of it with operating supplies and that goes from the theatre side to the office 
side to facilitate the theatre operations. So, yes, I believe that is where our trend is, because that 
is what we showed in previous years prior to the pandemic.  Councilman Henke said I am just 



DRAFT

19 
 

saying, your trend is your trend.  Your 22 trend was your real trend so it is 12,876 and in fact, it 
may be considered to catch up here since you were only four (4) months into 21, I get that. So, 
22 and then we did not have a flurry in 2023 so I am having hard time because you had the same 
23,160 budgeted.  Michelle Frank said that was when the change happened was 2022 with how 
things became classified and where we had to take things out of, in order to operate the 
department.  Councilman Henke said so, 20,000 it means that you would have to spend what 
you spent in the first three (3) months, you have got to spend every month thereafter for the last 
six (6) months to catch up.  Michelle Frank said but our operating supplies are there; if 
something in the tech department is to not work, or we have to replace something, we are having 
to reclassify it into different lines. So, our operating supplies, were divvied up between what 
used to be operating versus now small tools.  There is still a need to operate the facility that are 
coming out of both of those lines. It is just the way they are classified. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Deputy, Mishler, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Thomas, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a 5-4 vote, the motion failed. 
 

Councilwoman Deputy said I would like to look at the Other Services of 50,000 dollars.  
It would be a line item 4390900 on page 111, the very last one.  That is a completely new charge 
so, I was curious what that was.  Jamie Arce said as is described in the Schedule A,  this is to 
provide some initial funding for the upcoming 100 year anniversary planning and so it is in the 
other services and charges, because we do not quite know how that is going to unfold.  
 
Councilwoman Deputy said I would like to reduce that as much as I love the Lerner at the outset.  
I am looking at what is coming down the pike and I really do think it is important just as we as 
individuals at home are having to adjust travel, going out to eat all that; we owe it to the citizens 
to make sure we are doing that as well. So, I would like to make an amendment to reduce that by 
50,000.  Second by Councilwoman Baughman 
 

Chairman Dawson said just for historical factors, we did the sesquicentennial for 
Elkhart and we did the same thing. We set aside 50,000 dollars and that 50,000 dollars generated 
probably another 300,000 dollars, just from a private sector, and putting on free concerts and 
doing other things throughout the community. I specifically asked the mayor to put this in there 
having gone through the sesquicentennial and seeing the importance of it to our community. I 
just think it is something we ought to do that 100th anniversary of the Lerner since this 
renovation. I think it would be a great way to show it off and have the community come in. We 
had a lot of free concerts a lot of things that the community benefited from it. It generated a lot 
of economic income for downtown as well. Councilwoman Deputy said once again, I am very 
thankful for the Lerner, incredibly thankful for the Lerner. But, we are having to look at what we 
are operating in and so that is the only reason I would say that we could always come back for an 
appropriation next year if needed.   
 
 



DRAFT

20 
 

Councilman Henke said what year are you looking at the celebration? Michelle Frank 
said this would be November 24th, 2024 through November 24th, 2025.  Councilman Henke said 
the other side of that is, I realize we have 300,000 dollars; I mean we got seven (7) new people to 
clean up after ourselves now. I get this, I am surprised however that we just do not have a donor 
Friends of the Lerner step into it, as opposed to, you know, the whole thing. It is a piece, I get it. 
 

Councilwoman Baughman said I do have a comment on that; I feel the same way. I 
think it is a great celebration opportunity for a business or community leader to step in and 
champion that under that headline. I also feel since it is going to be used at the end of November 
at that point for since we are just doing the budget for next year, you could you could reduce it 
substantially for the November, December, and then do another budgetary item for the following 
year because it is only a two (2) month that you are talking about for the year.  I do think this is 
more of an opportunity to leverage our relationship in the community with our donors to help 
with that. Michelle Frank said if I may, part of the ask for that 50,000 dollars was to be able to 
plan for November 24th, 2024 so part of the plan is to form a committee and have special events, 
some marketing promotions around those.  We would not be able to put offers out for shows, we 
would not be able to start planning for those community events without having some of that 
money that is readily available. While I do agree, I think it would be a really nice partnership 

tie together.  Councilwoman Baughman asked would it be something if it was reduced by 
25,000 then an opportunity to go to Friends of the Lerner to let them partner at 25,000. I am just 
asking is that something that would be if we did not reduce it by 25,000 said now the friends.  
Chairman Dawson Michelle Frank said I 
cannot speak on their behalf.  Chairman Dawson said going back to the sesquicentennial and 
this was just coming out of the recession and we had a 50,000 dollars seed money and exactly 
what happened is what you are talking about. We had major donors from our community step up, 
but we had seed money to get us started, to get a committee to get it planning. This is a seed 
money that it is 30,000 dollars, but I could easily see it being 350,000 dollars once we get it out 
there and we start looking for partnerships with the private sector. 
 

Councilman Thomas said in the famous words of somebody and I think it was Mayor 
Moore, a dollar budgeted does not necessarily mean a dollar spent. This is a contingency fund 
because if the committee says okay, we want so and so to come in for a concert; well so, and so 
is not going to wait till November 2024 to perform in August 2025.  I mean, you almost have to 
be in negotiations with them now. My service club is celebrating their 100 th anniversary next 
year. We set we set money aside two years ago. We continue to look for donors or whatnot if 
there is going to be a special movie, if we bring back the Navigator, which was the 1st movie 

e to go out 
and find people to mitigate this 50,000.  But, I think it has to be there to provide the seed and the 
genesis.   
 
Councilwoman Deputy said I know it is not always like this, I love that we had this discussion 
and listened. I would like to remove my amendment. Councilwoman Baughman removed her 
second. 
 



DRAFT

21 
 

Councilwoman Baughman said one thing that would be helpful going forward is having 
the context of that prior to a meeting, like this to say, you know, that has not been in the 
budgetary line item. It is a new item on this in a context of that is seed money to plan for a larger 
celebration that could be 350,000 dollars.  But, we would like to kick it off with the seed money 
and the hope to leverage that that is a whole different perspective than getting it in this.  
 

Chairman Dawson said so actually we were going to do a Paul Thomas day.  We had 
some seed money in the council budget and we were going to do the same thing.   
 

Councilman Henke said so while we are on the Lerner, if I could, I want to buzz through 
a little bit faster than I have.  Travel is another one that 300, 200, 900; your travel budget had 
been 1,700.  Conferences and continuing education is now 13,700.  So again, I think we are all 
Lerner supporters, but more importantly, we are constituent supporters, so overall the budget has 
grown considerably and annually added some new positions.  Again, these were not reductions 
of council, these were place holders from administration.  They took their own place holders out, 
so that is fine. I know there was something at play there and we all kind of played along.  But, I 

that we did not have last year, what is the benefit for all this? Michelle Frank said travel, 
originally we had classified it under our education line.  That was where we had spent it out of.  

allocated to travel not what it previously.  We did increase education because of the continuing 
education opportunities, accreditation opportunities.  Councilman Henke said but in your 
Schedule A, it just says travel for conference and continuing ed 12,000 dollars increase, which 
represents 705%. Michelle Frank said right, but originally that was in our education line.  That 
was in our education line previously so I increased our education line by 7,800 dollars to cover 
VMS for IBM and a tech conference.  So, I took 12,000 dollars out of my travel or out of my 
education line, put it in travel. So now, you are seeing a true 12,000 dollar travel costs for 
conferences and I increased education by 7,800 dollars. Councilman Henke said in the Schedule 
A, it would have been nice to say, travel, conference, continuing ed 12,000 transferred from and 
then we could actually see the two sides.  So that would have been helpful there. Then 
professional services 24,400 would be estimated for this year based on the first six (6) months. 
Do you have some major professional service issues coming up?  Michelle Frank said our 
current professional services use is for Kruggel Lawton, our accounting firm, Schoff Security, 
organ tuning, pest control. We are adding, I believe, 8,500 dollars for a maintenance software, a 
facilities maintenance software that would have to come out of professional services. 
Councilman Henke said when I get concerned is that, for example, there was 2,962 and 
subscriptions, but you already spent 3,200 for six (6) months. So, the suggestion is that you have 
already paid and no more is coming for the rest of the year. But you are still budgeting at 2,962 
how do you are you going to drop something to make that work?  Michelle Frank said generally 
what we do is where we have savings, we will move it.  Councilman Henke said then in another 
budget, we have the 1 Million dollar annual transfer, correct?  Jamie Arce said that is correct.  
Councilman Henke said I am just saying, when we talk about that 50,000 and all that, 
constituents continue to pay a 1 Million dollars a year for operational things that the Lerner. So, 
then I would ask how is your overall fund as far as raising dollars so that the Lerner becomes 
more self-funded, how is that going, because the city gave 500,000 towards that as well.  Jamie 
Arce said I think what you are referring to is the Friends of the Lerner, which I am not sure is if 



DRAFT

22 
 

Councilman Henke said I am just referring that when we 
ask for more and more and more there is people there that are raising dollars constituents give a 1 
Million dollars, we can add 50,000 dollars, but if we were going to add all these other pieces that 
an increase of 500,000 plus; we just have to be mindful that it is a jewel. It is a monument, but 
there is a cost benefit. We just have to be mindful of that is all I ask. 
 

Councilwoman Deputy said the processing fees that is at 51,000, but you did not have 
them in 2022 and there were none year to date for 2023, could you just shed a little light on that?  
Michelle Frank said the 51,000 is a placeholder in case we do not hit our ticketing minimum 
with our current contract with our ticketing provider.  In 2021, I mentioned that we only operate 
for four (4) months, so there was a shortfall from being able to process tickets for them to reach 
their minimum of 51,000 from our facility, so we paid 38,589 to them.  In 2022 we did not have 
to worry about it, we hit our goals and they made their money.  2023 is trending the same way.  
So that is there is case there is a shortfall and we need to pay the ticketing company.   
 

Councilman Henke said miscellaneous 100,000 dollars.  Jamie Arce said that is a 
transfer; it is a new item to provide future potential capital expenditures. This is to help plan for 
future needs similar to the HVAC system that we just replaced.  Councilman Henke said but 
you also have HVAC citywide contract and that was that was a 1 Million dollars.  Michelle 
Frank said that does not include the Lerner.  Councilman Henke said but you have a brand new 
system and a citywide contract does not include the Lerner.  Chairman Dawson said I think we 
have a guarantee from who put it in.  Jamie Arce said the Lerner has their own maintenance 
preventative program on that.  This 100,000 transfer is essentially meant to safe keep and have 
capital available for future, future needs.  Councilman Henke said I hear you but I am going 
down a path that I do not like at all because we are transferring in 50,000 dollars for a celebration 
but in addition, we are starting to put 100,000 dollars towards future, future.  Jamie Arce said 
that 100,000 dollars is going to be not appropriated for any additional use. It will transfer into the 
Lerner capital fund to sit there in the event that the theater has a capital need for future planning. 
Councilman Henke said so it too is a placeholder and I guess I would have thought and in my 
budgetary work that we would have to reduce that by 50,000 dollars and it would have covered 
the other 50,000 ask. As something would develop, you would come to the council and ask for 
whatever was needed for whatever project. Jamie Arce said the attempt here is to try and plan 
for future capital and not have to come and ask for a huge ask. Councilman Henke said so 
whether you set it in the general fund and let it sit or set it in the limited Lerner fund, we have 
greater latitude in the general fund because we have already transferred it to their fund. Cannot 
bring it back necessarily to make it work for the rest of the city, should it have an issue. So, I 
would have thought that we would have transferred it based on need when something has 
identified to expend on, not to start to house money somewhere else in the event something does 
come up and then ask for 50,000 dollars more for a celebration. 
 

Councilman Thomas said let us circle back to travel and education are you not traveling 
to conferences for the education, so they are kind of commingled.  Michelle Frank said we are 
traveling. Councilman Thomas said I mean, you take the cost of travel and the cost of 
education.  Michelle Frank said they are not together in the same line.  Councilman Thomas 

that money to get to the conference.  Michelle Frank said we are using the travel to get to the 
conference.  We are paying education, for the conference fees, for education fees, for 



DRAFT

23 
 

certifications. Councilman Thomas said they are all essentially go on to the same conference.  
You got to travel to that conference, you got to stay at that conference. Michelle Frank said sure 

nce.  We are not paying the conference our airline fees and 
our hotel fees. We are paying the airline, the airline fees and the hotel, the hotel fees.  
Councilman Thomas said but it all comes out of the same pod.  Michelle Frank said it does. 
Councilman Thomas said I know several years ago, especially when COVID was around that 
the trend was to, I hate to use an old term Zoom, WebEx, whatever we are using, is that available 
or do you have to go.  Michelle Frank said you have to go.  Some of these are educational 
based, a lot of them are educational based, but a lot of them are networking.  I mean, it is 
impossible to network, darn near impossible to network when you are videoing.  A lot of this has 
to do with face to face time with agents, with industry professionals, with other venue managers, 
promoters.  Councilman Thomas said and where is this going to be held this year?  Michelle 
Frank said the one that I am talking about is in Nashville.  It is the International Entertainment 
Buyers Association.   
 

Councilman Curry said when you travel for this education do our people get 
certification and how many people actually go from the Lerner. Michelle Frank said for the 
certification part, this was the first year that we have done certifications it is through the 
International Association of Venue Managers, it is their venue management school. It was a 
waitlisted program. I was selected and so was my Director of Events, Sarah Macer.  We are in 
year one of two years and then I would move on to the graduate institute after that, there is a 
certification that comes with that next year. I am looking at adding an additional staff member to 
go to that certification course.  Councilman Curry said with the certification will they become 
more valuable to the Lerner?  Michelle Frank said it is the intention.  I will say, I was asked to 
attend VMS, I think I was in my second year being in this industry.  I was in Lima, Ohio at the 
civic center and my mentor at the time recognized the potential that I did not know I had.  So, it 
is partly a mentorship program and when I moved here a couple of years later, the opportunity 
for me to actually fulfill going to the venue management school was not on the table because 
there were no funds under our previous management at the Lerner. Going into VMS ten (10) 
years later, after I, you know, I did not attend it ten (10) years ago, but I attended it just 
previously and I thought what else can I learn being in this industry? Is this going to be very 
basic? I walked away with a lot more knowledge than what I went into it. It covers all aspects 
and, I mean, anything from back of house, to catering operations, to how to run a theater, 
negotiating contracts, booking, scheduling anything that you can become very well versed in. I 
was really very happy and excited to be able to have Sarah Macer go with me because I was able 
to kind of foster that that next mentorship after recognizing some of her potential there. So, I 
want to continue to do that for our facility.  There is a lot of advocacy for it, it is a very 
prestigious program. 
 

Councilman Henke said just again, I just caution us, we would all like to go and all of 
those things.  In the healthcare business, we usually send a department head and then they bring 
the information disseminate it back to the group. You are travel and education is 44,250 
collectively and it is starting to look like, I mean, it is the highest based on the number of 
employees, if we would look at it that way and so the cost benefit is, what does the person 
paying for it, the constituent get from this.  If it is greater programming, greater, all of that stuff, 
I could see that. It is just a huge rise while we are asking for 100,000 dollars here and a 50,000 



DRAFT

24 
 

there and by the way we now have travel of 44,250. I think we just have to be mindful of those 
things use the public's money wisely.  Michelle Frank said if I may, I absolutely agree. I think 
when you look at the statistics of how the Lerner has risen from 2016 to 2022 and in 2022, we 
did 280 events in the theater. Prior to that our best year it was only 130. So, when I am looking at 
going to these conferences I am setting up meetings with agents and with industry professionals. 
That is actually where the amphitheater project was born from. I would not have made those 
relationships with those promoters, with those agents, had it not been the IEBA conference in 
2021. Councilman Henke said I think on your Schedule A, I think that bio would have been the 
selling point. I think just saying there is where the connections were made, that is how we 
graduated into.  The certifications are certifications. If they do the industry good as far as 
bringing something back to Elkhart, then it is worth the public's money to get it there.  We just 
want to be very careful with that. I know you have been, this is a pretty big jump in some of 
these areas, so I appreciate the explanation. I think more over a nice bio like you had written up 
in the newspaper and so on would have been a nice tagline for us.   
 

Councilwoman Baughman said under the buildings and structures, I was just curious do 
not we have some money left ARP money around 150,000 dollars? Would not that qualify for 
the four (4) exhaust fans necessary to complete, so it would not have to come out of our 
operating budget. We could apply the remaining balance of our ARP funds to that.  Jamie Arce 

additional appropriation to use ARP money.  It would definitely be an allowable piece.   
 
Councilwoman Baughman Chairman 
Dawson said you do not need to make a motion. It is a matter of record that you have asked.  
Councilwoman Baughman said I just think it would be a better use of funds.    
 

Councilman Henke said what do you mean you cannot make a motion.  Chairman 
Dawson said she does not need to make a motion because we cannot appropriate money.  
Councilman Henke said no, but we can reduce that.  Chairman Dawson said that is not what 
she asked for, she did not say anything about reducing.  She wants to make sure that ARP money 
is available to be used as an administration.   
 
Councilwoman Baughman said how about this, I make a motion to reduce the in buildings and 
structures for the removal of the four (4) exhaust fans by the amount of ARP money we have 
available as a balance, I think it is 100,000.  Chairman Dawson said we have to have a specific 
number.  Councilwoman Baughman said 150,000.  Second by Councilman Henke 
 
Chairman Dawson asked if there was any council discussion.  Seeing none, he asked the clerk to 
do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Deputy, Mishler, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Thomas, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the motion fails.   
 
Chairman Dawson asked if we could move to the police department.   
 



DRAFT

25 
 

Police Department Budget  Page 55 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilman Henke said I do not like the new budget format by the way that we put 
department heads in to, and we, we do not really keep track of have to refer to another paper that 
does actually have it. I do not like that we do not track it differently on an actual budget paper.  
We are just chasing these numbers routinely with every change that we do make.   
Overtime is going up 36 ½% and with all the money we have shifted that direction and the 
advertising that we have paid for, what do we do to manage overtime, which is now going to be 
roughly a 1 Million dollars.  Plus double overtime that takes us to a 1,000,250.  Dan Milanese, 
Chief Elkhart Police said the double overtime is a contractual issue that we have had to put in 
the budget specifically to meet the CBA requirement.  Then when it comes to overtime, 
obviously a lot of things affect that.  So, to manage that, we do the best we can when it comes to 
trading people, we just did that recently this weekend with the sister cities events, we actually 
trade days off for people so we try to minimize it, manage it that way. What becomes difficult 
too when you see the increase for overtime is going to be that when we pay people more as they 
earn more money, that overtime rate goes up, and as we struggle with filling positions that 
increases our manpower.  So, to say, I have an overall strategy to try and address that specifically 
it is really kind of a case by case basis and unfortunately with our struggle with manpower right 
now, that becomes difficult to give a specific on when it is touched on by so many different 
things.  Councilman Henke said this is a huge number and I realize you are down 23 officers I 
believe currently, you are having to cover basis are there areas where officers are being used that 
could be reduced and help get this number managed? For example, you are here almost every 
meeting, we have Officer Murray here as well and we have Officer Weaver. A token would be if 
we would release the officer from these chambers during the meetings.  Councilman Mishler 
said point of order there, I believe we are required to have a Sergeant at Arms.  Councilman 
Henke said not required, that is up to the Chairman.  Chairman Dawson said I require it.  
Councilman Henke said but it is up to the Chairman of the council so, it is not a state law or city 
law. We have to have these things and I am just looking at other areas when we do have crowds 
and gatherings downtown. After a while, the burnout is the burnout, you know, the money is one 
thing, but the burnout is yet another. I just look at that area and I know it is a huge number and it 
is a hard to manage number. I would also then at that same time we are only budgeted for 30,000 
retrospectively for sign on bonus and I just find that significantly low.  If by chance that we 
could increase it, I cannot, council cannot, but had it been 100,000 dollars and we actually 
basically give officers 15/20,000 dollars to come on that are already certified officers through the 
academy, we save a certain amount of money, but we also save money by dropping this 
overtime. So I am just looking for avenues by which we could help reduce the expensive 
numbers and reduce the burnout rate of our officers.  The area of clothing allowance is one of 
those things.  When you talk about clothing allowance are those actual police uniforms.  Jamie 
Arce said that is the CBA component, the requirement that is embedded in the contract.  
Councilman Henke said there went that, and then your department still has sick incentive of 
171,600 and that is paid out at year end so there is no expenditure in the first six (6) months. The 
question is, how does that roll into overtime as well in the amount of money paid out in overtime 
to cover sick time of the department there should be a trend report somewhere so we could see 
how that is impacting us. In fact of H.R., I realize they may not be in the police department so 
much but if we would actually trend all these extra hours, equating to all this overtime and 
double time are officers getting sick more frequently.  Chief Milanese said we use very little 



DRAFT

26 
 

sick, almost none.  The officers use that time in the CBA that is paid out to them at the end of the 
year so, we virtually use no sick time, there are a few but almost none used.  Councilman 
Henke said then additionally, I would like you to speak to the operational supplies, not greatly 
off but, still on the high end, and I know we are all putting money into the what if scenario. 436 
is what the projected annualized amount would be and we are at 502.  Jamie Arce said that 
would align with prior years if you look at 21/22 actuals that were in excess of what we are 
requesting and budget. Councilman Henke said but if that argument works there, it should work 
the opposite right. Jamie Arce said I understand what you are saying.  Councilman Henke said 
it is very low and they ask for twice as much. I just wanted to point that out.  Then additionally 

Jamie 
Arce said hedge fund and we no longer participate in the hedge fund.  Councilman Henke said 
we probably should have.  Fuel is 755,000 dollars and even though we have not been there, 436 
is what is expected but 755 and I am assuming because we do not control the gas price.  Is that 
why it went up?  Jamie Arce said well it did remain flat.  Councilman Henke said it remains 
flat from last year, but again, we are using your words the trend, it has never been 500,000 but 
we are asking 755,000.  If we are saying a trend is a good trend, we cannot just qualify that same 
trend then in other accounts. 
 

Councilwoman Baughman said particularly on that one if the trend is around 450,000 to 
500,000 but we are asking 755,000 can someone help me understand that gap.  Jamie Arce said 
I believe the request from the police department was based on the uncertainty of gas prices and 
the amount of hours and miles that they drive. Councilwoman Baughman said that would have 
been based on the ask last year as well.  Jamie Arce said yes.  Councilwoman Baughman said 
because we have not increased it you have remained flat 755, but you are going to come nowhere 
close to that. So, would it be realistic to say it is an area that we could cut 100,000 dollars from 
because you have never been to 500,000. I am just trying to get your thoughts.  Chief Milanese 
said I fully understand that I think part of it was we have seen such an uncertainty with gas 
prices, and we saw some things trending just throughout the year, obviously it has been a little 
volatile when it comes to those things. We have seen gas prices changed so much and then last 
year obviously was a pretty extraordinary year for gas prices.  So, I think we went kind of heavy 
on the cautious side, but I do not disagree with you. I think there is some flexibility there. I 
would leave a little bit of that up to the controller. Part of that realizing this is my first budget in 
front of you. I am just trying to make sure that if there is an unknown that I am not thinking of 
that he would have knowledge on. I do not want to speak too much to that. But I do completely 
understand where you are coming from and I understand we are not projected to get to that point, 
it really is a buffer for us just because of we had a we did have an issue last year of making sure 
we were funded properly. Councilwoman Baughman said I hear you, and I appreciate the fact it 
is flat, obviously going forward and budgeting is do not get me wrong, is a challenging thing.  I 
am tempted to make a motion to reduce it by 100,000 to 655 because you have never even 
exceeded 500,000 then allow if you were to get close and be worried, you would come back to 
the council to make that increase effective. I just think it is a better management of money. 
 
Councilwoman Baughman makes a motion to reduce gasoline by 100,000. Second by 
Councilman Henke.  
 



DRAFT

27 
 

Councilman Henke said in the total budget you normally, as a police department, give 
back to the city of the trend is correct 2.5 Million dollars of unused money at the year end. So 
there is a huge amount of money that could be transferred. This 100,000 dollars actually 
represents .004 of the money within that police department budget and could be used any one of 
these transfers. So, rather than just the what if scenarios we know that you are going to transfer 
back 2 Million plus dollars to the general fund.  Chief Milanese said I am hoping to be fully 
staffed so, I hope I do not have to give any money back. Councilman Henke said I am just 
letting council know, it is a drop in the bucket comparison to the 2.5 Million that has been 
coming back from the police department because of open positions and then because of all the 
social security taxes and all those things, and so on that do not get paid out as well. So 100,000 
really is a drop in a bucket. But I think it better represents obviously they can transfer within that 
department anytime they want. And my suggestion because there is 2 and a half Million dollars 
that will still be there at year end.  Jamie Arce said just to clarify my authority is controller is 
limited within the major category. So if there is a shortfall any transfer that would be needed out 
of personal services would require council action.  That would not be seen as being favorable, 
but just to clarify what my authority is. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the motion fails.   
 

Councilman Fish said I have one follow up question to this category of gasoline, our 
suppliers, are they amenable to having contracts anymore; fuel contracts because of the volatility 
of the market.  Chief Milanese said not that I am aware of, I would have to check with central 
garage.  Jamie Arce said we currently have a fleet manager that handles that through Yoder Oil.  
Previously I believe it had been Right Express but I believe we get good service and prices.     
 

Councilwoman Deputy said could you shut a little light on travel? Because I see you 
have 145,500 budgeted this year and for the next year but at the most, the budget has come in at 
about 50,000 dollars. So, was there a reason that maybe that was budgeted higher?  Chief 
Milanese said it was so, for us, one of the things we are finding is, as we are struggling with 
getting some of the certified police officers, we have actually replaced a lot with civilian staff, 
like our CSI techs and things like that. So to get those folks trained, you are not taking somebody 
that is kind of already been trained in police work and then moving to somewhere else. You are 
bringing them into a new position and that has required quite a bit of training and travel for that.  
One of the things that we are hoping to do, if we are able to get that training center, is to bring 
training local, not send people away. So unfortunately we have had to do a lot of that and we 
anticipate that increase. The other thing we have seen is quite an increase in the travel costs 
between not only airfare and even car rental. I do not know if you have done that lately but 
between that hotel rooms, things like that, it has become quite expensive for us. It has been a 
great asset for us to be able to offset, like, actually Councilman Henke had made a comment 
about looking at other ways to reduce and supplement our force valid point and we have done 
that but, that does come at a cost with the training and the travel.  So, we do anticipate some 



DRAFT

28 
 

increase. Councilwoman Deputy said do you end up doing more traveling in the last six (6) 
months because right now year to date you are at about 50,000 and you are budgeted for 145,000 
next year. Chief Milanese said unfortunate it becomes a little bit unpredictable depending on our 
hiring and getting people in and how often we train.  A lot of times at the end of the year, you 
will see us trying to get some of these either make up trainings or some additional training and 
sometimes it depends on how many people we send to the academy. If we can get more people in 
get more people hired.  It is unfortunately not as predictable as we would like it to be, but we 
would like the availability of the budget knowing that we sometimes blow through those in 
years, go through that money pretty quickly if we blow through it. But we use it up pretty 
quickly. Just depending on the circumstances for training. 
 

Councilman Henke said travel, I just want to look globally.  I would have thought, you 
know, again 75 to 100,000 of that would really go to address the real need, because we would 
like to have sworn officers and if that amount of money was transferred up to your sign on bonus 
line, would we get a better result and have less dependence than on these people paid for by the 
travel and also paid for by the double time and overtime. I would just if there is something we 
could do on the incentive side to better attract. I do not think, you know, if they do not want to 
live in a city and not get the 2,400 dollars, we kind of bump ourselves as well. Now for Jamie, 
the Yoder Oil agreement though does give us a discount by volume, right. So we are not paying 
full gas, but we are not getting a significant discount. It is cents per gallon.  Jamie Arce said at 
Yoder Stations.  Councilman Henke said yeah, which is where our fleet cards come from, right.  
So, we do get less than market rate.  The question is that the volume the city buys it is substantial 
money as far as a discount, but it is still a lot of money. First budget, well done.   
 
Chairman Dawson asked if there are any other amendments that we would like to apply to our 
budgets.  He said I am looking for amendments.  
 
Buildings/Code Enforcement Budget  Page 21 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilman Henke said I have some questions for buildings and code before the 
amendments. Professional Services 5,880 in 21, 14,809 in 22 and zero so far for the first six (6) 
months and we budgeted 40,000. 66% to 70% greater than actual and then we have 40,000 
budgeted again.  Is there an expectation just because it equals 40,000 and 40,000 and we did not 
use it and we asked for it again.  There is nothing on the Schedule A so, the question is, what is 
the expectation of that 40,000.  That would be 4310400.   
 
Chairman Dawson said somebody call him and we will come back to that.  He said let us wait 
until someone is here to answer your questions.  Councilman Henke said we can come back to 
that one.     
 

Tim Vistine, Building Commissioner appeared via WebEx.  He asked what the question 
was.  Councilman Henke said under professional services line item 4310400, labeled 
professional services and in 21/22 the average there is about 9,000 as a mean.  In the first six (6) 
months of 23 there was zero expenditures showing, but the ask is still 40,000. So, is there a 
history or an expectation?  Tim Vistine said we are now being required to do asbestos testing 
when we do demolitions for orders to take actions as well, as that professional services also 



DRAFT

29 
 

covers a third party engineering firm JPR to do certain inspections for us for the for the OTA.  
Councilman Henke said I know that it is contrary since there was no movement budgetary for 
those of us that are trying to oversee and make sense of this we are not in your system. I think 
that would have been great to say the reason it has not changed is we are now going to be 
required to pay for asbestos removal and that professional service is the actual removal or the 
identification of asbestos.  Tim Vistine said it would be the identification and it roughly 
averages about 1,500 to 2,000 per house.  Councilman Henke said okay. I was looking through 
your Schedule A, you have a reduction of 6,000 dollars, which is 100% of the budget under 
small tools and minor equipment, but I do not see anything on the Schedule A, can you give us 
that answer?  Tim Vistine what we try to do is that we have drills that each one of the code 
officers have and from time to time they break. As well as screws that we need to re-board up a 
house that we do not really feel necessary to call the board up service, so we save that money.  
So, we budgeted for small hand tools and for screws as well.  I believe that the maintenance man 
for the building said small tools and miscellaneous hardware is in there as well.  Councilman 
Henke said finally, I am going to ask just for my education, credit card processing fee.  What do 
you as building and code enforcement have a credit card processing fee for, is that the use of a 
card, the payment of a Tim Vistine said we have two credit card readers in the permit 
service department that we pay privileges to have that service for. If somebody comes in for a 
permit or something that they need from the city, they can use that credit card machine.   
 
Chairman Dawson said let us move on to the cemetery.  Do we have anything for the cemetery?   
 
Cemetery Budget  Page 75 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilwoman Deputy said no questions on your budget but I will say thank you.  It 
was very, very clear so it did not bring up questions.   
 

Councilman Henke said I think your budget did really well. For the questions I would 
have had you have the only thing that I would suggest when it talks about decreased, reflect 
anticipated needs; for those of us not in your service, it does not mean much to us.  So, if you 
would say you know, based on trend, do you decrease or something like that.  Jamie Arce said I 
think to answer the question regarding the professional services, the 25,000 that they had 
budgeted current year was for one time, need to have a plan and they are not anticipating having 
any needs.  Councilman Henke said that would have been good, it was a place holder, 
unnecessary, give us the answer. Jamie Arce said they do not need any money this year.   
 
Chairman Dawson said do we have anything for the railroad. 
 
Railroad Museum Budget  Page 109 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilwoman Baughman said I do have some couple of questions they could help 
Tim Reecer, 

Railroad Museum said the budget allows for one full time employee and that is the director.  
So, the museum itself currently does not have a full time employee.  Councilwoman Baughman 

Tim Reecer said presently they are Wednesday 
through Saturday 10am to 5pm.  Councilwoman Baughman said are they looking to change?  



DRAFT

30 
 

Tim Reecer said we are looking to take them back to where they were pre-COVID; which would 

Councilwoman Baughman said help me understand the part time salary proposed budget of 
129,000 dollars.  Tim Reecer said Jamie prepared that, but it should be for six (6) staff members 
at 18.00 per hour, utilizing their present staffing.  Councilwoman Baughman said so, at some 
point, would it make more sense to hire somebody full time, a couple of full time people are at a 
reduced salary than to add in so many part time people and therefore adding cost to the overhead 
of the operation.  You are open 28 hours a week based on what you just shared.  I get there is 
other things that happen but to hire six (6) part time people at 129,800; has there been any talk of 
hiring two (2) full time or something that would be cheaper than that.  Tim Reecer said that is a 
question for the administration.  Bradley Tracy said if you do not mind, I think what Mr. Reecer 
is not saying is the fact that some of these part time people are people who are actually curators.  
Could you explain to the council what these different people do so they have a better 
understanding than just thinking that they are taking tickets, I do not think it is clear what they 
do.  Tim Reecer said that two of the positions that they have are administrative.  They are the 
ones that operate the front desk, they greet the guests, they take the money and they do all the 
cash handling.  We have curators on staff that are responsible for the accession and deaccession 
of all the museum assets.  They are the ones in charge of preserving, building and constructing 
exhibits.  We do have in the budget, a position for an event coordinator part time that will assist 
us in bringing in events that was originally part of the 2021 budget. We had put that position on 
hold as we navigated COVID. We were not going to fill that role if we could not hold events, 
and then with some of the other staffing shortages that we have run into this year, that position 
has gone unfilled. The museum itself has a niche employment opportunity, we either capture 
semi-retired individuals or we capture employees that are seeking this industry specifically so, 
our candidacy pool is very small if you will.  It is very hard to find employees especially at the 
present rate of pay.  We currently pay 15 dollars an hour.  So, it is hard to find someone 
especially when we are offering them employment at part time rates less than 30 hours a week.  
We are trying to move that into 2024, so we can fill all those positions.  Councilwoman 
Baughman eport and it shows 
that the revenues for the New York Railroad Museum through June 30 th were 7,100 dollars and 
so, if you double that you are at about 14,200 dollars and yet your expenses for 2024 budget are 
at 310,000 dollars.  That becomes a challenge for the taxpayers to absorb, just wrap theirs minds 
around.  Tim Reecer said I think you will find that with many museums or other venues that are 
similar to this, we are not money making machines, so we are never going to receive the revenue 
that matches our expenses. We are never going to bring in a profit. That is not what we are 
designed to do.  Councilwoman Baughman said I appreciate and I am not looking at that. I am 

penses 
were 145,000 and so we have doubled to 310,000 projected for 2024. Tim Reecer said a part of 
that expenditure this year was we put a new roof on the building, a portion of the building, and 
that roof was I believe, 115,000 this year. So, it was appropriated last year and we carried it over 
into this year, the contract was complete this year. So, that expense showed up in 2023.  
Councilwoman Baughman said okay but then I am just looking at projected proposed budget 
for 2024 and that is showing 310,000, so, we have effectively doubled your expenses, but our 
revenue is around 15,000. I am concerned about a trend as a city and just understanding at what 
point do we say wait a minute, our expenses far exceed the value that we are giving. We have to 



DRAFT

31 
 

make some tough decisions to be better stewards of the people's money. Tim Reecer said I 
appreciate it.   
 

Councilman Mishler said initially, I think one thing to consider here is that the railroad 
museum many of us were used to it, we know it, and it is not an exciting or new thing for us. 
However, if you are going to see a show at the Lerner and stay at the Hotel Elkhart, it is an 
additional attraction to incentivize folks to come to our community. We know it is never going to 
be a money making operation however, it is an important piece of what makes downtown Elkhart 
and attractive place to come and visit. I know for example, just the YouTube channel that shows 
trains going through downtown, gets thousands of views. It is a hub for many people who are 
very interested in trains. And, while you and I might not be in that demographic, I think it is an 
important part of what makes our community our community. 
 

Councilwoman Deputy said you said it gets millions of views, does the city receive any 
kind of compensation for those millions of views?  Tim Reecer said no, we do not host the 
videos ourselves. That is not a burden that the museum or the IT Department, wishes to take on 
at the moment. We contracts through a company called Virtual Rail Fan, they host all the 
infrastructure. All we do is give them a place to put their cameras and then in return we receive 
visitors because the cameras are there.  Councilwoman Deputy said I understand the 
significance to the railroad museum for Elkhart history. I really do and I understand that I have 
taken my own kids. I understand you go and visit it. I do struggle and I am going to have to align 
with Councilwoman Baughman on this, that we are bringing in 14,000 dollars and the citizens 
are having to essentially for salaries.  So, I would like to make some kind of motion to reduce 
personnel services by 150,000 dollars and come up with the makeup you need to get it running, 
but that aligns a little bit more. I know you said you had 2 full time administrators, you have 
curators.  Tim Reecer said I have no full time staff.  Councilwoman Deputy said two 
administrators, you have curators and I understand they have a unique knowledge and we are 
adding an event coordinator.  It is just hard to justify knowing that right now we are bringing in 
14,000 dollars especially when unfortunately in the city, companies are announcing how much 
they are down and we have citizens who are being let go and then they see their tax dollars are 
going to this.  
 
Councilwoman Baughman said she said personnel se Councilwoman 
Deputy said overall personnel services are budgeted at 252,000 dollars.  Councilman Henke said 
you are going to have to select a line item.   
 
Councilwoman Deputy said let me amend it and say we reduce that budget by 129,800 which 
reduces all your part time. Second by Councilwoman Baughman.  Chairman Dawson said you 
still need a line item.  Councilwoman Deputy said okay part time is 4110150.   
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the motion fails.   



DRAFT

32 
 

 
Councilman Henke said here is a little blip, I think, in your reporting system in that 

rather than a capital expense or an expense from the general fund coming to pay for that roof or 
some other mechanism. It was slid in there as though.  Tim Reecer said that was an 
appropriation from the year before and we carried it over to purchase order because of the 
contract. Councilman Henke said do you see it on your Schedule A anywhere, I do not.  So, 
there is not an explanation for seeing 119,554 dollars there and it could have easily been said, 
carry over from 2022 capital because then you also have not put in there a fence that is either this 
year or next 140,000 when the average quote was 200,000 in addition to that.  I do not find that 
this budget is even reflective of total costs because we already have another repair in front of us.  
I would say that we should probably have an asset management as far as the buildings and the 
buildings future upkeep over the next five (5) years and what that cost is going to be, because I 
am also quietly honestly very disappointed that we let the Mohawk go and we did not build 
anything to put it in.  Instead we gave it, did not make that attempt, which is total contrary to 
where Mayor Moore was and that is something we are not going to get back. It may be a visit, 
but it is a significant asset that took the value of the railroad museum down.  So, I have less 
confidence that we are going to do anything of change with this railroad museum.  And, I would 
offer that you would probably need to even reduce the hours of operation even more so, you can 
have a part time person in management by budget. I would give you that Ron Troyer, who knows 
that area very well; I would think love to have a position with the railroad yet again, just to be a 
part time.   
 

Councilman Mishler asked do we have a promotional budget for the railroad museum is 
that included in any part of this or is it just kind of word of mouth.  Tim Reecer said we have a 
very small advertising budget.  Most of the advertising and marketing does run through our not 
for profit division, the friends.  Most of the events are carried out by them and so the 
expenditures lay with them.  Councilman Mishler said that may be something to consider in the 
future for considering ways to increase attendance and revenue from the railroad museum is 
supporting their advertisement and letting more people know that they exist and get more people 
there to spend money.   
 

Councilwoman Deputy said Mr. Reecer thank you, I know you are managing a lot of 
hats for the city, so thank you.   
  

Councilman Fish said I would just like to add a couple of things here. The some 
members of the council have a hard time when dollars do not match and we have to have 
intangibles that they do not understand and that is just the way it is in certain departments. And I 
must speak for the Friends of the Railroad Museum, who have raised 100,000 dollars in the last 
five (5) years to support the museum directly, which brings more people in, and the residual 
dollars that they spend not at the museum. I mean, what is what would be the cost to get in right 
now?  What is the admission fee?  Tim Reecer said 5 dollars.  Councilman Fish said so the 
people from Ohio that I directed to hotels, and restaurants are going to spend several 100 dollars 
in our community and that is the tradeoff.  That is the thing that frustrates a lot of people they 
cannot see a real dollar for the goodwill that we are spending down there.  I have spent three (3) 
full days of my own time, installing the new railroad track for the NIBCO Express, I am not 
going to bill you that is my volunteer time.  I know a lot about railroads, I am not the expert, but 



DRAFT

33 
 

I know how important it is to the people of the City of Elkhart.  But, more important to the 
thousands of people that come to the events that we sponsor that come into this city specifically 
to see that and then spend time going to the environmental center, and the downtown quilt 
garden and the Goshen area.  So, there is so many things that we are not talking about in a real 
sense. So, it is really disingenuous if you take 14,000 dollars and equate it to 310.  We really 
need to get outside of that conversation and make sure that we are real honest with ourselves, 
whether we are attacking the same kind of number levels of the Lerner. You know, it really does 
equate to huge dollars in the greater scheme of things.  We have to look past that.  
 
Chairman Dawson said we are going to take a five (5) minute recess.   
 
 
Buildings & Grounds Budget  Page 61 of the Budget Book 
 
Chairman Dawson asked if there were any questions for Mike.  He said I am looking for 
amendments.   He said I was asked by our senior councilman that we stick to the budget and not 
telling the departments how to run their departments, that was the request made of me.  I told 
him that is what we would do going forward.  So, if you have amendments make amendments 
that is what we are here for.   
 
Councilwoman Deputy said I would like to make an amendment to reduce temporary 4110140 
by 110,000.  Second by Councilman Henke.   
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Deputy, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 6-3, the motion fails. 
 
Councilwoman Deputy said I would like to make an amendment to part time 4110150 to reduce 
that by 110,000.  Second by Councilman Henke.   
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the motion fails.   
 
Councilman Henke said overtime 4110160, just look at your trend and reduce by 20,000.  
Second by Councilman Thomas 
 
 
 
 



DRAFT

34 
 

Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the motion fails.  
 

Councilman Henke said clothing and outerwear I am assuming is contractual. Mike 
Lightner, Department Head for Buildings and Grounds said it is.  Councilman Henke said 
then telephone and communication 6,000, 8,000, 5,000 and we are at 20,000.  Jamie Arce said 
that is being increased to cover the cost of the lucidity program and the required data that is 
going to be needed for tablets for the crews in the field. Councilman Henke said equipment 
repair 0200, I do not understand the trend as far as 792 for the first six (6) months out of 7,000 
dollars.  So, is that necessarily needed?  How do we qualify that?  Let us just call it 800 dollars 
for the first six (6) months of a 7,000 dollar budget. I am just trying to understand a trend here.  
Mike Lightner asked what line item that was.  Jamie Arce said 4360200 equipment repair.  
Mike Lightner said I am not sure on that I will have to get back to you on that one.  
Councilman Henke said then the big one is the HVAC; city wide HVAC that we now know 
does not include the Lerner.  Let me find it again, maintenance contract 250,000. So, that is a 
new contract and that is the annual cost.  Mike Lightner said correct.   
 

Councilwoman Baughman said can I just have some clarity on the annual cost.  So, this 
will be perpetual for the maintenance contract for 250.  Mike Lightner said I believe that is how 
it is set up.  Bradley Tracy said this goes back to the discussion we had during the Lerner 
HVAC system replacement and so, we are preparing a RFP, this is what we are asking for a 
quote or bid to come back.  This is to start keeping a maintenance contract so we know where we 
are and at the same time be able to now in the future, predict what needs to be replaced and at 
what time.   Councilwoman Baughman said I love that and I think that is great for the city in 
itself, but just to prepare going forward that will be a line item that will be in there every year.   
 
Street Department Budget  Page 65 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilwoman Baughman said I just want to ask a question on that, particularly on 
your landfill charges you had approved for 2023 175,000 the end of June of this year you were at 
32,000 you are holding steady for next year, but just to get your thoughts on that.  Mike Szucs, 
Street Commissioner said this year is a little bit of a change for us. There was not a handshake 
agreement, but an agreement with the county when we dumped sweeper dump there, which is 
that that is what pays for; we are charged.  They will not let us do it for free even though they 
love us to dump there.  So, to offset that when we are paving on the south side of town this year, 
it helped our fuel costs and they want road mill all the time.  So, what we take off the street, what 
we mill off the street they want for free.  So I said well you want the sweeper dump for free and 
you want this for free, can we make the change so that it was one for one and I think we are still 
350 loads to the good.  That will change next year though.  We will not be able to do that again 
next year.  Councilwoman Baughman said well great job this year for doing that.   
 



DRAFT

35 
 

Councilman Henke said good job with the department.  I know paving costs and I was 
just saying, that is not the only area that paving materials, there is another budget that went up. 
So collectively, how much has gone up one by cost and two by a larger paving demands I guess. 
Mike Szucs said like, what are you asking?  Councilman Henke said so you went up 43.5% on 
this particular budget and I realize in the first six (6) months what, asphalt plants and do what 
they do opening late. But you went up 43.5% and then the explanation is because the increase 
cost of that material.  Jamie Arce said that is partially correct.  There was a 500,000 dollar 
transfer which I guess this is a gap on the Schedule A and that is my fault.  There was a transfer 
from a reduction on the Local Roads and Streets which I recall we discussed in the Finance 
Committee meeting.  There is a gap on the corollary 500,000 coming in from Local Roads and 
Streets.  Councilman Henke said I was looking for an explanation.    
 

Councilwoman Deputy said supplies line item 4230142 at this point 22,000 dollars that 
is pretty normal for the last three (3) years. We have budgeted at 52,000 dollars for next year, 
just curious.  Mike Szucs said for regular supplies. Councilman Henke said it is not in the 
Schedule A and it is a 63% increase.  Mike Szucs said I might have to get back to you, but at this 
point we are actually for where we are at now, that was back in June and some of those funds 
have diminished quite a bit and since fuel costs were not as high as they were this year and we 
did save a little money by how we operate, turning trucks off and not letting them run all day 
long.  Small things, just those little things, not hauling asphalt from South Bend and having 
seven (7) trucks go to South Bend every day they are coming to Elkhart because the plant is not 
broke small things like that add up.  So this year we have a little bit extra in fuel so we 
transferred that money from fuel into supplies recently so if it looks like we are not using that 
money in supplies we are.   
 
Engineering Budget  Page 59 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilwoman Baughman said on temporary I just want my question will be on 
temporary for 4110140, you have no expenses through June of this year in temporary employees 
and yet we continue to have that been a steady allocation.  Just your thoughts.  Tory Irwin, 
Director of Public Works said it is for a summer intern, a summer engineering intern.  
Sometimes we get them sometimes we do not.  It just depends sometimes on our workload.  If 
we have too much and we do not have to look for an intern and then sometimes it depends on 
how much work we think we can generate for an intern.  Sometimes it just works that we cannot 
find an intern.   
 

Councilman Henke said so, did that impact the employer group in life that was a portion 
of personal services that went up and with the addition of that or is that just because it was a 
percentage of the full time.  Jamie Arce said employers group in life went up based on the plan 
selections of the current labor force within the engineering department. There was some turnover 
during the year here recently that is causing a shift in what plans the employees are selecting.   
 
 
 
 
 



DRAFT

36 
 

Parks Department Budget  Page 71 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilman Henke said I am looking at the lead ranger, the full time ranger, the 
program coordinator, I get the program coordinator, as you had explained at the first hearing, a 
full time office service.  I am just concerned about that level of add-ons in this budget. 
Additionally I want to go through professional services and the five (5) year master plan is 
75,000 got that, Pierre Moran pool 60,000 makes sense.  There is a 125,000 dollar cost out of the 
parks has a subsidy needed for the New York Central Railroad Museum.  Jamie Arce said that 

subsidies to the museum and the environmental center that it best aligns with the parks 
department. There their revenue stream has been offset to have to that. If this was shifted back to 
the general fund, then we would see a reduction in the revenue accordingly based on that 
subsidy.  Councilman Henke said as I mentioned in the 3rd district, none of us by majority, 
want the Walker Park bathroom.  We have been around that we have had meetings in that regard 
and we ask that we not do that.  
 
I am asking to reduce under buildings and structures by 200,000.  Second by Councilwoman 
Baughman.   
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails.   
 

Councilwoman Deputy said I know that you also were looking at doing 450,000 dollars 
for Walker Park, the redesign.  I would like to offer an amendment to take out the 450 because 
you are doing a five (5) year master plan this coming year.  I would rather see how that master 
plan incorporates Walker Park and then maybe come back next year for that.   
 
I would like to offer an amendment to reduce the other equipment line by 450,000.  Second by 
Councilwoman Baughman 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke  
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails.   
 

Councilwoman Deputy said I have one more.  We have motor equipment, line item 
4440200 I would like to amend it to take out the two (2) Ford Mavericks at 40,000 apiece.  
 
I would like to amend it to take that out.  Second by Councilman Henke 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails.   



DRAFT

37 
 

 
Councilman Henke said natural gas 4350200 by trend alone reduced by 10,000 from 40 to 30. 
Second by Councilwoman Baughman 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails.   
 
IT Department Budget  Page 45 of the Budget Book & Cum Cap Development Budget  
Page 131 of the Budget Book 
 
Jamie Arce said just for everybody's information; the IT budget is split between the general fund 
on page 45 and Cum Cap Development on page 131. 
 

Councilwoman Baughman said I just have a question.  I just recently read an article in 
the Indianapolis Star that talked about money coming into the state through the Biden 
infrastructure bill that passed, that would apply to cybersecurity. Did not know if that was 
something that we were aware of, or any access to those resources that would help us in 
particular as we work to manage that.  James Gerald, Director of IT said I believe it is SLCGP, 
it is a bunch of acronyms.  He said we are working with the state right now.  They have applied 
for that grant and they are still determining how they are going to roll that out. So, nothing has 
been finalized yet.  I am usually on about a monthly call that discusses that topic.  
Councilwoman Baughman said is that something that our lobbyists could help in any way, 
shape or form help secure funding for that?  James Gerald said I am not sure, that is something 
that we could investigate.   
 

Councilwoman Deputy said this is under cum cap development. It would be office 
equipment 4440300. We have budgeted 210,000 dollars this year. I see that already we have 
spent 150,000.  We are budgeting another 210,000 what exactly is the office equipment that we 
are purchasing on an annual basis.  Councilman Henke said I believe it is reported in the wrong 
category. James Gerald said I am honestly not 100% sure on that one.  I think a lot of our office 

ces we use on a daily 
basis.  I can find out more and get back to you on that.  Councilwoman Deputy said the other 
one I had is motor equipment 4440200 again this is in capital outlay.  It is the 135 for three (3) 
new vehicles. James Gerald said as before I had discussed that we had a 2008 Ford Ranger, a 
2015 and 2013 Taurus and Impala that we donated from the police department.  They are getting 
up there on miles and wear and tear.  We are looking to replace those and these are not take 
home vehicles.    
  

Councilman Henke said I do want to look at office equipment.  Just because it trends to 
that number does not mean it makes sense because you cannot have that level of office 
equipment. If someone would read this budget 153 in 21 and 116 5 in 22 and 150,666 in the first 
six (6) months of 23. My guess is most of that is computer hardware and so it should be shifted 
down to 0500 category.  It does not make it look as though it is actual office equipment, other 
equipment or do a line time because you are IT but it just seems like it begs the question and 



DRAFT

38 
 

there is nothing on the Schedule A that would give us anything other than to believe you are 
buying tables and chairs at 120,000 dollars a year.  I just think it could be reported better.   
 
City Clerk Budget  Page 25 of the Budget Book and Records Perpetuation  Page 87 of the 
Budget Book 
 

Councilwoman Baughman said I do have a question; under part time she stayed pretty 
consistent around 49-50 thousand dollars. Based on a year to date activity through June 26,000 
so she will be about 52,000. She has budgeted this year for 72,000 then hold a little increase to 
next year. 72,200, just curious as to why the big buffer on that knowing that the trend line is 
pretty consistent.  Jamie Arce said I would speculate that that would just be based on anticipated 
needs. I am speaking on behalf of Ms. Barrett who was unable to attend tonight because she had 
eye surgery today. That was her position to budget, based on what she foresees needing in part 
time assistance. Chairman Dawson said I have had a conversation with her as well and it has 
something to do with archiving.  We are going to be doing a lot more archiving.  Councilwoman 
Baughman said she will be anticipating more part time hours and people needed.  Bradley Tracy 
said on the archiving she is at a phase now where we are doing, her office is doing more of the 
scanning of materials.  In the beginning, a lot of that was done by a company when we first 
started and as they move on and she changes into different areas, she is going to be doing more 
of the scanning and cataloging everything herself.   

 
Councilman Henke said I thought we basically had our own archivist that was a new 

position three (3) years ago and that person worked from home and we had from the city clerk 
that we were making such progress.  Now it looks as though we are going to be doing more.  So, 
I am having conflicting reports.  We have someone dedicated to that service.  Bradley Tracy 
said I agree.  What I know from talking with Deb, they are moving into a different phase of what 
they are doing.  They are responsible for the court and the council.  I believe they are moving 
towards the court at this point which is going to require some more leg work in the first part of 
the process.  Councilman Henke said it is a housekeeping thing but from a budgetary standpoint, 
it is not nonsensical. Subscriptions, which is the 0300 account.  250 spent in the first year, then 
last year a total of 804 dollars.  We are asking for 3,500.   
 
I move that we reduce that amount by 1,500.  Second by Councilwoman Baughman 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Mishler, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment passed.   
 

Jamie Arce said looking to clarify what that motion. Councilman Henke said it was 
reduced by 1,500 dollars for subscriptions and it leaves 2,000 which is greater than any 
expenditure and 30% over 3 years.  Chairman Dawson said I know she has new accreditations 
and I do not know if this has anything to do with her new certification where she is going to need 
more subscriptions to do her job.   
 



DRAFT

39 
 

Councilwoman Deputy said on records perpetuation, professional services on page 87.  
Other services and charges 4310400, at this point if you annualize it, it will be 1800 dollars.  Just 
curious if you have any idea what those professional services would be.  Jamie Arce said I 
believe that is the cost of utilizing the outside service provider that had been helping to scan 
some of the larger books and records that that would not be generally easy for us just to scan on 
our own. Angie McKee, Council Clerk said I believe is the cost of the SBS portal and she is 
texting Deb to get an answer to the increase in subscriptions. Jamie Arce said and the cost of 
their cloud service as well. I am going to try to see if it is a one-time timing issue for the trend 
component.  Councilman Henke said I am just saying there is a blank Schedule A, it would 
have been really helpful.  Jamie Arce said on the Schedule A with past practices it was only 

preference on every penny.  We are happy to prepare the 2025 budget in that capacity.  
Councilman Henke said but you are a controller and a CPA so, if the trend does not require the 
continued over funding, you would ask the question, why should we continue based on this 
trend.  I would just suggest, we wasted a whole page here with nothing written whatsoever and 
you could just say, still needed based on and that would have saved all of us who actually did the 
homework and read the material.  That would have just saved all the time.   
 

Chairman Dawson Angie McKee said her response 
was we use a software called Times Matter that we share with the legal department and they 
raised the cost of that license this year and so that was her reason for her increase for 
subscriptions and dues.  Councilman Henke said it would have been nice to have known that as 
well, but we have already voted.  He said she has already stated what the vote tally was.  
Chairman Dawson said that can be done on a reconsideration and it does not have to be done at 
the next meeting.  It can be done tonight if you so choose.  If not, we will just move on.     
 

Councilwoman Deputy said I just have one question, under the records perpetuation that 
is something completely separate than the part time that we are paying as the archivist.  Bradley 
Tracy said yes.   
 

subscription line.   
 

Councilman Henke said to do that you would have to suspend the council rules by 
unanimous vote.  Chairman Dawson said I am checking with the parliamentarian but in the 
meantime, what is your motion? 
 
Councilwoman Baughman said to amend the amendment that just passed 1,500 reduction to 
reconsider that.  Second by Councilwoman Deputy 
 

Councilman Henke said this is not legal, I am just letting you know.  Chairman 
Dawson said I have Aaron checking.  Councilman Curry said what are we exactly doing?  
Chairman Dawson said we have a motion to reconsider the 1,500 dollars that was reduced in 

 
 



DRAFT

40 
 

Councilwoman Baughman said I think it is very well taken. I appreciate that further 
information knowing what she wanted for. So, had she been here, she could clarify that for us 
and maybe alleviated that amendment. 
 
Councilman Mishler said page 21 of 33 Paragraph S, Motion to Reconsider.  When a motion 
has been made and carried or lost, it shall be in order for any member of the majority at the same 
or the next regular meeting, to move for the reconsideration thereof.  Per council rules page 21 of 
33 Paragraph S.   
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote on the motion to reconsider.   
 
AYES: Deputy, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Dawson 
NAYS: Henke 
 
By a vote of 8-1, the motion to reconsider passed. 
 

Councilman Mishler said point of order here just to clarify.  If you want it to be 
removed you vote yes, if you want it to remain vote no.  Councilwoman Baughman said just to 
be clear, if you want the 1,500 to stay in, vote no.  Chairman Dawson said right.    
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote on reconsideration.   
 
AYES: Deputy, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Dawson 
NAYS: Henke 
 
By a vote of 8-1, the 1,500 was added back to the subscription and dues line.   
 
Environmental Center Budget  Page 103 of the Budget Book 
 
Councilwoman Deputy said under motor equipment which is 4440200 capital outlay, I would 
like to make a motion to reduce that by 80,000 dollars. Second by Councilwoman Baughman 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails.   
 

Councilman Henke said I am on operating supplies. An average having been 6,300 
dollars a year and we are at 15,565 on the ask, can you just help us.  Jeff Zavatsky, Supervisor 
of the Environmental Center said I am sorry, what is your question.  Councilman Henke said 
why we went up 92.7% on operating supplies, what changed?  Jeff Zavatsky said we have 
increased our program and events for the year. We have done it this year and we are continuing 
to increase that as well. It is basically a matter of increase for program events, staff uniforms, 
uniforms for prescribed burns when we do those.  Councilman Henke it is operationally and 



DRAFT

41 
 

then the block by block would not help you in those situations.  The seven (7) people block by 
block.  Jeff Zavatsky said no they would not. 
 
I moved to reduce that 15,565 by 5,000 which will leave 10,565 Second by Councilwoman 
Deputy. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails.   
 

Councilman Mishler said on the gasoline line item, it is going up from 2,000 to 2,400 is 
that going to be reflective of the potential decrease in gas from the electric vehicle, is that being 
considered or factored in there at all? Jeff Zavatsky said it is the gas is really going to reflect the 
use of the tractor that we just got increase in diesel costs.  He said we also have a side by side 
that also takes gas and we also have smart miscellaneous power equipment. 
 

Councilwoman Deputy said under small tools and minor equipment 4230300. I know 
there were quite a few.  
 
I would just like to make a motion to reduce that by 10,000 dollars. Second by Councilman 
Henke.   
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails. 
 
Aviation Budget  Page 79 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilman Henke said temporary/seasonal, it seems like we have not really budgeted 
that before it was 661 and 22.  We are adding all these contract service people, AmeriCorps and 
block by block, and we have a new expenditure, and this will be in the temporary/seasonal of 
3600 dollars with zero expended so far this year.   
 
I moved to reduce by 1,500. Second by Councilwoman Baughman   
 
 
 
 
 
 



DRAFT

42 
 

Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails. 
 

Councilman Henke said building materials averaged 3,700 dollars but it was bumped to 
5,100 in an annualized and we are at 34,500.  Jamie Arce said that is partially reflective of a 
transfer as indicated in the Schedule A from the repairs and maintenance building where we are 
making a differentiation from when we are buying the materials in doing the repairs in house 
versus having the repair outsourced. I believe you see a correlated reduction on the repairs and 
maintenance building of 20,000 dollars and the other services in charges category. Councilman 
Henke said we will see the reduction where?  Jamie Arce said in the other services and charges 
category 4360100 repairs and maintenance has a 20,000 dollar reduction.  Councilman Henke 
said then we did the building materials asphalt 17,700.  There was 3,600 dollars in the first, but 
why is that separated out?  Is that just for tracking that it is outside of street and other 
departments?  Jamie Arce said on the asphalt and tar? Councilman Henke said it is 4230124.  
Jamie Arce said I believe that would be the case.  That is consistent with prior years.  
Councilman Henke said I do not know about that.  Jamie Arce said I mean in terms of the 
utilization.  Councilman Henke said there is 4,500 dollars in 21 and there were zero dollars in 
22.  Jamie Arce said I was not speaking to the trend, I was speaking to the purpose of the 
account line.  Councilman Henke said okay, the expenditure simply has not been there by a large 
margin.  If we took his highest year and doubled it, we would be less than 10,000 so if we reduce 
by 7,000 we are still giving 10,700. 
 
I make a motion to reduce by 7,000.  Second by Councilwoman Deputy. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails.   
 

Councilman Henke said I am going to leave some of the smaller things go, but I would 
say that travel in everyone's budget is exploding and I would think we should be paying attention 
to this. I know there has been some frills and board member travel, and all of those things paid 
for by aviation that is supported by the whole community. 6,000 was the highest expenditure in 
22, but this is at 11,500. 
 
I move to reduce by 5,500.  Second by Councilwoman Baughman 
 
 
 
 



DRAFT

43 
 

Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Cal vote 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails.   
 

Councilman Henke said equipment leases.  There is nothing that I can see on the 
Schedule A.  Jamie Arce said so this is for the snow broom that they have on order and is yet to 
be delivered.  Councilman Henke said so 160,000 dollars did not make it to the Schedule A.  
Jamie Arce said there was no change over last year that is why it did not make the Schedule A.  
Councilman Henke said so buildings, I see where we added 75,000 for an internal whatever we 
are doing in addition to the account that we just went over before.  
 
I move to reduce by 25,000.  Second by Councilwoman Deputy 
 

Jamie Arce said is that the buildings line.  Councilman Henke said that would be line 
item 4430500 under capital outlay. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails. 
 

Councilwoman Deputy said I have one more.  
 
Under supplies 4230110, I would like to reduce building materials by 20,000.  He is at 5,000 that 
the most it would ever be.  Second by Councilman Henke 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails.   
 

Councilwoman Baughman said I just have a question.  On line item 4440500, it is 
budgeted for 30,000 dollars.  I did not see anything in the Schedule A.  For clarity, what would 
that be? They have not spent any money year to date.  Jamie Arce said current year is for a LED 
rotating beacon replacement.   Councilman Henke asked him to repeat what he said.  Jamie 
Arce said in 2023 that was budgeted for a LED beacon.  He said the current 2024 request is for a 
digital sign.  Councilman Henke asked again what the 2023 money was for.  Jamie Arce said it 
was for a LED beacon replacement.  Councilwoman Baughman said just to clarify they have 



DRAFT

44 
 

not done that yet.   Jamie Arce said as of June it had not yet been replaced.  He also said as of 
year to date it has not been done.   
 
Councilwoman Deputy made a motion to reduce other equipment by 30,000 dollars.  She stated 
that digital signs end up costing more.  Second by Councilwoman Baughman 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote 
 
AYES:  Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails.   
 
Communications Center Budget  Pages 51 and 107 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilwoman Deputy said I know that you increase your education budget for public 
schools, retirement homes, you increased it by 10,000 dollars. You have spent a 1,000 dollars so 
far this year.   
 
I would like to make an amendment to reduce it by 10,000 dollars.  Second by Councilwoman 
Baughman 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails.   
 

Councilwoman Deputy said can you share a little bit what professional services is? I see 
that in 2021 we did not have any 2023 as a late we do not have any; you were budgeted for 
17,100.  Dustin McLain, Director of 911 Communications Center said that is for our quality 
assurance for medical emergency dispatch protocols.  We get an annual bill for that. It should be 
coming up here at the end of this month, if I am not mistaken.  Councilwoman Deputy said so it 
increased because I know in 2022 it was 10,000 dollars.  Dustin McLain said it was prorated 
because we got it around March or so last year.   
 

Councilman Henke said maintenance contract 4360400, if I would annualize that it is 
89,000, but your budget is 65.  Are you going to be covered is there a new contract?  It was 
44,571 in the first six (6) months.  Dustin McLain said I believe my predecessors had put the 
funds in the wrong budget line, so we moved something around. I think that was kind of covered 
in the Schedule A that some of the funds were adjusted.  Jamie Arce said that also includes the 
new contract with Central Square.   Councilman Henke said so the contract with Central and 
then there was, and maybe that is what you are saying is contract services. The new CAD system 
built from our subject matter expert.  Dustin McLain said yes, we have a third party who is a 
former dispatcher for the center who has experience with CAD integrations since we are moving 



DRAFT

45 
 

over to this new system, we have been using her expertise in the contract services.  Councilman 
Henke said and I assume that subscriptions is a timely manner.  Dustin McLain said correct.  
Councilman Henke said then education.  You had a pretty heavy education in 22 and in 23 it is 
only 895 dollars in the first six (6) months. Then we went from 10,000 to 20,000 so a 100% 
increase.  How many people does that go after?  Dustin McLain said we currently have thirteen 
(13) dispatchers.  Our staffing as we discussed at the previous meeting is limited.  So, the 
training is not readily available.  We also increased our travel budget to kind of plan ahead for 
next year because a lot of our trainings are onsite, we are not able to do them via WebEx or 
Zoom.  We are going to need to make sure that we have the funds available for the trainings as 
well as the hotels and travel.  Then also we wanted to make sure that we had room for that public 
education.  We have some things that we are going to be pushing out this next year to help the 
community understand how to utilize our services and help us with our partners and first 
responders.  Councilman Henke asked can you tell me how much of the 20,000 the new CAD 
related education is.  Dustin McLain said for the new CAD there are no funds going on.   
  

Councilman Thomas said under travel; this year you asked five (5) jumping up to ten 
(10), and unless I am overlooking it, it did not make Schedule A, as to the reason it is a 100% 
increase. Jamie Arce said it says increased in travel for training opportunities for dispatchers and 
their continuing education.  Councilman Thomas said I am sorry, travel for what, training 
opportunities?  Dustin McLain said correct.  Like I was saying, the training that dispatchers get 
are across the country.  We have two (2) major training groups, NINA and ABCO and they host 
all over the country. It is few and far between that we actually even get them in the state, so we 
need to travel to those locations.  We have not been taking advantage of that due to COVID 
previously and then due to the staffing issues that we ran into recently. We are looking ahead and 
are optimistic that staffing is going to get filled here and give our dispatchers and opportunities 
to get out there.      
 

Councilwoman Baughman said just for some clarity on the Schedule A, I think that 
there is a line that is not lining up. You have travel at 5,000. Jamie Arce said it is the 
maintenance contract it should be shifted up.  It is the right justification. Councilwoman 
Baughman said I agree. It was a little bit confusing. So, the maintenance contract is called new 
contract with Central Square.  Jamie Arce said that is correct. 
 
Fire Department Budget  Pages 47, 93 and 133 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilman Henke said so, we had a shift in LOIT? Is that what we are saying on the 
full time line item? Jamie Arce said no, we continue to maintain an 80/20 split for police and 
fire payrolls.  There may have been some realigning but that is the intent is an 80/20 split 
between those two (2) as it has been.  Councilman Henke said I am just trying to understand the 
annualization of the first six (6) months and then we had a decrease of 85,533 even including the 
department heads budget in here. Jamie Arce said that is correct.  Councilman Henke said I am 
not following how we added his salary in. Looks like we added his particular salary in the 23 
budget. Jamie Arce said that is correct.  Councilman Henke said then I want to go to overtime, 
which is a killer.  How many positions are you behind?  Shaun Edgerton, Fire Chief said we 
are currently down two (2) at this point.  Councilman Henke 
Chief Edgerton said I just counted today and we have six (6) people off on medical leave.  We 



DRAFT

46 
 

have three (3) people off on suspension.  Consequently, those positions have to be covered with 
overtime.  For all intents and purposes, it the two (2) plus the six (6) plus the three (3), so we are 
down eleven (11).  Councilman Henke said    because we are growing at a pretty significant rate 
as far as budget I realize, and here is the problem as a counsel person that I have with our 
budgetary procedures, is that we shift things in and out and yours has a 2 Million dollar shift, and 
we have to chase it down and say, okay, two (2) years ago what did we do to start to line up 
towards that? We went from 13 8 to 14 8 and then we are going to be at 16 7.  It just is nice to 
have a little bit of understanding of the shifting in and shifting out as we do budgets because it is 
all hard to keep track of and I am fairly knowledgeable in this area.  So next I am looking at the 
clothing allowance, is that purely contractual?  Chief Edgerton said purely contractual.  
Councilman Henke said office supplies 5,000 4,000 spent 714 dollars as of now. We are at 
13,500.  Chief Edgerton said traditionally what we do at the fire department is that we will use 
our office supplies for the total as the year goes along and then at the end of the year, we will 
make our purchases for the next year.  Councilman Henke said but it looks like in three (3) 
years you have never spent above 5,157 and we moved from 11,000 to 13,500, without an 
incident or expectation, or change of letterhead or anything else. It is a 22 just about a 23% 
increase. Just in the coverage that we never used before so realistically it is more than a 50% 
increase at present. Jamie Arce said at present, they have spent almost 7,400 dollars, for 
whatever help that might provide. Councilman Henke said rig gear is contractual. Chief 
Edgerton said yes it is contractual.  Councilman Henke said medical surgical that is not too far 
off base.  Building materials, did you have it up front?  There it is, increased reflect new account 
line and then that money was pulled from what other account line that we separated out.  Jamie 
Arce said we just established it.  It is a pure new account line with new funding that does not 
have an offset.  Councilman Henke said so what would that be expected to cover since it is a 
new account.  Chief Edgerton said that covers things that we use for training. We use building 

individuals with.  So, we separated that into another account in order to be able to go and buy 
those things and use those for training.  Councilman Henke said and then your small tools, 
157% increase.  It say small tools increased due to transfer from equipment repairs, but your 
equipment repairs went up as well.  Jamie Arce said the equipment repairs went down by 
75,000.  Councilman Henke asked what line item.  Jamie Arce said 4360200, decrease to 
reflect transfer of 55,000 to small tools and 20,000 to vehicle repair parts.  Councilman Henke 
said okay, could you help me with scuba; 16,000 21,000 and then suddenly we have 53,933 at 
the beginning. I am assuming we bought everything at the beginning of the year. Chief 
Edgerton said there were certain things that I do not want to say they expired, they just went 
bad.  Things like dry suits, wet suits, those kinds of things that we use for our water rescue team.  
Those things need to be replaced at that point in time.  There was also a push for us to put scuba, 
hazmat and tech rescue under one banner.  So, those are all now under the same banner.  I cannot 
recall what that line is called right now but we took those three (3) entities, and put those under 
one banner and that line is now I believe 90,000 dollars.  Councilman Henke said if I would 
look at this and say scuba and that equipment, it has a shelf life there is dates on it like bunkers 
and all that. Chief Edgerton said it is not so much that it has dates, but what ends up happening 
is that over time you are talking about rubber products, those kinds of things, they wear out, and 
they get holes in them.  We repair them, they dry rot.  There are several things that can end up 
happening with that kind of equipment. So, it has to be replaced on a periodic basis.  
Councilman Henke said it looks as though we have done that a big chunk of it at the beginning 



DRAFT

47 
 

of this year and it looks like it may have been expected because that was in the 23 budget. But, 
based on how the administration is doing the budget, they rolled over that same number as that 
we are going to have that same turnover of all that same equipment. Chief Edgerton said I guess 
the best way for me to tell you guys, there is always a turnover in those teams and that equipment 
is custom.  I cannot go out and buy off the rack. Basically, it has to fit me and being that I have 

thing custom.  Councilman Henke said subscriptions, it looks like you have doubled up from 
22, which was the biggest year 2,959 and now we are going to 5,400 is there new subscriptions 
of some kind?  Chief Edgerton said there are subscriptions that are involved with EMS.  There 
are subscriptions that are involved with hazmat, in the bureau all those entities have 
subscriptions that they have to keep up to date.  Councilman Henke asked if Jamie could define 
the risk reduction of these departments.  What would define that line item?  Jamie Arce said that 
was a request of the chief that we renamed that line.  Chief Edgerton said that was previously 
the arson investigation bureau.  We renamed that line to risk reduction which is more in line with 
the industry standard at this point and that is public education, inspections and investigations, 
those kind of things come out of that line.  Councilman Henke said so you are not the only 
department with risk reduction listed. Does police have risk reduction?  Jamie Arce said I do not 
believe so.  Councilman Henke said we created a line item just for this one. I am just concerned 
that if it is not consistent throughout the budget, it just throws us off a bit without a definition.  
Jamie Arce said I understand that.   
 

Councilwoman Deputy said when we met in October, you guys had not reached an 
agreement with the firefighters Union has that occurred and how is that being reflected in the 
budget?  Jamie Arce said it has not been reflected in the budget yet.  Councilwoman Deputy 
said just a question, so do we still approve this tonight or do you need to wait until we really 
know how it is going to impact the budget.  Jamie Arce said I think the following pass practice, 
given where we are at with the negotiations and that council is yet to approve anything. We 
would take a wait and see approach as to what the impact of their budget is going to be and 
whether or not do too vacancies and other things that whatever is agreed upon between the 
council and the union if there is going to be a need for an additional appropriation at some point 
in 2024 to cover the costs associated with the negotiations.  Councilwoman Deputy said so just 
to clarify, if this gets approved tonight, you are saying we should anticipate possibly another 
ordinance coming to appropriate more money.  Jamie Arce said correct.  To cover the costs 
associated on the impact of the contract and it is agreed upon. We may or may not need to 
appropriate funding.  Councilwoman Deputy said any idea on how much that ordinance could 
be?  Jamie Arce said not currently because we have yet to agree or offer what the economic 
components would be.   
 

Chairman Dawson said that Brian and I are the council liaisons and we have yet to meet 
to figure out where they are with negotiations. I imagine when HR comes up they will be able to 
speak better to it.  

   
Councilwoman Deputy said so it is difficult to approve something if you do not know 

the amount that. 
 



DRAFT

48 
 

Bradley Tracy said if I could just clarify, it is going to go up.  This is the current level.  
We anticipate increases as all the other bargaining agreements have includes increases and raises 
throughout the time and it is customary not to pre-determine what those are until we negotiate 
the actual amount. Councilwoman Deputy said so have you may be increased some stuff here to 
anticipate that?  Bradley Tracy said no, that is what I am saying.  There was nothing here at all 
as far as the additional salaries or increases for clothing allowance or anything that might happen 
during the negotiation.   
 

Councilman Henke said is there any other department that is yet to ratify a contract?  
Jamie Arce said this is currently the only one that we are in negotiations with. Last year we 
completed police, ASFME and teamsters.  The Indiana FOP Local for Dispatch would be the 
next one up.  Councilman Henke said we have complained about this to your point 
Councilwoman Deputy, we have complained about this going into right at the budget and we do 
not have a solid contract or expectation even to say that customarily a budget would have gone 
up in the personal line accounts by a percentage so we could actually buffer the thing.  Because 
we are talking about place settings in so many other departments, but we do not do a place 
setting for a major budget like this.  Jamie Arce said I think I understand where you are coming 
from; the other side is not wanting to hamper our negotiating position and suggest that we have 
already agreed to something that we have not. Councilman Henke said is there any reason that 
this could not have been scribed agreed to prior to the budget ratification.  Why could not this 
have been concluded a week ago, other than negotiations or ongoing could we not come to the 
conclusion.  It does not look good financially to have open ends that could be impacted by that 
amount of money.     
 

Councilman Mishler said I will not that this previous budget year we had a similar 

year we will be able to have a full reflection of it in the budget. Unfortunately, I do not know if it 
is a timing issue or what, but that just seems to be the, when the budget negotiations begin and 
around this time.  
 

Councilman Henke said contractually, we can open them up if both parties agree.  I am 
just saying from a budgetary measure and I recall complaining a year ago that we had an open 
FOP budget, a 20 Million dollar budget that had yet to be ratified and it puts us in a precarious 
position.   
 

Councilwoman Deputy said I would just offer we have been told by the county or 
whatever we have to have this done by the Department of Local Government Financing. Could 
we take that same approach when we are doing contract negotiations?  Bradley Tracy said 
unfortunately, no, the contracts currently, you provide notice in April at that point, you begin 
negotiating until it is done. We cannot force a date certain on negotiation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



DRAFT

49 
 

Legal Department Budget  Page 37 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilwoman Baughman said on professional services the line obviously has come 
down significantly since 2022 the allocation of 40,000 for this year and you have not used any 
maintaining that steady amount for next year. Can you elaborate on that? If you have used none, 
does it make sense to reduce that even more? John Espar, Corporation Counsel said I am sure 
I have already incurred on an ongoing project now, additional legal expenses that will come out 
of that professional service line item. If I had to guess, I would say that we will probably use all 
of the 40,000 before the end of the year.  I would hate to speculate how much has been used, but 
I would probably put 10 to 20,000 has been used since that report was generated. 
Councilwoman Baughman said my next question is subscriptions. You had budgeted for this 
year, 15 8, you are on track at the end of June of 3,100 double that, let us just say it is 6,500. Yet, 
you still budgeted 15 5 for the next year.  John Espar said the largest subscription we have is for 

Jamie Arce said it is 14,450.  He said that subscription account line is a one-time expenditure 
with their case management software and it is currently at 14,450 dollars.   
 

Councilman Henke said you talked about legal publication that there are now cases 
you're going after at a more rapid pace.  I see that and hopefully we get there.   I understood the 
subscriptions. There was contracts services and I wanted to go back under maintenance 
contracts.  Is that just a shift from a maintenance contract to contract services?  Jamie Arce said 
yes.  John Espar said that is for printer scanner maintenance.  Councilman Henke said I am 
just asking again, on the Schedule A, that would have been a great little transfer note.   
 
Central Garage Budget  Page 97 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilwoman Deputy said number one, thank you because you did really good detail 
as well. The only question I have is under education you have budgeted 10,000 dollars and right 
now you would have spent through this year 6,000 let us say.  Just curious previous years it was 
more 1,600 2,500 just curious why the increase. John Holt, Central Garage said one is for the 
CDL School that we have never really utilized before. But now, since they passed the law that 
we do have to send everybody to an actual accredited school we had to get that in our budget. 
Um, we have, you.  Our education has been used this year.  I am instituting a plan in our garage 
for education for the guys so that they can know more about what they work on.  Jamie Arce 

3,600 that is pending and they have requested an adjustment already to accommodate that 
additional 1,000 dollars. So, they will have consumed the entirety of that budget and would have 
had to have made some decisions on shorting other needs perhaps.  
 

Councilman Henke said were you going to get me the roll stock list.  Josh Holt said you 
should have received that today sir.  He said I did receive it today.  He said I am looking at 
clothing and outerwear, is that a new budgetary item?  Jamie Arce said that is a contractual item 
for the ASFME union members.  Councilman Henke said do you have something specific in 
mind for the building materials or is that is just because things are aging. Jamie Arce said you 
have a 10,000 dollar increase to reflect anticipated building maintenance needs.  Josh Holt said 
that is to redo the duct work on our heating system in the shop.  Councilman Henke said then 



DRAFT

50 
 

professional services, increase needs to study for future building expansion 40,000 dollars. Did 
we have a presentation or anything or are you just starting.  Josh Holt said we are just starting 
this I have been in talks with DLZ and this is the number that he recommended me to budget for 
next year.  Councilman Henke said in replacement of the shop or expansion of the shop.  Josh 
Holt said expansion on the shop.  
 

Councilman Mishler said the small tools and minor equipment; I see it went down by 
4,500, but still the year to date activity through June is only at 1,700.  Is there more something 
expected, is there a late year rush for things. Josh Holt said part of that was transferred by Jamie 
for the contracts on budgetary needs.  Jamie Arce said we made the decision that the tool 
allowance that is a qualified plan was best not be included as a payroll item but to be more 
reflective of the type of expense that it is as a tool.   
 
HR Budget  Page 35 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilwoman Baughman said I have some questions under education and training you 
had spent through the end of June, 12 5, roughly. So that would make you about 25,000 your 
approved budget for this year 64 and you are holding steady at that.  I think we talked about this 
at our meeting that that was for in person online training. Do you expect to be at the 64,000 this 
year?  Wayne Belock, HR Director re are a couple of 
things that are in the works as far as online training that we are going to be starting. There is also 
some in person training sessions. We are going to be close to that. This is the first year we have 
budgeted for it, so, I think after this year, and next year will be able to get maybe more accurate 
picture of that. But the intent is to beef up the training, especially in the middle managers and 
those types of things.  Councilwoman Baughman said is there any way to measure the 
effectiveness of in person versus online training?  Wayne Belock said some of the sessions, the 
online is good as far as covering general principles, and the in person training is helpful, because 
some people need work in specific areas of management. How to manage people, how to manage 
different situations where they can actually kind of do a trial run with different trainers. So, I 
think there is a benefit to both. We cover some of the basics in the online, but some of the people 
need the in person and then their supervisors designate who would go to that.  Councilwoman 
Baughman said well, I do think that data shows that people learn and retain more in person and 
so the challenge becomes, many of us in the last few years, have done a lot of things online due 
to the pandemic and yet you might find yourself multitasking during that. Let's just call spade a 
spade. Jamie Arce said engagement becomes challenging. Councilwoman Baughman said I 
just do not know if it is why it might be convenient and it might offer us an opportunity to offer a 
level of education that is it the most effective use and greatest bang for our buck.  I am just 
thinking that we might need to look at the effectiveness and engagement and not to just check the 
box.  Wayne Belock said that is the intent is to make it effective.   
 

Councilwoman Deputy said Jamie, you could probably help me with this. Is there any 
way you could give us an up to date of how much has been spent out of 4390910, which would 
be education and training for Human Resources?  Jamie Arce said I just checked and I think it 
was just over 13. Wayne Belock said it is 13, but there is a contract that was just approved this 
past week by Board of Works for some training. In addition, we are in discussions with IUSB for 
some in person training that will consume additional dollars.  Jamie Arce said it is 13,120.  



DRAFT

51 
 

Councilwoman Deputy said do you remember how much the contracts were for the remainder 
of the year. Wayne Belock said I am approximating it will be probably 10,000 more.  
Councilwoman Deputy said so that would put at let us just say 25,000 for the total year, is that 
correct?  Wayne Belock said if we go with those figures yes.   
 
Councilwoman Deputy made a motion to reduce that line by 34,000.  Second by Councilman 
Henke. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails.   
 

Councilman Thomas said back to travel; you budgeted 5,000 dollars in this year's 
budget.  To date, you have only spent 200 yet you still asked for 5,000.  What is the rationale 
behind that? Wayne Belock said so, in addition to expanding training city wide, the intent is to 
also have training more for the people in our department. Some of that may involve travel to 
different conferences.  There really has not been a robust training, so that is something we want 
to work on and that would enable us to at least have a budget place holder for that.  
 
Councilman Thomas made a motion to take 3,000 off of travel leaving a balance of 2,000.  
Second by Councilman Henke. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote.   
 
AYES: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
NAYS: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails.  
 

Councilman Henke said have you mentioned professional services? Did you cover that?  
Wayne Belock said I think we did at the initial session. Councilman Henke said and then I am 
looking at the full line item of supplies year to date.  You had a 15,000 dollar budget, which is 
neither here nor there that is just a number. The question really is the trend and to date if we 
would annualize your supplies through the first six (6) months it is 4,286 for the year and yet we 
are budgeted at 15,000. Again, you have zero expenditures in office supplies in the first six (6) 
months. You have zero expenditures for safety supplies in the first six (6) months. You had those 
in your budget this year so we are at 300% of actual.  Wayne Belock said so there are three (3) 
components there.  The first one is operating supplies that deals with the additional materials we 
are using for onboarding and orientation processes.  We have beefed that up quite a bit.  Also, for 
participating in different recruiting fairs in the area.  The office supplies, I am not sure why that 
is showing zero because I know we have bought office supplies.  It is not substantial.  We kind 
of moved money from stationary and printing over the last couple of year because that was kind 
of redundant.  As far as safety supplies, I think we discussed that in the last session.  That is a 



DRAFT

52 
 

cushion where our department can supplement things to buildings and grounds or parks or other 
areas where through workers compensation issues that may come up. We identify additional 
supplies that may be needed such as extra gloves in the winter, sunscreen, hats, and things like 
that. So that is a kind of fund that can be used city wide to supplement some of the other 
requirements that are contractual. That is more of a proactive fund to try to address injuries 
before they happen. Councilman Henke said then when we met for the original budget 
introduction, I had asked for the total annual reported workers comp claims by number and cost 
value and then the personal injury total cost, did you happen to get around to that?  Wayne 
Belock said I do not have that, we are still working on it.   
 
Planning Department Budget  Page 41 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilman Henke said I am looking at office supplies, the big year was in 21 1,600, 22 
was 624 and we are budgeted for 3,500, is that just in anticipation of.  Mike Huber, Director 
Economic Development said I inherited this budget.  Trying to learn first time doing a budget 
and trying to understand what the office supplies demand and use is going to be.  I know we have 
made a relatively recent significant purchase and I think the numbers have changed since what 
you see. I did not bring that sheet with me tonight.  Councilman Henke said there was a big one, 
the professional services line, can you just remind me what we did there and why there was such 
a change.  42,656 in the first six (6) months.  Was that something specific?  Mike Huber said 
this was allocated to the development of the new zoning ordinance which I believe was a 90-
92,000 dollar contract.  We are about halfway through that process and we have used about half 
as well.  We are about three quarters of the way through now and we are getting close to the end 
of that.  So, we will use all of that this year. In terms of looking at next year, we have learned 
through a couple of our other planning processes we may have to do some additional changes to 
our zoning ordinance based on some of the feedback we have gotten out of the plans. So, we will 
need to do some implementation of some of those zoning recommendations within the zoning 
code as well. Then we are anticipating a number of annexations next year that we think are going 
to be coming through. They are fairly large and fairly complex. So, we are also budgeting for 
some fiscal planning analysis with Baker Tilley to help us do those fiscal analysis projections so 
that you guys have good accurate information when you consider those annexation request. 
Councilman Henke said then your liability insurance I am assuming it is a one-time payment 
for the year. Jamie Arce said that is a one-time thing that we handle.    
 
Economic Development Budget  Page 39 of the Budget Book 
 

Councilman Henke said the professional services line. Jamie Arce said 263 spent to 
date.  Mike Huber said so the things that were included in that this year; we had a city wide 
annexation study completed.  That was about 120-125,000 dollars.  Again, this was programmed 
before I got here and we have also contributed to the Benham Avenue Neighborhood planning 
process and we have done some planning within enFocus to help us in doing some of the housing 
market study analysis as well.  Councilman Henke said if you would the same thing on 
maintenance contracts.  Mike Huber said the maintenance contracts are related to the property 
maintenance we have for the city owned properties.  We supplement buildings and grounds with 
those funds.  Councilman Henke said so, we would annualize that though, and you are at 
10,600.  Mike Huber said they came later.  Obviously, there was not a lot of maintenance before 



DRAFT

53 
 

June.  It has been through June, July, August and September when we had a lot of growing and a 
lot of mowing.  Councilman Henke said in 22 the total was 2,700.  Mike Huber said we did not 
do it in 22.  That was new in the budget this year.  Again, I inherited that and we anticipate 
carrying that obligation forward again next year.  
 

Councilwoman Baughman said for some clarity. Did you say that maintenance 
contracts is at 21,000 right now?  Mike Huber said that is correct.  

 
Councilman Henke said I am sure you inherited it, but we inherited a shift in 

interpretation of budget lines every year and that is why we just have to ask too many questions. 
Your educational component is pretty significant increase as well, considering what was spent to 
date.  The average actual is less than 5,000 in 21 and 22 and we are at 10 5.  Mike Huber said 
we had periods this last year where we were down in staff in multiple positions across both 
planning and economic development.  We have since activated and we brought in some new staff 
so we obviously without the staff, they were not engaged in education and training. I do want to 
encourage our staff to take education and get training. We have two (2) fairly new staff members 
to our team in our economic development department. I want to encourage them to get 
certifications and start taking classes so that is why you see the budget where it is.  It is not based 
on what has happened before me getting here, but it is understanding the needs of our team and 
the youth in some areas and also the growth of some of our longer term staff members into 
management positions to make sure they also have access to training and certifications that they 
need to be better prepared to do their jobs as well.  Councilman Henke said so, the category of 
other services and charges annualized to date was 438,176.56.  So, if I would look at the ask, it is 
100,000 dollars above if I would analyze the current. I am just looking, where all the dollars are 
going and it seems to be the other services and charges and I am just looking at the amount of 
increases to be sure that there is a cost listed. I want to make sure that our benefit is equally as 

Mike Huber said 
we were getting two (2) new cars this year and so we have removed that from the budget for next 
year.  Councilman Henke asked did you get the ones for this year.  Mike Huber said we have 
not yet received the vehicles. Councilman Henke said but they are ordered.  Mike Huber said I 
believe that is correct.   Josh Holt said yes they have been ordered.   
 

Councilwoman Deputy said other services and charges, did you confirm that?  Because 
that was 80,000 and the highest it has been was 38,000.  If you double it, it is 14,000.  What was 
that again, can you please just clarify?  Mike Huber said we have had an increase in the timing 
of this and where these are coming.  We are doing things with other services and charges when 
we have expenses, legal expenses that are related to some of our activities and projects that are 
outside that TIF area, we still have to pay for those.  Additionally, when we do ongoing some of 
the budgeting and financing and some of the projections, financial projections related to 
economic development project and we engage Baker Tilley as they help us with those 
projections as well.  So, that is where those dollars come from.   
 
 
 
 
 



DRAFT

54 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-20 
 Chairman Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no public discussion 
 

 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-20 

 Chairman Dawson returned the discussion to the council.  There was no further 
discussion from the council. 
 
He asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote on second reading 
 
AYES: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
NAYS: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 
 
Motion for third and final by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilman Fish. 
 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He then asked 
her to do a Roll Call vote 
 
AYES: Curry, Mishler, King, Fish, Dawson 
NAYS: Deputy, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 
 
By a vote of 5-4, the ordinance passed on third and final reading. 
 
Chairman Dawson said having all official business being conducted, I declare this meeting 
adjourned.   
 
 
 
 
 
___________________________    _____________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk     Arvis Dawson 
        Finance Committee Chairman 
 












































































































































































